
 

 

For all enquiries relating to this agenda please contact Charlotte Evans 
 (Tel: 01443 864210   Email: evansca1@caerphilly.gov.uk) 

 
Date: 21st October 2020 

 
Dear Sir/Madam, 
 
A digital meeting of the Cabinet will be held via Microsoft Teams on Wednesday, 28th October, 2020 
at 10.30 am to consider the matters contained in the following agenda.  You are welcome to use Welsh 
at the meeting, a minimum notice period of 3 working days is required should you wish to do so. 
 
This meeting will be recorded and made available to view via the Council’s website, except for 
discussions involving confidential or exempt items.  Therefore the images/audio of those individuals 
present and/or speaking at Cabinet will be publicly available to all via the recording on the Council 
website at www.caerphilly.gov.uk 
 

Yours faithfully, 

 
Christina Harrhy 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 
 

A G E N D A 
 

Pages 
  

1  To receive apologies for absence. 
  

 
2  Declarations of Interest. 

  
 
Councillors and Officers are reminded of their personal responsibility to declare any personal 
and/or prejudicial interest(s) in respect of any item of business on the agenda in accordance 
with the Local Government Act 2000, the Council's Constitution and the Code of Conduct for 
both Councillors and Officers.   

Public Document Pack

http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/


 
To approve and sign the following minutes: -  
 
3  Cabinet held on 14th October 2020. 

1 - 8  
 

To note the Cabinet Forward Work Programme. 
 
4  Cabinet Forward Work Programme. 

9 - 10  
 

To receive and consider the following reports on which executive decisions are required: -   
 
5  Safer Recruitment Procedure and Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) Policies. 

11 - 54  
 

6  Freedom of Borough - Royal British Legion. 
55 - 60  

 
7  Community Asset Transfer - Draft Policy and Process. 

61 - 112  
 

8  "Street Cafe" Licences. 
113 - 118  

 
9  Annual Performance Report 2019/20. 

119 - 154  
 

 
Circulation: 
Councillors S. Cook, N. George, C.J. Gordon, P.A. Marsden, S. Morgan, L. Phipps, J. Ridgewell, 
Mrs E. Stenner and R. Whiting 
 
And Appropriate Officers 
 
HOW WE WILL USE YOUR INFORMATION 

Those individuals that attend committee meetings to speak/give evidence will be named in the minutes of that meeting, 
sometimes this will include their place of employment or business and opinions expressed.  Minutes of Meetings including details 
of speakers will be publicly available to all via the Council website at www.caerphilly.gov.uk. except for discussions involving 
confidential or exempt items. 
You have a number of rights in relation to your information, including the rights of access to information we hold about you and 
the right of complaint if you are unhappy with the way your information is being processed. 
For further information on how we process your information and your rights please view the Full Committee Meetings Privacy 

Notice on our website or contact Legal Services by email griffd2@caerphilly.gov.uk or telephone 01443 863028. 

 
 

http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/Committee/Privacy
http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/Committee/Privacy
mailto:griffd2@caerphilly.gov.uk


  

 

CABINET 
 

MINUTES OF THE REMOTE MEETING HELD VIA MICROSOFT TEAMS 
ON WEDNESDAY, 14TH OCTOBER 2020 AT 10.30 A.M. 

 
 

PRESENT: 
 

Councillor P. Marsden (Leader) - Chair 
 

Councillors: 
 

S. Cook (Social Care), N. George (Waste and Public Protection), C.J. Gordon (Corporate 
Services), S. Morgan (Economy and Enterprise), L. Phipps (Housing and Property), J. 
Ridgewell (Environment and Infrastructure), E. Stenner (Performance and Customer Services) 
and R. Whiting (Learning and Achievement). 

 

Together with: 
 
 C. Harrhy (Chief Executive), R. Edmunds (Corporate Director – Education and Corporate 

Services), D. Street (Corporate Director – Social Services and Housing) and M.S. Williams 
(Interim Corporate Director – Communities).  

  
Also in Attendance: 

 
A. Cullinane (Senior Policy Officer - Equalities, Welsh Language and Consultation), L. Donovan 
(Head of People Services), S. Harris (Head of Financial Services and S151 Officer), S. Isaacs 
(Rents Manager), M. Lloyd (Head of Infrastructure), L. Lucas (Head of Customer and Digital 
Services),S. Richards (Head of Education Planning an Strategy),  R. Tranter (Head of Legal 
Services and Monitoring Officer), C. Evans (Committee Services Officer), K. Peters, Corporate 
Policy Manager 
 

 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

There were no apologies for absence.  
 
 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

There were no declarations made at the beginning or during the course of the meeting. 
 
 
3. CABINET – 30TH SEPTEMBER 2020 
 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 30th September 2020 were 
approved as a correct record. 

 
 
4. CABINET FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME – TO NOTE 
 

 Cabinet were provided with the Cabinet Forward Work Programme, which detailed the 
scheduled reports from 9th September 2020 to 28th October 2020.  Members were reminded 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



  

that the Cabinet Forward Work Programme is a working document and therefore subject to 
change.   

 
Following consideration and discussion, it was moved and seconded that the Forward Work 
Programme be noted. By a show of hands this was unanimously agreed. 
 

RESOLVED that the Cabinet Forward Work Programme be noted. 
 
 
 

5. STRATEGIC EQUALITY PLAN – ANNUAL MONITORING AND IMPROVEMENT 
REPORT 2018-2019 

 
 The report informed Cabinet of the progress made during the financial year 2018-2019 against 

targets in the Council’s current Strategic Equality Plan, and for Cabinet to approve for 
submission to the Equality and Human Rights Commission and publication online. 

 
 Cabinet noted that the Council has a statutory duty to produce an annual monitoring report on 

Equalities issues under current legislation.  The requirements are very detailed as to what 
relevant information must be included in the annual monitoring and improvement report 
(attached as an appendix to the report). 

 
 It was noted that the amount of information presented is therefore in order to ensure that the 

regulatory body involved (the Equalities and Human Rights Commission) are provided with fill 
evidence of the Council’s compliance and commitment to those statutory duties. 

 
 The Strategic Equality Plan – Annual Monitoring and Improvement Report must be published 

by the 31st March the following year.  In March this year the Equality and Human Rights 
Commission (EHRC) wrote to all local authorities to advise that they had taken the decision to 
suspend their compliance check on the publication of annual reports and Strategic Equality 
Plans until October.  This decision was taken as a recognition of the incredibly difficult 
circumstances within which listed bodies are operating due to the Covid-19 Pandemic.  For this 
reason, although the 31st March 2020 deadline is passed, it is expected that the EHRC will be 
tolerant of the delay. 

 
  Cabinet thanked the Officer for the report and discussion ensued. 
 
 A Cabinet Member sought further information around the spike in reported cases of bullying and 

raised concerns that racism seemed to be normalised, around Spring 2018 and whether this 
could be linked to the EU Referendum.  Officers explained that there is a trend that suggests 
this and there appears to continue to be a similar spike following ‘Black Lives Matters’, however, 
Members were assured that there are a number of programmes in place to mitigate this and, 
since it is Black History Month, there are a significant number of projects and events underway 
in schools and across the borough to raise awareness. 

 
 A Cabinet Member sought further information around the data around gender pay gap and 

raised particular concern, in light of the economic impact of Covid-19 and the implications on 
women who are in both caring and financial supporting roles and efforts to reach a parity on 
this.  Officers explained that the data was provided by HR, however work is underway to gain a 
better understanding of the impact the Pandemic has had on the job market, which will be 
realised as the furlough scheme comes to a close at the end of the month.  Considering previous 
trends however, the Council ensures to treat staff equally, making jobs available to all, 
regardless of gender.  Traditionally women tend to take the part time roles, in order to juggle 
other commitments in their home lives, but Members were assured that these roles are not 
actively targeted at women.  Work is however underway to consider how the Council can do 
things differently and consideration will be given to a number of factors, an example could be 
reviewing how job descriptions are written. 

 

Page 2



  

 A Cabinet Member sought further information in relation to working hours of part time jobs.  
Officers explained that often the roles are more of a reflection of society, where women choose 
part time posts, sometimes working more than one job, which offers the hours that suit their 
personal lives, this is felt to be a positive opportunity for the Council and offering flexible posts 
to the community.  Members were assured that the data reflects the gender pay gap, and not 
an equal pay issue.  The Chief Executive added that the Flexible Working Report is to be 
considered later in the agenda, and should Cabinet be minded to approve, will help a number 
of people to access more jobs, possible full time or higher pay, due to the proposal to make 
roles more flexible, in order to assist with work life balance.  

 
 A Cabinet Member sought further information on the bilingual websites, noting that there are 

still several microsites that are not bilingual.  Officers explained that there is a work programme 
in place in order to gradually decommission these sites, moving them to more accessible and 
bilingual sites, which will achieve compliance.  Members were assured however that the 
Caerphilly Council website is available bilingually.  It was agreed that Cabinet be provided with 
the details of the work programme for the microsites. 

 
  Following consideration and discussion, it was moved and seconded that the report be 

approved.  By way of electronic voting, this was unanimously agreed. 
 

RESOLVED that for the reasons contained in the Officers Report, the annual monitoring 
and improvement report be approved for submission to the Equality and Human Rights 
Commissioner and published online.  

 
 

6. FLEXIBLE WORKING 
 

The report, which was considered by the Policy and Resources Scrutiny Committee on 29th 
September 2020, sought approval of Cabinet, for a more formal approach to flexible working, 
which builds upon the progress made in respect of working in a flexible manner throughout 
the lockdown. 
 
Cabinet noted that because of the speed and nature of the COVID-19 lockdown, the Council 
was required to equip and train a significant proportion of its workforce to work and to provide 
services remote from their usual places of work and, in many cases, from home. 
 
While the transformation to this new model of service delivery happened at a significant pace, 
the technology platforms that have formed the foundations of remote working have proven to 
be intuitive and stable. 
 
Some sections of the workforce have been operating remotely and very effectively since the 
beginning of lockdown and, over time, further services have been enabled and brought back 
online with much less of a reliance on buildings, premises and travel. 
 
Cabinet noted that this has enabled many services to the public to be delivered safely and 
continuously and for the Council’s employees to manage multiple aspects of their professional 
and personal lives in a way that has brought about a much greater balance than was 
previously possible. 
 
It was noted however that not everyone has found the isolated nature of working remotely a 
positive experience and the results of the Flexible Working survey provide a healthy note of 
caution.  Whatever the Council does from here on in, must be truly flexible and meet the 
differing needs of its employees, as well as reducing any operating costs associated with 
service delivery. 
 
Cabinet thanked the Officer for the report and discussion ensued. 
 

Page 3



  

The Corporate Director wished to thank the Officers and Trade Unions for their multiple efforts 
in moving this agenda forward and outlined the significant benefits to the proposal. 
 
A Cabinet Member, in thanking Officers for the work that has been undertaken, not just in 
collating the report but across the Authority, sought further information on the support 
provision in place for members of staff who are or will struggle with home working.  Officers 
explained that Managers have been advised to keep in regular contact with staff, this 
message is also regularly reiterated by the Chief Executive in weekly messages.  However, it 
was noted that this is a two-way process and ‘My Time/ My Time Plus’ has recently been 
launched, which encourages staff and managers to have a conversation around their 
workloads, wellbeing and any issues they may have.  In addition, Officers explained that 
training will be provided to Managers around agile working and managing their teams in this 
way.  Trade Unions are also key in this process.   
 
A Cabinet Member wished it noted that the well-being of staff is fundamental for an effective 
workforce, and therefore regular contact is essential, but also to ensure that staff are not 
working over and above their normal working hours, thus jeopardising their work/life balance. 
 
In addition, a Cabinet Member expressed how important Mental Health and well-being is 
during home/ agile working and, in noting the report, was confident in the measures in place 
and support systems and that the benefits outweigh the negatives. 
 
The Chief Executive added that as a result of the global pandemic of Covid-19, accelerated 
learning has taken place and the authority was turned on its head, with most staff working at 
home.  It has encouraged the flexible working proposal to be taken forward however, and can 
see that post Covid-19, there will not be 100% of staff working from home or 100% of staff 
working in buildings, but a hybrid system will be in place with a system for managing 
performance, wellbeing and outcomes.  Members were assured however that whilst the asset 
rationalisation agenda has been mentioned within the report, this is not an immediate priority, 
but an opportunity for a later date.   
 
Cabinet were reminded that there has also been significant support offered to staff through 
the Care First Service and support pages have also been provided on the Intranet.  Members 
were also assured that the Chief Executive has addressed the issues of working excessive 
hours, and staff have been asked to raise this with their line manager should this would be 
required. 
 
The Leader echoed the comments of the Cabinet and Officers and the changes made in a 
short space of time, to work in an agile way, in order to keep staff safe, but also reminded 
members not to lose sight of the opportunity it has presented to modernise the organisation.  
It is important however, that staff are brought along, and it is evident from the staff survey that 
a ‘one size fits all’ method is not suitable.  The flexible working proposals support the 
transformation agenda and members were reminded that ‘work is a thing we do and not a 
place we go’.  The Flexible working proposals encourage and enable people to manage their 
work/life balances and create opportunities for employment.  A blended approach is the way 
forward. 

 
Following consideration and discussion, it was moved and seconded that the recommendation 
in the report be approved.  By way of electronic voting this was unanimously agreed. 
 

RESOLVED that for the reasons contained in the Officer's Report and the additional 
recommendation from Policy and Resources Scrutiny Committee (ix): - 

 
i) The benefits of the flexible working arrangements that have supported service 

delivery across the council since March 2020 be acknowledged. 
 

ii) The flexible working principles set out at Appendix 1 of the report to Policy and 
Resources Scrutiny Committee be adopted as a core principle for supporting 

Page 4



  

service delivery. 
 

iii) The Head of Paid Service, in consultation with the relevant Cabinet Member be 
delegated authority to determine on a service by service basis, the optimum 
approach to flexible working and accommodation requirements; 

 
iv) Consideration be given to the current flexi system and how it can be aligned 

with and support the principles of flexible working through ongoing discussions 
with trade unions; 

 
v) The potential investment associated with the deployment of flexible working in 

relation to IT equipment and furniture as well as potential savings that can be 
generated through the rationalisation of buildings and reductions in other 
operating expenditure be noted; 

 
vi) Additional reports be received, as required, to agree funding and any 

associated HR and IT Policy changes that may be required; 
 

vii) The proposal to set aside an initial on-off sum of £500k to be funded from capital 
earmarked reserves to ensure that the council can respond proactively in the 
short-term to commence the roll-out of flexible ways of working be endorsed; 

 
viii) The development of an appropriate training and development programme for 

managers and staff to ensure the benefits of flexible working are maximised be 
endorsed; 

 
ix) A special meeting of the Policy and Resources Scrutiny Committee be held in 

order to consider in detail, the principles of flexible working and its impact on 
staff, service users and communities. 

 
 

7. CASH HANDLING 
 

The report, which was considered by Policy and Resources Scrutiny Committee on 29th 
September 2020 provided Cabinet with an update on the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on 
cash payments, and also asked Cabinet to consider the steps that need to be taken in the 
short-term, and the medium to longer-term to ensure continuity of income levels. 
 
Cabinet noted that Covid-19 has had a significant impact on income levels for the council for a 
range of reasons.  These include the temporary closure of income generating services, the 
closure of cash offices and the economic impact of the pandemic on residents and 
businesses. 

 
Section 5.2 of the report provided details of the key activity currently being undertaken in the 
areas where cash payments have traditionally been of significant financial value.  Particular 
attention was drawn to the doorstep cash collection service provided by Caerphilly Housing 
which was temporarily withdrawn in March 2020 when ‘lockdown’ was announced. 
 
Cabinet were advised that the tenants using the service have all been contacted by the Rents 
Team and informed that the service could not be provided in the short-term and were assisted 
to either make payments at the post office or via telephone payments to the contact centre.  
Members were assured that the proposed consultation outlined in the report, for the longer-
term, will ensure that all tenants are listened to and will be provided with an appropriate 
response. 
 
Cabinet noted that prior to the lockdown, the rent collector spent a great deal of time travelling 
across the county borough to collect payments on a fortnightly basis.  Officers outlined that 

Page 5



  

this method costs the Authority £6.75 per transaction.  By changing to either post office or 
telephone payment, tenants can pay weekly at their convenience. 
 
It was noted that should the doorstep collection service cease on a permanent basis, the rent 
collector will be transferred to the tenancy support team who can support any tenants in 
difficulty. 
 
Cabinet also noted that in terms of wider payments, there are no immediate plans to reopen 
the cash offices and that prior to the implementation of the recent ‘local lockdown’, the 
potential for offering a limited cash payment service at Ty Penallta was considered.  However, 
on balance it was concluded that the potential benefits for reopening the cash desks at Ty 
Penallta were outweighed by the disadvantages. 
 
Cabinet thanked the Officer for the report and discussion ensued. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing wished to express her sincere thanks to the Rents Team for 
their hard work and efforts in contacting and supporting tenants and assisting them to make 
alternative payments during the early stages of the pandemic. 
 
Cabinet were pleased to note the report and the extensive work undertaken by the rents team 
making collections and offering support to the vulnerable tenants, as well as assisting to 
increase the footfall in post offices. 

 
Following consideration and discussion, it was moved and seconded that the recommendation 
in the report be approved.  By way of electronic voting this was unanimously agreed. 

 
RESOLVED that for the reasons contained in the officer’s report: - 

 
i) That current service users be consulted on the termination of the doorstep 

collection service for housing rents and Council tax; 
 

ii) That subject to the outcome of the consultation being supportive of the decision to 
terminate the doorstep collection service be delegated to the Chief Housing Officer 
and Cabinet Member; 

 
iii) That the option of reopening the cash desks in Ty Penallta is not pursued at this 

time as the potential benefits are outweighed by the disadvantages.  Alternatively, 
it is proposed that we continue to build on the good work undertaken in recent 
months to promote further channel shift as our current default position; 

 
iv) That the medium to longer-term service offer should be determined by the pending 

review of customer services and the wider reviews that will be undertaken as part 
of the strengthening team Caerphilly report that was approved by Cabinet on 22nd 
July 2020. 

 
 

8. CASHLESS CATERING SOLUTION - SCHOOLS 
 

The report, which was considered by Policy and Resources Scrutiny Committee on 29th 
September 2020 provided an update on the current position with regards to the Council’s 
Cashless Catering solution in schools and sought Cabinet agreement for further funding to 
expand the provision. 
 
It was noted that a Cashless catering provision allows pupils and parents to pay for school 
lunches via an online payment solution, enabling cash handling and associated administration 
to be significantly reduced in schools. 
 

Page 6



  

There is a cashless catering system currently operating in 9 of the secondary schools, which 
needs updating due to IT advancements, 10 primary schools (operating as part of a pilot) and 
65 primary settings have no current cashless catering provision. 
 
A procurement process has been undertaken and will be finalised if funding is approved. 
 
It was noted that due to the recent events of Covid-19, it has become an urgent requirement 
for schools to reduce the amount of cash handled.  The implementation of the cashless 
catering system would enable the service to significantly reduce cash payment for school 
meals and other school activities.  The system will also support teachers and staff to keep 
pupils in individual classrooms. 
 
Cabinet noted that the system will also enable schools to prevent any discrimination between 
paid and free school meals pupils. 
 
Each individual school’s administration officers will be able to support parents without online 
access.  This support will consist of an online account being set up on behalf of the parent by 
the school’s administration team. 
 
The system will also provide additional features to allow parents to pay for school uniforms, 
trips and activities, photographs, tuck shops etc. 
 
The system would also allow the accounting and administration of the payments for visitors 
and staff meals without cash payments being required. 
 
Other efficiencies are also envisaged such as reduction/ elimination of the need for a secure 
cash collection service. 
 

 Cabinet thanked the Officer for the report and discussion ensued. 
 

Cabinet noted that there is an urgent requirement to update the IT infrastructure within 
schools. The upgrades being undertaken in schools, as part of the Ed Tech Programme, will 
allow investment in canteen areas, provide modernisation and equality for staff. 
 
A Cabinet Member, in noting the overdraft facility in place for one meal, queried whether this 
could be a little more generous.  Officers explained that the flexibility for this exists and will be 
at the school’s discretion to implement. 
 
A query was raised in relation to the maintenance costs of the system and Members sought 
reassurance that schools are happy to fund these costs.  Officers explained that that the 
system, installation and admin costs of just under £500,000 is being met in full  by the Local 
Authority and therefore Members were assured that schools were keen to take up the system 
and were happy with meeting the on-going maintenance fees from year 2. 

 
Following consideration and discussion, it was moved and seconded that the recommendation 
in the report be approved.  By way of electronic voting this was unanimously agreed. 

 
  RESOLVED that for the reasons contained in the Officers Report: - 
 

i) The proposal to proceed to purchase the cashless catering solution for 84 school 
settings be agreed; 
 

ii) The residual funding requirement of £246.5k be met from Education and 
Corporate Services Reserves. 

 
 
 

The meeting closed at 11.53am. 

Page 7



  

 
Approved and signed as a correct record subject to any corrections made at the meeting held 
on 28th October 2020. 
 

____________________ 
CHAIR 

Page 8



Cabinet Date Title Key Issues Author Cabinet Member

11/11/20 10:30 Caerphilly Cares

To agree the establishment of a Caerphilly Cares service 

as a follow up to the existing Buddy and Legacy Schemes 

to be located within the Directorate of Social Services. Street, Dave;

Cllr. Stenner, 

Eluned;Cllr. Cook, 

Shayne;

11/11/20 10:30

Regeneration Project Board -

Project Proposals 

To recommend the allocation of up to £509k 

Regeneration Project Board Development Funds towards 

a number of recently endorsed and evaluated projects, 

within the County Borough. To seek approval for a 

streamlined approval process for the Targeted 

Regeneration Investment (TRI) Thematic Grants 

Programme and the re-purpose of previously agreed 

funds for Oakdale Business Park Plateau 2 & 4 towards 

Council owned land at Caerphilly Business Park

  Kyte, Rhian; Cllr. Morgan, Sean;

11/11/20 10:30

Electric Vehicle Charging 

Infrastructure

​To seek Cabinet approval for funding to install electric 

vehicle charging infrastructure as part of the first phase 

of actions to introduce electric vehicles into the 

Authority's fleet.

Cooke, Paul;Richards, 

Sue;

Cllr. George, Nigel;Cllr. 

Morgan, Sean;

25/11/20 10:30 Green Infrastructure Strategy

Green Infrastructure is recognised as being central to the 

means that sustainability principles are put into place 

and maintained. The social and environmental benefits 

of green infrastructure are well recognised; of increasing 

importance are the wider economic benefits. The Vision 

for the Green Infrastructure Strategy reflects the success 

over the last 20 years of the implementation and 

development of the Countryside strategy which it will 

replace. Hartshorn, Robert; Cllr. Ridgewell, John;

P
age 9

A
genda Item

 4



25/11/20 10:30

Decarbonisation Strategy and 

Action Plan 

To seek cabinet approval of a decarbonisation strategy, 

energy prospectus and associated action plan for the 

authority in support of the climate emergency declared 

earlier this year.

Kyte, Rhian;Dallimore, 

Allan; Cllr. Ridgewell, John;

25/11/20 10:30 Gwent Sustainable Travel Charter

To seek views on signing up the Gwent Sustainable Travel 

Charter- a cross public sector commitment to support 

staff to travel to and within work more sustainably

Richards, Sue;Peters, 

Kathryn;Cooke, Paul;

P
age 10



 
 
 

POLICY & RESOURCES SCRITINY COMMITTEE –  
25TH FEBRUARY 2020 

 
SUBJECT: SAFER RECRUITMENT PROCEDURE AND DISCLOSURE AND 

BARRING SERVICE (DBS) POLICIES 
 
REPORT BY:  HEAD OF PEOPLE SERVICES  
 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT  
 
1.1 The purpose of the report is to consult with Policy & Resources Scrutiny Committee 

in relation to the Safer Recruitment Procedure and Disclosure and Barring Service 
(DBS) Policies attached as appendices 1, 2 and 3 to this report prior to consideration 
by Cabinet. 

 
 

2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 Caerphilly County Borough Council’s current Recruitment and Selection Procedure 

was last reviewed in 2004.  Approval is now being sought from Cabinet to introduce a 
revised procedure that is reflective of current safe recruitment practice and equal 
opportunity.  

 
2.2 The proposed Safer Recruitment Procedure attached (Appendix 1) complements the 

current vacancy management process and guidance that is available for recruiting 
managers on the Council’s intranet, i.e. the process and guidance that requires 
regular review and update in accordance with Council operational priorities and 
legislative updates.    

 
2.3 The focus of this proposed Safer Recruitment Procedure is based on equal 

opportunities and safer recruitment practice, both of which are non-negotiable 
requirements in recruitment to posts within the Council.  It provides a set of 
guidelines which ensure a fair and objective process is followed in recruitment, which 
takes account of employment and equalities legislation together with Safeguarding 
best practice when recruiting to a post and / or engaging agency staff / volunteers to 
work across the Council.  It reflects the statutory guidance and best practice 
principles of the South East Wales Safeguarding Children Board (SEWCSB), the 
Gwent Wide Adult Safeguarding Board (GWASB) and Care Inspectorate Wales 
(CIW) where awareness and good practice is promoted.  

 
2.4 Integral to Safer Recruitment practice is the Council’s position on Disclosure and 

Barring Service (DBS) checks and it is an expectation of the DBS that the Council’s 
position is clearly reflected in written policy.  The Council has consistently followed 

Page 11

Agenda Item 5



DBS Policy and Procedure in its operational practice but it has not yet published its 
own written policy position. This Policy is now attached at Appendix 2. 

 
2.5 The DBS issued guidance in Autumn 2018 entitled ‘A Guide to School Governors and 

Elected Councillor Roles in Wales (Attached at Appendix 4)’.  This guidance now 
gives the Council the opportunity to review its current operational practice to ensure 
that it is consistently robust and safe. In response to this guidance, Committee 
Services, HR, Education and Social Services colleagues responsible for / involved 
with safeguarding seek to extend the operational DBS checking process to include 
Elected Members and School Governors as outlined in the DBS Policy and Procedure 
documents attached at Appendices 2 and 3.  

 
  
3. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 It is recommended that Policy and Resources Scrutiny Committee note the contents 

of the report and recommend: 
 
3.1.1 The Safer Recruitment Procedure attached at Appendix 1 to Cabinet for approval.  

This will replace the current 2004 Recruitment and Selection Procedure. 
 
3.1.2 The DBS Policy attached at Appendix 2 to Cabinet for approval.  This Policy will be 

published on the Council’s website.    
 
3.1.3 The DBS Policy relating to School Governors attached at Appendix 3 to Cabinet for 

approval.  This Policy will then be circulated to Schools for recommended adoption.    
 
 
4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 Caerphilly County Borough Council is committed to safeguarding children and 

vulnerable adults who access the services it provides and consistently utilises the 
services offered by the DBS to assist in the protection of children and vulnerable 
adults from persons who may wish to harm them.  The Council’s safe recruitment 
practice and DBS practice is not accurately captured and presented in a current 
written policy, which does not truly reflect operational practice 

 
4.2 The DBS decision to circulate guidance on checks relating to Elected Members and 

School Governors in Autumn 2018, highlighted that individuals holding these 
positions are eligible to be asked to apply for enhanced level DBS checks in the child 
or adult workforce, but without relevant barred list checks. Following a review of this 
guidance the preference of consultees was to include these groups in the Council’s 
DBS checking process as appropriate.  

 
 
 
5. THE REPORT 
 
 Safer Recruitment Procedure 
 
5.1 The Council’s current Recruitment Policy was written from a corporate process 

perspective, is 43 pages long and dates back to 2004.  This policy is long overdue for 
review and the process information contained therein is largely out of date.  

 
5.1.1 Whilst the Council can demonstrate that current operational process promotes safe 

Page 12



practice in recruitment, our current procedure does not indicate that the safety and 
wellbeing of our children, young people and vulnerable adults are a Council priority, 
nor that we take all reasonable and sensible measures in recruitment to keep them 
safe from those who may wish to harm them.   

 
5.1.2 Nowhere within the Council’s current Recruitment and Selection Procedure are the 

words ‘child’; ‘children’, or ‘vulnerable adult’ written.  The current operational practice 
has moved on to incorporate safeguarding requirements, however, the procedure is 
not reflective of the safer operational practice of the Council.    

 
5.1.3  In direct contrast to the current policy, the proposed Safer Recruitment Procedure in 

terms of title and content complements our Corporate Safeguarding Policy which 
emphasises that:  
 

 The Council ensures that everyone working with or on behalf of children and 
vulnerable adults are competent to do so. 

 

 The Council promotes safer recruitment policy and practice.  
 

 Safeguarding responsibilities for all employees are emphasised from the point of 
recruitment and throughout their employment.  

 

 All Heads of Service / Chief Officers must ensure that safe recruitment practices 
are adopted.  
 

 
5.1.4 The proposed Safer Recruitment Procedure furthermore complements the Council’s 

voluntary pledge to support the Armed Forces in that, the recruiter must always be 
prepared to ensure that applicants who have identified themselves as members of 
the Armed Forces, and who meet the essential criteria of the person specification, 
are guaranteed an interview.  Members of the Armed Forces include:  

 

 Service Leavers 

 Veterans 

 Reservists 

 Spouse 
 
5.1.5 The proposed Safer Recruitment Procedure was shared with HR Strategy Group 

colleagues and consequently Directorate feedback was received.  The Procedure 
was updated accordingly and shared with our Corporate and Education Trade Union 
colleagues on the 30th August 2019.  Their feedback was requested and received at 
the Education Joint Consultative Committee (JCC) meeting held on the 25th 
September 2019.  The Safer Recruitment Procedure was positively received and no 
amendments to the procedure were requested.   
 

 DBS Policy and Procedure 
 
5.1.6 Scrutiny Members will be aware that the DBS service allows organisations to make 

safer recruitment decisions by providing access to criminal records for posts which 
are deemed to require a criminal records check.  The Council is committed to 
safeguarding children and vulnerable adults who access the services it provides and 
consistently utilises the services offered by the DBS to assist in the protection of 
these groups from persons who may wish to harm them.   

 

Page 13



5.1.7 The Council’s position on DBS checks is integral to Safer Recruitment practice and it 
is an expectation of the DBS that this position is clearly reflected in written policy.   

 
5.1.8 The DBS Policy attached at Appendix 2 outlines the Council’s current practice and 

clarifies that in addition to DBS checks that are undertaken for employees who qualify 
for a DBS check and who are subject to a 3 year renewal check:  

 

 DBS checks will equally apply to Agency workers who undertake duties within the 
Council which have been identified as requiring a DBS check. The Agency worker 
must have a valid DBS certificate which has been issued within the last 12 
months i.e. in line with current operational practice.  

 

 The Council will carry out checks for Elected Members who serve on committees 
which involve the delivery of services for Children and Adults relating to Education 
or Social Services. Other specified roles which involve the Elected Member 
serving on committees or as a designated person will also require a DBS check.  
N.B. Committee Services have engaged Elected Members in this capacity in 
recent months.  

 

 Volunteers whose roles are eligible for a DBS check and which meet the DBS 
definition of a volunteer will be required to have the relevant level of DBS check in 
place prior to commencing their volunteering role’ i.e. in line with current 
operational practice.  

 

 The Council will also recommend to Schools that Governors are DBS checked as 
they are incorporated into the definition of “work with children” thus making them 
eligible for an enhanced level DBS check for the child workforce.  N.B. This is a 
proposed position that with Cabinet agreement will be recommended to Schools 
for adoption as highlighted in Appendix 3.  
 

 
5.1.9 The ‘Guide to School Governor and Elected Councillor Roles in Wales’ 2018 as 

referred to in 2.5 above is an undated document which helpfully clarifies the 
legislative position that supports the DBS to undertake an enhanced DBS check (no 
barred list check) at the request of the employer for:  

 

 School Governors including member or clerk to the governing body of an 
educational establishment and/or a person appointed by the governing body of a 
maintained school to serve on a committee.  
 

 Elected Councillors if they are appointed as a member of a committee or sub-
committee involved in the delivery of services for children relating to education or 
social services and/or the delivery of services for adults relating to social services.  
 

 Under the position of ‘legislation’, the guidance states:   
  

 ‘These roles used to be included in the original definition of regulated activity with 
children and adults, as set out in the Safeguarding Vulnerable Groups Act (SVGA) 
2006.  Following changes to this definition by the Protection or Freedoms Act 
2012, School Governors were removed.  This means that the roles were no longer 
classed as being regulated activity and therefore not eligible for a barred list 
check’. 

 

Page 14



 The Police Act 1997 (Criminal Records) Regulations 2002 were amended in 2012 
for School Governors and in 2013 for Elected Members to incorporate these roles 
into the new definition of ‘work with children’ and ‘work with adults’. This made the 
individuals holding these positions eligible to be asked to apply for enhanced level 
DBS checks in the child or adult workforce, but without relevant barred list checks. 

 
5.1.10  Following the DBS’ circulation of ‘A Guide to School Governor and Elected Councillor 

roles in Wales’ in Autumn 2018:   
 

 The Committee Services Team have worked with relevant Elected Councillors to 
undertake enhanced DBS checks as deemed appropriate.  
 

 HR have engaged with colleagues responsible for Education and Safeguarding in 
the Council, Headteachers in cluster group meetings and Trade Unions through 
the JCC  forum to seek their views on whether some or all governors should be 
asked to apply for an enhanced level DBS check (no barred list).  

 
5.1.11 With regard to School Governors specifically, it was the preference of all consultees 

to recommend to Schools that all Governors be asked to apply for an enhanced level 
DBS check (without a barred list check). This recommendation is reflected in the DBS 
Policy relating to School Governors document attached at Appendix 3.  

 
5.1.12 Trade Union colleagues on the 25th September 2019 at JCC supported the 

recommendation to Schools that all School Governors should be asked to apply for 
an enhanced level DBS check (without a barred list check).   

 
 
5.2 Conclusion   

5.2.1 The Council’s clear commitment to ensuring safe operational practice is not 
expressed in written policy.  The proposed Safer Recruitment Procedure and 
recommended DBS Policies that have been referred to in this report for adoption and 
publication on the Council’s website, will rectify this.  

5.2.2 The adoption of the Safer Recruitment Procedure and the DBS Policy clearly outlines 
the Council’s commitment to safe recruitment and DBS practice and officer 
accountability to ensure this.  

 
5.2.3 In supporting the recommendation of a DBS Policy to our Schools relating to School 

Governors specifically, Scrutiny members will show their commitment to ensuring 
robust DBS practice within Schools.  

 

6. ASSUMPTIONS 

6.1 There are no assumptions made within this report.    
 
 
7. SUMMARY OF INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
7.1   The proposed procedures and policies link to the Corporate Safeguarding Policy and 

the People Management Strategy and therefore to all other strategies, including all 
equality strategies, policies and procedures, that rely on employees to deliver the 
strategy and service provision. 

 

Page 15



7.2 Corporate Plan 2018-2023.   
 
The proposed procedure and policies support Objective 1. i.e.: Improve education 
opportunities for all, Outcome 8 - Safeguard all children and young people in order to 
create a climate for learning, particularly for those most vulnerable.  Safe recruitment 
practice and relevant DBS checks are integral to ensuring a safe learning 
environment.  These are fundamental principles that underpin the delivery and 
development of sufficient and sustainable safeguarding training. 
 
 

8. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS 
 
8.1 Having considered the five ways of working, they will not be affected by the contents 

of this report. 

 
9. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1  An EIA screening has been completed in accordance with the Council's Strategic 

Equality Plan and supplementary guidance. No potential for unlawful discrimination 
and/or low level or minor negative impact has been identified, therefore a full EIA has 
not been carried out. It should be noted that DBS certificates cannot be printed in 
Welsh due to procedures laid down in Part V of the Police Act 1997.  

 
 
10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 There will be additional costs incurred as a result of the extension of DBS checks to 

include School Governors.  It is the intention to progress the DBS check of every 
School Governor through the E-Bulk process, which will incur a £2.50 administrative 
charge in each case. The actual DBS check itself will be free of charge on the 
premise that School Governors are unpaid volunteers.  

 
10.2 The DBS recently reviewed its charges as follows with effect from 1st October 2019:  
 

 Basic DBS check   - £23.00 (previously £25)  

 Standard DBS check    - £23.00 (previously £26) 

 Enhanced DBS check   - £40.00 (previously £44) 
 

10.3 The reduction in cost of the DBS check could offset the £2.50 administrative charge 
that the Council will incur as we progress to using E Bulk for the vast majority of 
checks that we undertake which are enhanced checks.  

 
 

11. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 There is likely to be some support requirements on the part of some governors in 

completing the online application.  HR will produce guidance documents to support 
this process and will support Schools to progress these checks.   
 

 
12. CONSULTATIONS   
 
12.1 All consultation responses have been incorporated in the report. 

Page 16



13. STATUTORY POWER  
 
13.1 Local Government Act 1972 
 Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 
 
 
Author:        Lynne Donovan Head of People Services 
 
Consultees: Lisa Downey, HR Service Manager 
 Shaun Watkins, HR Service Manager 
 Corporate management Team  
 Robert Tranter, Head of Legal Services & Monitoring Officer 
 Stephen Harris, Interim Head of Business Improvement & S151 Officer 
 HR Strategy Group 
 Headteachers  
 Joint Consultative Committee Members    
    
 
Appendices: 
 
Appendix 1 Proposed Safer Recruitment Procedure 
Appendix 2 Proposed DBS Policy and Procedure  
Appendix 3 Proposed DBS Policy and Procedure relating to School Governors 
Appendix 4 DBS Guidance ‘A Guide to School Governor and Elected Councillor roles in 

Wales’ 2018 
 
 
Background Papers: 
 
Recruitment and Selection Procedure 2004 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 17

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Protection_of_Freedoms_Act_2012


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 18



 
 
 

POLICY & RESOURCES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE –  
25TH FEBRUARY 2020 

 
 

SUBJECT: SAFER RECRUITMENT PROCEDURE AND DISCLOSURE 
AND BARRING SERVICE (DBS) POLICIES  

 
REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR FOR EDUCATION AND 

CORPORATE SERVICES 
 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT  
 
1.1 The purpose of the report is to consult with Policy & Resources Scrutiny Committee 

in relation to the Safer Recruitment Procedure and Disclosure and Barring Service 
(DBS) Policies attached as appendices 1, 2 and 3 to this report prior to consideration 
by Cabinet. 

  
 

2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 Caerphilly County Borough Council’s current Recruitment and Selection Procedure 

was last reviewed in 2004.  Approval is now being sought from Cabinet to introduce a 
revised procedure that is reflective of current safe recruitment practice and equal 
opportunity.  

 
2.2 The proposed Safer Recruitment Procedure attached (Appendix 1) complements the 

current vacancy management process and guidance that is available for recruiting 
managers on the Council’s intranet, i.e. the process and guidance that requires 
regular review and update in accordance with Council operational priorities and 
legislative updates.    

 
2.3 The focus of this proposed Safer Recruitment Procedure is based on equal 

opportunities and safer recruitment practice, both of which are non-negotiable 
requirements in recruitment to posts within the Council.  It provides a set of 
guidelines which ensure a fair and objective process is followed in recruitment, which 
takes account of employment and equalities legislation together with Safeguarding 
best practice when recruiting to a post and / or engaging agency staff / volunteers to 
work across the Council.  It reflects the statutory guidance and best practice 
principles of the South East Wales Safeguarding Children Board (SEWCSB), the 
Gwent Wide Adult Safeguarding Board (GWASB) and Care Inspectorate Wales 
(CIW) where awareness and good practice is promoted.  

 

Appendix

Page 19



2.4 Integral to Safer Recruitment practice is the Council’s position on Disclosure and 
Barring Service (DBS) checks and it is an expectation of the DBS that the Council’s 
position is clearly reflected in written policy.  The Council has consistently followed 
DBS Policy and Procedure in its operational practice but it has not yet published its 
own written policy position. This Policy is now attached at Appendix 2. 

 
2.5 The DBS issued guidance in Autumn 2018 entitled ‘A Guide to School Governors and 

Elected Councillor Roles in Wales (Attached at Appendix 4)’.  This guidance now 
gives the Council the opportunity to review its current operational practice to ensure 
that it is consistently robust and safe. In response to this guidance, Committee 
Services, HR, Education and Social Services colleagues responsible for / involved 
with safeguarding seek to extend the operational DBS checking process to include 
Elected Members and School Governors as outlined in the DBS Policy and Procedure 
documents attached at Appendices 2 and 3.  

 
  
3. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 It is recommended that Policy and Resources Scrutiny Committee note the contents 

of the report and recommend: 
 
3.1.1 The Safer Recruitment Procedure attached at Appendix 1 to Cabinet for approval.  

This will replace the current 2004 Recruitment and Selection Procedure. 
 
3.1.2 The DBS Policy attached at Appendix 2 to Cabinet for approval.  This Policy will be 

published on the Council’s website.    
 
3.1.3 The DBS Policy relating to School Governors attached at Appendix 3 to Cabinet for 

approval.  This Policy will then be circulated to Schools for recommended adoption.    
 
 
4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 Caerphilly County Borough Council is committed to safeguarding children and 

vulnerable adults who access the services it provides and consistently utilises the 
services offered by the DBS to assist in the protection of children and vulnerable 
adults from persons who may wish to harm them.  The Council’s safe recruitment 
practice and DBS practice is not accurately captured and presented in a current 
written policy, which does not truly reflect operational practice 

 
4.2 The DBS decision to circulate guidance on checks relating to Elected Members and 

School Governors in Autumn 2018, highlighted that individuals holding these 
positions are eligible to be asked to apply for enhanced level DBS checks in the child 
or adult workforce, but without relevant barred list checks. Following a review of this 
guidance the preference of consultees was to include these groups in the Council’s 
DBS checking process as appropriate.  

 
 
5. THE REPORT 
 
 Safer Recruitment Procedure 
 
5.1 The Council’s current Recruitment Policy was written from a corporate process 

perspective, is 43 pages long and dates back to 2004.  This policy is long overdue for 
review and the process information contained therein is largely out of date.  

Page 20



 
5.1.1 Whilst the Council can demonstrate that current operational process promotes safe 

practice in recruitment, our current procedure does not indicate that the safety and 
wellbeing of our children, young people and vulnerable adults are a Council priority, 
nor that we take all reasonable and sensible measures in recruitment to keep them 
safe from those who may wish to harm them.   

 
5.1.2 Nowhere within the Council’s current Recruitment and Selection Procedure are the 

words ‘child’; ‘children’, or ‘vulnerable adult’ written.  The current operational practice 
has moved on to incorporate safeguarding requirements, however, the procedure is 
not reflective of the safer operational practice of the Council.    

 
5.1.3  In direct contrast to the current policy, the proposed Safer Recruitment Procedure in 

terms of title and content complements our Corporate Safeguarding Policy which 
emphasises that:  

 

 The Council ensures that everyone working with or on behalf of children and 
vulnerable adults are competent to do so. 

 

 The Council promotes safer recruitment policy and practice.  
 

 Safeguarding responsibilities for all employees are emphasised from the point of 
recruitment and throughout their employment.  

 

 All Heads of Service / Chief Officers must ensure that safe recruitment practices 
are adopted.  

 
5.1.4 The proposed Safer Recruitment Procedure furthermore complements the Council’s 

voluntary pledge to support the Armed Forces in that, the recruiter must always be 
prepared to ensure that applicants who have identified themselves as members of 
the Armed Forces, and who meet the essential criteria of the person specification, 
are guaranteed an interview.  Members of the Armed Forces include:  

 

 Service Leavers 

 Veterans 

 Reservists 

 Spouse 
 
5.1.5 The proposed Safer Recruitment Procedure was shared with HR Strategy Group 

colleagues and consequently Directorate feedback was received.  The Procedure 
was updated accordingly and shared with our Corporate and Education Trade Union 
colleagues on the 30th August 2019.  Their feedback was requested and received at 
the Education Joint Consultative Committee (JCC) meeting held on the 25th 
September 2019.  The Safer Recruitment Procedure was positively received and no 
amendments to the procedure were requested.   

 
 DBS Policy and Procedure 
 
5.1.6 Scrutiny Members will be aware that the DBS service allows organisations to make 

safer recruitment decisions by providing access to criminal records for posts which 
are deemed to require a criminal records check.  The Council is committed to 
safeguarding children and vulnerable adults who access the services it provides and 
consistently utilises the services offered by the DBS to assist in the protection of 
these groups from persons who may wish to harm them.   

Page 21



 
5.1.7 The Council’s position on DBS checks is integral to Safer Recruitment practice and it 

is an expectation of the DBS that this position is clearly reflected in written policy.   
 
5.1.8 The DBS Policy attached at Appendix 2 outlines the Council’s current practice and 

clarifies that in addition to DBS checks that are undertaken for employees who qualify 
for a DBS check and who are subject to a 3 year renewal check:  

 

 DBS checks will equally apply to Agency workers who undertake duties within the 
Council which have been identified as requiring a DBS check. The Agency worker 
must have a valid DBS certificate which has been issued within the last 12 
months i.e. in line with current operational practice.  

 

 The Council will carry out checks for Elected Members who serve on committees 
which involve the delivery of services for Children and Adults relating to Education 
or Social Services. Other specified roles which involve the Elected Member 
serving on committees or as a designated person will also require a DBS check.  
N.B. Committee Services have engaged Elected Members in this capacity in 
recent months.  

 

 Volunteers whose roles are eligible for a DBS check and which meet the DBS 
definition of a volunteer will be required to have the relevant level of DBS check in 
place prior to commencing their volunteering role’ i.e. in line with current 
operational practice.  

 

 The Council will also recommend to Schools that Governors are DBS checked as 
they are incorporated into the definition of “work with children” thus making them 
eligible for an enhanced level DBS check for the child workforce.  N.B. This is a 
proposed position that with Cabinet agreement will be recommended to Schools 
for adoption as highlighted in Appendix 3.  
 

5.1.9 The ‘Guide to School Governor and Elected Councillor Roles in Wales’ 2018 as 
referred to in 2.5 above is an undated document which helpfully clarifies the 
legislative position that supports the DBS to undertake an enhanced DBS check (no 
barred list check) at the request of the employer for:  

 

 School Governors including member or clerk to the governing body of an 
educational establishment and/or a person appointed by the governing body of a 
maintained school to serve on a committee.  
 

 Elected Councillors if they are appointed as a member of a committee or sub-
committee involved in the delivery of services for children relating to education or 
social services and/or the delivery of services for adults relating to social services.  
 

 Under the position of ‘legislation’, the guidance states:   
  

 ‘These roles used to be included in the original definition of regulated activity with 
children and adults, as set out in the Safeguarding Vulnerable Groups Act (SVGA) 
2006.  Following changes to this definition by the Protection or Freedoms Act 
2012, School Governors were removed.  This means that the roles were no longer 
classed as being regulated activity and therefore not eligible for a barred list 
check’. 

 

Page 22



 The Police Act 1997 (Criminal Records) Regulations 2002 were amended in 2012 
for School Governors and in 2013 for Elected Members to incorporate these roles 
into the new definition of ‘work with children’ and ‘work with adults’. This made the 
individuals holding these positions eligible to be asked to apply for enhanced level 
DBS checks in the child or adult workforce, but without relevant barred list checks. 

 
5.1.10  Following the DBS’ circulation of ‘A Guide to School Governor and Elected Councillor 

roles in Wales’ in Autumn 2018:   
 

 The Committee Services Team have worked with relevant Elected Councillors to 
undertake enhanced DBS checks as deemed appropriate.  
 

 HR have engaged with colleagues responsible for Education and Safeguarding in 
the Council, Headteachers in cluster group meetings and Trade Unions through 
the JCC  forum to seek their views on whether some or all governors should be 
asked to apply for an enhanced level DBS check (no barred list).  

 
5.1.11 With regard to School Governors specifically, it was the preference of all consultees 

to recommend to Schools that all Governors be asked to apply for an enhanced level 
DBS check (without a barred list check). This recommendation is reflected in the DBS 
Policy relating to School Governors document attached at Appendix 3.  

 
5.1.12 Trade Union colleagues on the 25th September 2019 at JCC supported the 

recommendation to Schools that all School Governors should be asked to apply for 
an enhanced level DBS check (without a barred list check).   

 
5.2 Conclusion   

5.2.1 The Council’s clear commitment to ensuring safe operational practice is not 
expressed in written policy.  The proposed Safer Recruitment Procedure and 
recommended DBS Policies that have been referred to in this report for adoption and 
publication on the Council’s website, will rectify this.  

5.2.2 The adoption of the Safer Recruitment Procedure and the DBS Policy clearly outlines 
the Council’s commitment to safe recruitment and DBS practice and officer 
accountability to ensure this.  

 
5.2.3 In supporting the recommendation of a DBS Policy to our Schools relating to School 

Governors specifically, Scrutiny members will show their commitment to ensuring 
robust DBS practice within Schools.  

 

6. ASSUMPTIONS 

6.1 There are no assumptions made within this report.    
 
 
7.  LINKS TO RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES 
 
7.1   The proposed procedures and policies link to the Corporate Safeguarding Policy and 

the People Management Strategy and therefore to all other strategies, including all 
equality strategies, policies and procedures, that rely on employees to deliver the 
strategy and service provision. 
 

 

Page 23



 
 
7.2 Corporate Plan 2018-2023.   

 
The proposed procedure and policies support Objective 1. i.e.: Improve education 
opportunities for all, Outcome 8 - Safeguard all children and young people in order to 
create a climate for learning, particularly for those most vulnerable.  Safe recruitment 
practice and relevant DBS checks are integral to ensuring a safe learning 
environment.  These are fundamental principles that underpin the delivery and 
development of sufficient and sustainable safeguarding training. 

 
 
8. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS 
 
8.1 Having considered the five ways of working, they will not be affected by the contents 

of this report. 

 
9. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1  An EIA screening has been completed in accordance with the Council's Strategic 

Equality Plan and supplementary guidance. No potential for unlawful discrimination 
and/or low level or minor negative impact has been identified, therefore a full EIA has 
not been carried out. It should be noted that DBS certificates cannot be printed in 
Welsh due to procedures laid down in Part V of the Police Act 1997.  

 
 
10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 There will be additional costs incurred as a result of the extension of DBS checks to 

include School Governors.  It is the intention to progress the DBS check of every 
School Governor through the E-Bulk process, which will incur a £2.50 administrative 
charge in each case. The actual DBS check itself will be free of charge on the 
premise that School Governors are unpaid volunteers.  

 
10.2 The DBS recently reviewed its charges as follows with effect from 1st October 2019:  
 

 Basic DBS check   - £23.00 (previously £25)  

 Standard DBS check    - £23.00 (previously £26) 

 Enhanced DBS check   - £40.00 (previously £44) 
 
10.3 The reduction in cost of the DBS check could offset the £2.50 administrative charge 

that the Council will incur as we progress to using E Bulk for the vast majority of 
checks that we undertake which are enhanced checks.  

 
 
11. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 There is likely to be some support requirements on the part of some governors in 

completing the online application.  HR will produce guidance documents to support 
this process and will support Schools to progress these checks.   

 

Page 24



 
12. CONSULTATIONS 
 
12.1 All consultation responses have been incorporated in the report. 
 
 
13. STATUTORY POWER  
 
13.1 Local Government Act 1972 

Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 
 
 
Author:        Lynne Donovan, Head of People Services 
 
Consultees: Lisa Downey, HR Service Manager 
 Shaun Watkins, HR Service Manager 
 Corporate management Team  
 Robert Tranter, Head of Legal Services & Monitoring Officer 
 Stephen Harris, Interim Head of Business Improvement & S151 Officer 
 HR Strategy Group 
 Headteachers  
 Joint Consultative Committee Members    
    
 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1 Proposed Safer Recruitment Procedure 
Appendix 2 Proposed DBS Policy and Procedure  
Appendix 3 Proposed DBS Policy and Procedure relating to School Governors 
Appendix 4 DBS Guidance ‘A Guide to School Governor and Elected Councillor roles in 

Wales’ 2018 
 
 
Background Papers: 
 
Recruitment and Selection Procedure 2004 

Page 25

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Protection_of_Freedoms_Act_2012


1 

 

Appendix 1 
 
 

SAFER RECRUITMENT PROCEDURE 
 

 
 
 
 

 
Version of Policy 

 
Version 1 
 

 
Policy Ratified By: 

 

 
Date Ratified: 

 

 
Effective Date of 
Policy: 

 
March 2020 

 
Review Date: 

 
31 March 2021 
 

 
Applicable To: 

 
All Caerphilly employees including school based 
employees where the School Governing Body has adopted 
the Procedure.  
 

 
Equalities Issues: 

 
All Equalities considerations have been taken into 
account when drafting this Policy. 
 
This Policy is available in Welsh 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 26



2 

 

INDEX 

SECTION PAGE NUMBER 

Introduction 3 

Equal Opportunities 3 

Assessing Welsh Language Requirements 3 

English Language Requirements for Public Sector 

Workers 

4 

Safer Recruitment Practice 4 

The Recruitment Process: 

Planning  

The Applicant Information Pack 

A well-written job description 

The person specification 

Scrutinising and Shortlisting  

The Interview Panel  

A face to face interview  

Invitations to Interview 

Professional and character references 

5 

5 

5 

5 

5 

5 

6 

6 

7 

7 

Conditional offer of appointment 8 

Agency Staff and Volunteers – Safe Engagement: 

Agency Staff 

Volunteers 

8 

8 

9 

Post Appointment – Maintaining a safe culture 9 

Monitoring of the Procedure 10 

Interpretation of the Procedure 10 

Review of the Procedure 10 

 
 
 
 

Page 27



3 

 

INTRODUCTION 
 
1. The purpose of this Safer Recruitment Procedure is to provide a set of guidelines 

which ensure a fair and objective process is followed which takes account of 
employment and equalities legislation together with Safeguarding best practice when 
recruiting to a post and/or engaging agency staff/ volunteers to work across the 
Council.   
 

 
EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES 
 
2. In the application of this procedure no employee or applicant will be unlawfully 

disadvantaged on the grounds of race, colour, nationality, ethnic or national origins, 
language, disability, religion, age, gender reassignment, sexual orientation, parental, 
marital or civil status.  The Council’s Safer Recruitment Procedure aims to ensure 
that appointments to posts at all levels in the organisation are made in accordance 
with sound principles of equality of opportunity and safer recruitment.  This will 
enable the Council to attract applicants from a wide range of diverse backgrounds 
who have the skills, experience and attributes to complement our workforce, enhance 
our performance and provide safe, quality services to the community of Caerphilly 
County Borough.  

 
3. The recruiter must always be prepared to make ‘reasonable adjustments’ to ensure 

that workplace requirements or practices do not disadvantage employees or potential 
employees with a disability. All applicants who are registered disabled and who meet 
the essential criteria of the person specification must be offered an interview.  
 

4. In support of the Council’s voluntary pledge to support the Armed Forces, the 
recruiter must always be prepared to ensure that applicants who have identified 
themselves as members of the Armed Forces, and who meet the essential criteria of 
the person specification, are guaranteed an interview.  Members of the Armed 
Forces include:  

 

 Service Leavers  

 Veterans,  

 Reservists 

 Spouse  
  
5. The recruiter may offer training and encouragement to any underrepresented groups. 

Examples include pre-application assistance for those who do not have English as 
their first language, or management development training for women where they are 
under-represented in management grades. 

 
6. Job advertisements may also state that the employer encourages applications from 

those groups that are under- represented in the Council. 
 
 
ASSESSING WELSH LANGUAGE REQUIREMENTS 
 
7. The Welsh Language Standards are a set of legally binding requirements that aim to 

allow people in Wales the ability to receive services in the Welsh language. The 
Standards clearly set out what our responsibilities are in terms of providing bilingual 
services, ensuring the Welsh language is not treated less favourably than the English 
language.  One of the requirements of the Welsh Language Standards is the need to 

Page 28



4 

 

assess each post for linguistic requirements. The assessment must be written and 
available for audit by the Welsh Commissioner.  No post will progress to 
advertisement without this assessment. 
    

8. Further guidance is available on the HR Support Portal. 
 
 

ENGLISH LANGUAGE REQUIREMENTS FOR PUBLIC SECTOR WORKERS 
 
9. The UK Government has introduced, under Part 7 of the Asylum and Immigration 

Act, a requirement for all public facing public sector employees to be able to 
communicate fluently in English (or Welsh in Wales where the role is identified as 
requiring a Welsh speaker)  to ensure the safe and high quality delivery of public 
services. All posts must be assessed to identify whether they are public facing so that 
the fluency duty can be met. 

 
10. Further advice on undertaking this assessment, together with examples of posts that 

are not covered by the legislation, is available on the HR Support Portal.  
 
 
SAFER RECRUITMENT PRACTICE 
 
11.  It is vital that all of the Council’s establishments and Schools adopt recruitment and 

selection procedures, and other HR management processes that help to prevent, 
identify and reject people who might abuse children, young people and/or vulnerable 
adults, or, are otherwise unsuited to work with them. 

 
12. The Council is committed to ensuring that everyone living within the Borough is safe 

and protected and that our statutory responsibilities to safeguard and protect 
children, young people and vulnerable adults are effectively met.  The Council 
expects all staff/ agency staff and volunteers to share this commitment.  
 

13. The Council’s commitment to safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children, 
young people and vulnerable adults must be clearly communicated at every stage of 
the recruitment process, i.e. in the advertisement, the job description and recruitment 
literature.   

 
14. Where the post is to work with children/young people and/or vulnerable adults, the 

Council’s commitment to safeguarding these vulnerable groups must be tested in the 
recruitment exercise and in reference requests.    

 
15. Safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility and CCBC in its Corporate Safeguarding 

policy reminds all Council employees, Agency workers, volunteers, Elected 
Members and contractors of their legal duty to take action if they are concerned 
about the wellbeing of any child, young person or vulnerable adult. It therefore 
follows that safe recruitment practices must apply to all posts.   

 
16. This Procedure is not intended to provide a comprehensive guide to recruitment and 

selection or employment issues.  Managers, Headteachers and those responsible 
for recruiting will need appropriate training as well as support and advice from HR to 
ensure their practice satisfies the requirements of employment law. This procedure 
provides procedural guidance to promote safer recruitment only.  This Procedure 
does not replace or override: 

 

Page 29



5 

 

 Any Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) practices or other professional body 
practices relating to recruitment that must be followed and made available for 
reference;  

 The vacancy management process that will be in operation in the Council and 
as a process subject to regular review.  The vacancy management process is 
available on the HR Portal and must be followed before any post can be 
advertised/recruited to.    

 
 
THE RECRUITMENT PROCESS 
 

17. Planning is vital to successful recruitment.  The recruitment literature relevant to the 
post must explain clearly the combination of qualities, qualifications and experience a 
successful applicant will need to demonstrate, alongside any particular matters that 
need to be mentioned in the advertisement and corresponding paperwork to prevent 
unwanted applications.  

 
18. The Applicant Information Pack should include:  
 

o The application form (and any accompanying explanatory note).  
o The job description and Person Specification 
o Relevant information about the Council and the recruitment process   
o The Council’s Equal Opportunities Policy Statement 
o The Corporate and/or School’s Recommended Safeguarding Policy 

 
19. A well-written job description is essential to attracting the right candidate for the 

job.  It should clearly state the main duties and responsibilities of the post and where 
relevant to the post, the individual’s responsibility for promoting and safeguarding the 
welfare of children, young people and/or vulnerable adults.   

 
20. To maintain the integrity of the evaluated grading structure in the Council, the 

Council’s template job description that is available on the HR Portal must be used for 
all* posts. The Council is confident that all employees are paid on an objective and 
consistent assessment of the key factors of their job. The Council’s pay structure was 
developed to eliminate bias and discrimination by showing that all jobs have been 
treated in the same way and to ensure that employees are paid fairly and equally for 
equal work  N.B ‘all posts’ in this circumstance does not apply to teacher job 
descriptions.  Template teacher job descriptions can be obtained from HR.    
 

21. The person specification must include the qualifications and experience, and all 
other requirements needed to perform the role.  It must describe the competences 
and qualities that the successful applicant should be able to demonstrate and explain 
that these requirements will be tested and assessed during the selection process.  
The Council’s template personnel specification accompanies the template job 
description that is available on the HR Portal.  

 
22. Scrutinising and Shortlisting - All information required from applicants must be 

obtained and scrutinised.  Any and all discrepancies/anomalies identified through the 
scrutiny process must be satisfactorily resolved before the applications progress.  For 
example:  

 

 Any anomalies or discrepancies or gaps in employment identified by the 
scrutiny should be considered and noted as to why the application is 
progressing or not.  

Page 30



6 

 

 Any history of repeated changes of employment without any clear career or 
salary progression, or a mid-career move from a permanent post to supply or 
temporary work should be considered and noted as to why the application is 
progressing or not. 

 
23. All candidates must be assessed equally against the criteria contained in the person 

specification without exception or variation. 
 

24. The Interview Panel – should consist of two or more recruiters. One recruiter only is 
not advisable.   The members of the panel must:  
 

 have the necessary authority to make decisions about appointment;  

 meet before the interviews to reach a consensus about the required standard 
for the job to which they are appointing; 

 consider the issues to be explored with each candidate and agree who on the 
panel will ask about those; 

 agree a set of questions relating to the requirements of the post avoiding 
closed and hypothetical questions wherever possible. 

 seek to agree competence based questions that ask a candidate how they 
have responded to, or dealt with an actual situation, how they will deal with a 
specific situation and test the applicant’s attitudes and understanding of 
issues.   

 agree assessment criteria in accordance with the person specification 

 At least one recruiter on the Interview Panel must be appropriately trained. 
 

25. When setting questions, the panel must be mindful of Equalities Legislation and 
construct each question carefully to ensure never in breach of equalities issues.  

 
26. When setting tests, the panel must be mindful of Equalities Legislation and ensure 

that no test / question places any candidate at a disadvantage 
 
27. Interviewees should always be required to:  
 

 explain satisfactorily any gaps in employment;  

 explain satisfactorily any anomalies or discrepancies in the information 
available to the recruiter; 

 declare and discuss any information that is likely to appear on a criminal 
record disclosure; 

 demonstrate their attitude towards safeguarding and promoting the welfare of 
children, young people and/or vulnerable adults where applicable; 

 demonstrate their ability to support the Council’s commitment to safeguarding 
and promoting the welfare of children, young people and/or vulnerable adults 
as stated the Council’s Corporate Safeguarding Policy where applicable. 

 
28. A face to face interview is good practice in order to explore the candidate’s 

suitability to work in the post applied for.   
 
29. For people who will be required to work with children, young people and/or 

vulnerable adults, the face to face interview is a must.  
 

30. The recruiter must always be mindful to consider accessibility issues and reasonable 
adjustments in their planning for and invites to the interview.  

 

Page 31



7 

 

31. It is often viewed as good practice to involve children, young people and/or 
vulnerable adults in the pre interview or interview process where appropriate to the 
post applied for.   

 
32. When arranging venues for interviews, equalities legislation must be considered in 

relevance to accessibility issues and ensuring that no person is placed at a 
disadvantage in any capacity.  

 
33. Invitations to Interview - The Interview Invite aside from the obvious need to 

identify where, when, how and by whom the interview will be conducted should also 
where appropriate provide a reminder that:  

  

 The interview will explore the individual’s suitability to work with children, 
young people and/or vulnerable adults.  

 

 The identity of the successful candidate will be checked thoroughly to ensure 
they are who they claim to be 

 

 That where a DBS check is required for the post, the person who the panel 
are seeking to appoint will be required to complete an application for a DBS 
Disclosure, receive and share the DBS certificate with the Council before 
appointment can be confirmed.  

 

 That original documents and/or certified copies of educational and 
professional qualifications that are required for the post must be available to 
the Recruiter/ to the Council to view before appointment can be confirmed.  In 
the absence of either, written confirmation of the applicant’s qualifications 
must be obtained from the awarding body.  

 
34. Professional and character references that address specific questions to help 

assess an applicant’s suitability to work must be obtained prior to offering an 
appointment in any capacity.  The Council provides a template reference pro-forma 
for this purpose.   

 
35. Recruiters must not rely on open references and testimonials such as ‘To whom it 

may concern’.   
 
36. Where the post involves working with children, young people and/or vulnerable 

adults, the reference must include questions to assess the applicant’s suitability to 
work with these groups. It is the safer recruitment letter request and reference 
template that should be followed for these appointments.  This takes into account the 
requirements of the relevant regulatory bodies.   
 

37. All returned references must be carefully scrutinised to ensure that all questions have 
been answered and that the answers support the applicant’s suitability for the post 
applied for. This will be the responsibility of the recruiting manager.  Some references 
will require follow up calls by the recruiting manager in accordance with relevant 
regulatory requirements.  

 
38. If there are unanswered questions in the reference or the answers are vague or 

unspecific, the recruiting manager must contact the referee to provide answers or 
clarification as appropriate.  The information attained must be recorded and 
compared with the application form to ensure consistency.  Any discrepancy in the 
information provided must be taken up with the applicant.  

Page 32



8 

 

 
39. Conditional Offer of appointment – Recruitment records maintained by HR must 

demonstrate that:  
 

 An Identity check has been undertaken; 

 A qualification check has been undertaken (original certificates received); 

 Right to work in the UK has been established. The Council is legally required 
to establish this under the Immigration, Asylum and Nationality Act 2006; 

 Two references have been received, one from current or most recent 
employer in every case where this is available along with a written record of 
any telephone conversation with a referee from the recruiting manager; 

 That where a DBS check is required for the post, the person who the panel 
are seeking to appoint has completed an application for a DBS Disclosure, 
received and shared the DBS certificate with the Council.  

 Where required, registration status relevant to the post that has been applied 
for has been satisfied, for example, Education Workforce Council (EWC), 
Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW);  

 The Council’s Occupational Health Department has confirmed the applicant 
has the health & physical capacity to undertake the post;  

 Where required an overseas criminal record check documentation has been 
received and reviewed where appropriate.  

 Gaps in employment and/or education have been accounted for by the 
recruiting manager.  

 
 
AGENCY STAFF AND VOLUNTEERS - SAFE RECRUITMENT / ENGAGEMENT 
PRACTICE 
 
Agency Staff 
 
40. Under the Conduct of Employment Agencies and Employment Businesses 

Regulations 2003, employment agencies and employment businesses are not 
allowed to introduce or supply a work seeker to a hirer unless they have made 
checks to ensure that both the work seeker and hirer are aware of any legal or 
professional body requirements, which either of them must satisfy to enable the work 
seeker to work for the hirer.  This should include:  

 

 The agency/business checking that any supply staff have the qualifications 
and/or registration status and/or DBS status required for the post the hirer is 
seeking to fill.   

 

 The agency/business carrying out the same pre-employment checks as we do 
for our staff (see point 38 above).    

 

 Agencies being able to confirm that they consistently implement these checks 
and have carried out the checks for every individual they might/will supply to 
the hirer.   

 

 That they are only going to present a work seeker that has passed the safer 
recruitment process if the post involves working with children, young people 
and/or vulnerable adults.  

 
41. The Agency/business must be prepared to commit to regular quality assurance 

checks with the hirer to satisfy themselves that safe recruitment practice has not 

Page 33



9 

 

lapsed. Evidence of the quality assurance check must be available for audit 
purposes.  

 
Volunteers 
 
42. Volunteers are seen by children and vulnerable adults alike as safe and trustworthy 

adults, and if the Council/ the School is actively seeking volunteers, and is 
considering candidates about whom it has little or no recent knowledge, it should 
adopt the same recruitment measures as it would for paid staff.   

 
43. Where an establishment/School approaches a person who is well known to them to 

take on particular role, a shorter procedure could be adopted, but it should still 
include obtaining references, conducting an informal interview to be clear about the 
person’s suitability, and obtaining a DBS check where the role requires it. The 
completion of a risk assessment as a matter of good practice is recommended in 
such cases.  

 
44.  All those requested to work closely and regularly with children and young people 

and/or vulnerable adults in an unsupervised capacity, must have an enhanced DBS 
check.  

 
 
POST APPOINTMENT – MAINTAINING A SAFER CULTURE 
 
45. It is important that all staff in an establishment have appropriate training and 

induction so that they understand their safeguarding roles and responsibilities and 
are confident about carrying them out.  

 
46. The content and nature of the induction process will vary according to the role and 

previous experience of the new member of staff or volunteer, but should:  
 

 Ensure adherence to any induction framework that is relevant to the post 
including promoting the understanding of any professional body status 
expectations of the post. 

 Include safe practice and the standards of conduct and behaviour expected of 
staff in the establishment, e.g. anti-bullying, anti-racism. 

 Identify how and with whom any concerns about those issues should be 
raised  

 Include other relevant HR procedures, such as disciplinary, capability and 
whistle blowing procedures. 

 
47. If the post includes safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children, young people 

and/or vulnerable adults, the induction programme should also include information 
about, and written statements of: 

 

 policies and procedures in relation to safeguarding and promoting welfare e.g. 
safeguarding, child protection, adult protection, physical intervention or 
restraint, intimate care, internet safety and any local child/adult protection and 
safeguarding procedures 

 
48. The induction should also include attendance at training appropriate to the 

individual’s role. 
 

Page 34



10 

 

49. Provide opportunities for the new member of staff / Agency staff or volunteer to 
discuss any issues or concerns about their role and responsibilities. 

 
50. Enable the person’s line manager or mentor to recognise any concerns or issues 

about the person’s ability or suitability at the outset and address them immediately.  
 
51. Monitoring of both the recruitment process and induction arrangements will help 

better inform future recruitment practices. This monitoring should cover staff turnover 
and reasons for leaving, exit interviews and the attendance of new recruits at relevant 
training. 

 
 
MONITORING OF THE PROCEDURE 
 
52. Good partnership working between Education, Children and Adult Services ensures 

that policies and procedures are effectively implemented and reflect the statutory 
guidance of the South East Wales Safeguarding Children Board (SEWCSB) and the 
Gwent Wide Adult Safeguarding Board (GWASB).  Awareness and good practice is 
promoted through these Boards. The safe recruitment procedure will be reviewed 
annually to ensure consistent with Statutory Guidance and good reflective practice.   

  
 

INTERPRETATION OF THE PROCEDURE 
 
53. In the event of a dispute relating to the interpretation of this procedure, the Head of 

People Services and a Head of Service unconnected to the appointment/engagement 
will make the final decision on interpretation.   

 
 

REVIEW OF THE PROCEDURE 
 
54. A review of this procedure will take place annually in line with the Council’s 

safeguarding and equal opportunities policies.  The procedure will be updated 
appropriately to reflect any changes in legislation and guidance.  Any amendments 
will be consulted on with all the relevant parties.  However, in the case of 
amendments relating to legislative requirements, the procedure will be amended and 
reissued.  

 
 
 
MARCH 2020 

Page 35



1 
 

Appendix 2     

 
 

Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) Policy 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Version of Policy 

 
Version 1 
 

 
Policy Ratified By: 

 

 
Date Ratified: 

 

 
Effective Date of 
Policy: 

 
March 2020 

 
Review Date: 

 
March 2021 
 

 
Applicable To: 

 
All Caerphilly employees including employees directly 
employed by Schools, Agency Workers, Volunteers, 
Elected Members and School Governors. 
 

 
Equalities Issues: 

 
All Equalities considerations have been taken into 
account when drafting this Policy. 
 
This Policy is available in Welsh 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

  

Page 36



2 
 

 
     INDEX          

            

 
    SECTION  

 
Page Number 

 
Definitions 
 

 
2 

 
Introduction 
 

 
3 

 
Detail Of The Policy 
 

 
3 

 
Interpretation of the Policy 
 

 
5 

 
Review Of The Policy 

 
6 

 
 

DEFINITIONS 
 

DBS – The Disclosure and Barring Service is an Executive Agency of the Home Office which was 
set up to undertake disclosure and barring functions which include processing requests for criminal 
record checks and to maintain the Children’s and Adult’s barred lists. 

Page 37



3 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 

1. The DBS service allows organisations to make safer recruitment decisions by providing 
access to criminal records for posts which are deemed to require a criminal records check.  

 
2. Caerphilly County Borough Council is committed to safeguarding children and adults who 

access the services it provides and will utilise the services offered by the DBS to assist in 
the protection of children and adults from persons who may wish to harm them. 
 

3. The provisions of this Policy, which must be read in conjunction with other relevant Council 
policies and procedures (e.g. Recruitment and Selection Procedure), will enable 
Managers/Heads of Service to ensure that employees, agency workers and volunteers are 
suitable to work with vulnerable groups. 
 

4. Copies of this and related policies are available on the HR Support Portal or from Line 
Managers.   
 

 
DETAIL OF THE POLICY 

  
5. Posts Eligible for a DBS Check 

   
The Council will only apply for checks to posts which have been identified as being eligible 
for a DBS check and are contained in the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 (Exceptions) 
Order 1975 or the Police Act 1997 (Criminal Records). 
 

Managers will have the responsibility of ensuring that an up to date list is kept of posts 
eligible for a DBS check in their service area and is stored against the post on the HR 
database. 
 

Counter signatories must satisfy themselves that the post stated on the DBS application is 
eligible under current legislation before they countersign the form. 
  
DBS checks will equally apply to agency workers who undertake duties within the Council 
which have been identified as requiring a DBS check. The agency worker must have a valid 
DBS certificate which has been issued within the last 12 months. 
 
The Council will carry out checks for Elected Members who serve on committees which 
involve the delivery of services for Children and Adults relating to Education or Social 
Services. Other specified roles which involve the Elected Member serving on committees or 
as a designated person will also require a DBS check.  
 
The Council will also recommend to Schools that Governors are DBS checked as they are 
incorporated into the definition of “work with children” thus making them eligible for an 
enhanced level DBS check for the child workforce. 
 
Volunteers whose role is eligible for a DBS check and which meets the DBS definition of a 
volunteer will be required to have the relevant level of DBS check in place prior to 
commencing their volunteering role.   
  

6. Levels of criminal record check 
   

There are 4 different levels of checks that can be requested 
  

 Basic Certificate 
 Standard check 

 Enhanced check 
 Enhanced check with Children’s and/or Adults barred list check 
 

Page 38



4 
 

 The appropriate level of check will be dependant upon the post that the individual 
undertakes/due to undertake in the council. Full details are available on the DBS website   

 https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/disclosure-and-barring-service.  
 
Advice can also be sought from the HR Department. 
 
N.B. The application process will ask the Counter signatory to specify the type of workforce 
the applicant will be working with i.e: 
   

Adult workforce 
Children’s workforce 
Adult and Children’s workforce 
Other workforce (e.g. when considering applications for licences for Taxi drivers, 
Gambling premises, etc)  
 

7. When to check? 
  

There are a number of occasions when it would be appropriate to request that a person 
undertakes a relevant DBS check, these include: 

    
Recruitment - both internal and external 

   Person changing role within the Council 
   Staff being  transferred into the council.  

  Volunteers carrying out voluntary work for the Council. 
  

8. Renewal of DBS certificate 
   

The Councils policy is to carry out a 3 year recheck of all persons requiring a DBS  
  certificate as a condition of their employment. The council will fund the renewal checks. 
 

9. Secure handling of disclosure Information and Data protection. 
  

9.1 General principles 
  

Caerphilly County Borough Council utilises the DBS to help assess the suitability of 
applicants for relevant posts and complies fully with the DBS Code of Practice regarding the 
correct handling, use, storage, retention and disposal of disclosures and disclosure 
information.  It also complies fully with its obligations under the Data Protection Act 2018 
and other relevant legislation pertaining to the safe handling, use, storage, retention and 
disposal of Certificate information and has a written policy on these matters, which is 
available to those who wish to see if on request. 

 
9.2 Storage and access 

  
Disclosure information should be kept securely, in lockable, non-portable, storage 
 containers and with access strictly controlled and limited to those who are entitled to see it 
 as part of their duties. 
 

9.3 Handling 
  

In accordance with Section 124 of the Police Act 1997, certificate information is only 
 passed to those who are authorised to receive it in the course of their duties. We maintain a 
 record of all those to whom certificates or certificate information has been revealed and it is 

 a criminal offence to pass this information to anyone who is not entitled to receive it. 
 
 
 

Page 39

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/disclosure-and-barring-service


5 
 

 
 
9.4 Usage 

  
Disclosure information is only used for the specific purpose for which is it was requested 
 and for which the applicant’s full consent has been given. 
 

9.5 Retention 

  
Once a recruitment (or other relevant) decision has been made, we do not keep Disclosure 

 information for any longer than is necessary. This is generally for a period of up to six 
 months, to allow for the consideration and resolution of any disputes or complaints. If, in 
 very exceptional circumstances, it is considered necessary to keep Disclosure information 
 for longer than six months, we will consult the DBS about this and will give full 
 consideration to the data protection and human rights of the individual before doing so. 
  

Throughout this time, the conditions regarding the safe storage and strictly controlled 
 access will prevail. 
  

Services which are inspected by the Care Inspectorate Wales and by Estyn may be legally 
entitled to retain the certificate for the purposes of inspection. 

  
9.6 Disposal 

  
Once the retention period has elapsed, we will ensure that any Disclosure information is 

 immediately destroyed by secure means, e.g. by shredding. While awaiting destruction, 
 Disclosure information will not be kept in any receptacle that is not secure (e.g. waste bin or 
 confidential waste sack). 
  

We will not keep any photocopy or other image of the Disclosure or any copy of 
 representation of the contents of a Disclosure. However, not withstanding the above, we 
 may keep a record of the date of issue of a Disclosure, the name of the subject, the type 
 of Disclosure requested, the position for which the Disclosure was requested, the unique 
 reference number of the Disclosure and the details of the recruitment decision taken. 

 
10. Transgender applications 

 
There is a confidential DBS process specifically for transgender applicants, who should 
contact the DBS sensitive applications line on 0151 676 1452 or email 
sensitiver@dbs.gsi.gov.uk for further advice about completing the form. 

 
11. Acting as an umbrella body 

   
Before acting as an umbrella body (an umbrella body being a registered body which 
countersigns applications and receives certificate information on behalf of other employers 
or recruiting organisations), we will take all reasonable steps to satisfy ourselves that the 
organisation will handle, use, store, retain and dispose of certificate information in full 
compliance with the Code of Practice and in full accordance with this policy. 

We will also ensure that any body or individual, at whose request applications for DBS 
certificates are countersigned, has such a written policy and, if necessary, will provide a 
model policy for that body or individual to use or adapt for this purpose. 

 
 
INTERPRETATION OF THE POLICY  

 
12. In the event of a dispute relating to the interpretation of this policy the Head of People 

Page 40

mailto:sensitiver@dbs.gsi.gov.uk


6 
 

Services or the Human Resources Service Manager will make the final decision on 
interpretation. 

 
 
REVIEW OF THE POLICY 

 
13. A review of this policy will take place when appropriate. Any amendments will be consulted 

on with all the relevant parties. However, in the case of amendments relating to legislative 
requirements, the policy will be amended and reissued. 

 
 
 

MARCH 2020 
  

 

Page 41



 

1 
 

Appendix 3   

 
Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) Policy 

relating to School Governors  
(Recommended to Schools) 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Version of Policy 

 
Version 1 
 

 
Policy Ratified By: 

 

 
Date Ratified: 

 

 
Effective Date of 
Policy: 

 
March 2020 

 
Review Date: 

 
31 July 2021 
 

 
Applicable To: 

 
School Governors 
 

 
Equalities Issues: 

 
All Equalities considerations have been taken into 
account when drafting this Policy. 
 
This Policy is available in Welsh 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

  

Page 42



 

2 
 

 
     INDEX          

            

 
    SECTION  

 
Page Number 

 
Definitions 
 

 
2 

 
Introduction 
 

 
3 

 
Detail Of The Policy 
 

 
3 

 
Interpretation of the Policy 
 

 
5 

 
Review Of The Policy 

 
6 

 
 

DEFINITIONS 
 

DBS – The Disclosure and Barring Service is an Executive Agency of the Home Office which was 
set up to undertake disclosure and barring functions which include processing requests for criminal 
record checks and to maintain the Children’s and Adult’s barred lists. 

 

 
 

  

Page 43



 

3 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 

1. The DBS service allows organisations to make safer recruitment decisions by providing 
access to criminal records for posts which are deemed to require a criminal records check.  

 
2. Caerphilly County Borough Council is committed to safeguarding children and adults who 

access the services it provides and will utilise the services offered by the DBS to assist in 
the protection of children and adults from persons who may wish to harm them. 

 
3. The provisions of this Policy, which must be read in conjunction with the Council’s 

recommended ‘Safer Recruitment’ policy and the School’s Safeguarding/Child Protection 
policy, will enable Headteachers to ensure that School governors are suitable for the roles 
attributed to them in this capacity.   
 

4. Copies of this and related policies are available on the HR Support Portal. 
 
 

DETAIL OF THE POLICY 
  

5. Posts Eligible for a DBS Check   
 

5.1 Headteachers’ have the responsibility for ensuring that an up to date list is kept of posts 
eligible for a DBS check in their School and Counter Signatories must satisfy themselves 
that the post stated on the DBS application is eligible under current legislation before they 
counter sign the form.   

 
5.2 Headteachers are used to determining if a person’s employment or engagement entitles 

them to a DBS check.  In most cases this involves working out whether the person will be 
engaging in ‘regulated activity’ and where it is determined that this will be the case, the 
relevant enhanced DBS check is undertaken with access to barred lists.  The vast majority 
of School governors however will never engage in activity that clearly meets the definition of 
‘regulated activity’.   

 
5.3 The role of School Governor used to be included in the original definition of regulated 

activity with children, as set out in the Safeguarding Vulnerable Groups Act (SVGA) 2006.  
Following changes to this definition by the Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 however, 
School Governors were removed.  This means that the roles are no longer classed as being 
regulated activity and therefore not eligible for a barred list check. This does not however 
prevent School Governors from being asked to apply for a relevant DBS check.  

 
5.4 The Police Act 1997 (Criminal Records) Regulations 2002 were amended in 2012 to 

incorporate the role of School Governor into the new definition of ‘work with children’. This 
made individuals holding these positions eligible to be asked to apply for enhanced level 
DBS checks in the child workforce, but without a children’s barred list check.   
 

5.5 The Disclosure and Barring Service in 2018 circulated guidance to all Local Authorities in 
Wales referring to School Governors and Elected Members of the Council specifically.  This 
guidance clarified that:  

 
- ALL School governors are eligible to be asked to apply for enhanced level DBS check 

(no barred list) 
 

5.6. Following a review of the Council’s Recruitment and Selection Procedure in terms of safer 
recruitment practice and in consideration of the Council’s safeguarding commitment to  
ensure that our statutory responsibilities to safeguard and protect children, young people 
and vulnerable adults are effectively met, it is a recommendation of this policy that:  

 

Page 44



 

4 
 

- ALL School Governors are asked to apply for an enhanced DBS check (no barred 
list).  

 
6. Levels of DBS check 

   
6.1 All School Governors are eligible to be asked to apply for an enhanced level DBS check 

(without a children’s barred list check).  
 

6.2 NB The application process will ask the Counter signatory to specify the type of workforce 
the applicant will be working with.  For School Governors this will be:  
   

Children’s workforce 
or 
Adult and Children’s workforce 

 
7. When to undertake the check? 

  
7.1 The occasions when it would be appropriate under this Policy to request that a School 

Governor undertakes the relevant DBS check include: 
 

- Following the School Governing Body’s adoption of this Policy.  
- Following election to the Governing Body of the School. 

 
8. Renewal of DBS certificate 

 
8.1 The Council’s policy is to carry out a 3 year recheck of all persons requiring a DBS 

 certificate as a condition of their employment.  It is recommended under this policy that 
School Governors also commit to a 3 year recheck if they remain a School Governor at the 
point of each recheck.  

 
9. Secure handling of disclosure Information and Data protection. 

  
9.1 General principles 

 
Caerphilly County Borough Council utilises the Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) to 
help assess the suitability of applicants for relevant posts/roles and complies fully with the 
DBS Code of Practice regarding the correct handling, use, storage, retention and disposal 
 of disclosures and disclosure information. It also complies fully with its obligations under 
 the Data Protection Act 2018 and other relevant legislation pertaining to the safe handling, 
use, storage, retention and disposal of Certificate information and has a written policy on 
these matters, which is available to those who wish to see if on request. 

 
9.2 Storage and access 
  

Disclosure information should be kept securely, in lockable, non-portable, storage 
 containers and with access strictly controlled and limited to those who are entitled to see it 
 as part of their duties. 
 

9.3 Handling 
  

In accordance with Section 124 of the Police Act 1997, certificate information is only 
 passed to those who are authorised to receive it in the course of their duties. We maintain a 
record of all those to whom certificates or certificate information has been revealed and it is 
a criminal offence to pass this information to anyone who is not entitled to receive it. 

 
 
 
 

Page 45



 

5 
 

9.4 Usage 
 
 Disclosure information is only used for the specific purpose for which is it was requested 
and for which the applicant’s full consent has been given. 

 
9.5 Retention 

 
 Once a recruitment (or other relevant) decision has been made, we do not keep Disclosure 
information for any longer than is necessary. This is generally for a period of up to six 
months, to allow for the consideration and resolution of any disputes or complaints. If, in 
very exceptional circumstances, it is considered necessary to keep Disclosure information 
for longer than six months, we will consult the DBS about this and will give full consideration 
to the data protection and human rights of the individual before doing so. 
 
 Throughout this time, the conditions regarding the safe storage and strictly controlled 
access will prevail. 

 
 As part of their inspection system by Estyn, Schools may be legally entitled to retain the 

certificate for the purposes of inspection. 
  
9.6 Disposal 

 
Once the retention period has elapsed, we will ensure that any Disclosure information is 
immediately destroyed by secure means, e.g. by shredding. While awaiting destruction, 
 Disclosure information will not be kept in any receptacle that is not secure (e.g. waste bin or 
 confidential waste sack). 
  
 We will not keep any photocopy or other image of the Disclosure or any copy of 
 representation of the contents of a Disclosure. However, not withstanding the above, we 
may keep a record of the date of issue of a Disclosure, the name of the subject, the type of 
Disclosure requested, the position for which the Disclosure was requested, the unique 
reference number of the Disclosure and the details of the recruitment decision taken. 

 
10 Transgender applications 

 
There is a confidential DBS process specifically for transgender applicants, who should 
contact the DBS sensitive applications line on 0151 676 1452 or email 
sensitiver@dbs.gsi.gov.uk for further advice about completing the form. 

  
11 Acting as an umbrella body 

  
Before acting as an umbrella body (an umbrella body being a registered body which 
countersigns  applications and receives certificate information on behalf of other employers 
or recruiting organisations), we will take all reasonable steps to satisfy ourselves that they 
will handle, use, store, retain and dispose of certificate information in full compliance with 
the code of practice and in full accordance with this policy. 

 We will also ensure that any body or individual, at whose request applications for DBS 
certificates are countersigned, has such a written policy and, if necessary, will provide a 
model policy for that body or individual to use or adapt for this purpose. 

 
 
INTERPRETATION OF THE POLICY  

 
12. In the event of a dispute relating to the interpretation of this policy the Head of People 

Services or the Human Resources Service Manager will make the final decision on 
interpretation. 

 

Page 46

mailto:sensitiver@dbs.gsi.gov.uk
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/dbs-code-of-practice


 

6 
 

 
REVIEW OF THE POLICY 

 
13. A review of this policy will take place when appropriate. Any amendments will be consulted 

on with all the relevant parties. However, in the case of amendments relating to legislative 
requirements, the policy will be amended and reissued. 

 
 
 

MARCH 2020 

Page 47



A Guide to School Governor 
and Elected Councillor Roles 
in Wales

Appendix 4

Page 48



2

Disclaimer: This is not legal advice. If you need help 
with making sure you are complying with the law, 
you should speak to a legal advisor.

School Governors
Including:

•	 Member of or clerk to the governing body of an educational 
establishment

•	 A person appointed by the governing body of a maintained 
school to serve on a committee 

The legislation:
These roles used to be included in the original definition of 
regulated activity with children, as set out in the Safeguarding 
Vulnerable Groups Act (SVGA) 2006. However, following changes 
to this definition by the Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 they 
were removed. This means that the roles are no longer classed 
as being regulated activity and are therefore not eligible for a 
barred list check.

Type of check
Anyone holding any of the positions above is eligible to be 
asked to apply for an enhanced level DBS check in the child 
workforce, but without a children’s barred list check.

Page 49



3A guide to school governor and elected councillor roles in Wales

The Police Act 1997 (Criminal Records) Regulations 2002 
were amended in 2013 to incorporate these roles into the new 
definition of ‘work with children’. This made the individuals 
holding these positions eligible to be asked to apply for 
enhanced level DBS checks in the child workforce, but without  
a children’s barred list check.

Elected Councillors
Elected councillors are only eligible for an enhanced DBS check 
in the child or adult workforce without a barred list check if they 
are appointed as a member of a committee or sub-committee 
involved in:

•	 the delivery of services for children relating to education or 
social services; 

•	 the delivery of services for adults relating to social services,  
as explained below.

If the councillor is an appointed member of one of these types of 
committee, the ‘Position Applied For’ field on a DBS application 
form would need to reflect this, rather than indicate that the 
applicant is an elected councillor.

Elected councillors who aren’t members of these committees 
can only apply for a basic check for themselves. This is because 
the role is not named in the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 
1974 (Exceptions) Order 1975 or included in the Police Act 1997 
(Criminal Records) Regulations.

Page 50



4

Committee/Sub-committee Members
Individuals appointed as local authority committee and sub-
committee members can be eligible to be asked to apply for an 
enhanced level DBS check in the child and/or adult workforce, 
depending on which of the groups the committee is involved 
with. There is no eligibility for a check against either the children’s 
or adults’ barred lists in these circumstances.

The legislation:
These roles used to be included in the original definition of 
regulated activity with children and adults, as set out in the 
Safeguarding Vulnerable Groups Act (SVGA) 2006. However, 
following changes to this definition by the Protection of Freedoms 
Act 2012 they were removed. This means that the roles are no 
longer classed as being regulated activity and are therefore not 
eligible for a barred list check.

The Police Act 1997 (Criminal Records) Regulations 2002 
were amended in 2013 to incorporate these roles into the new 
definitions of ‘work with children’ and ‘work with adults’. This 
made the individuals holding these positions eligible to be asked 
to apply for enhanced level DBS checks in the child or adult 
workforce, but without relevant barred list checks.

Page 51



5A guide to school governor and elected councillor roles in Wales

Type of check
Committee and sub-committee members can be eligible to 
be asked to apply for an enhanced level DBS check in the 
child workforce if:

•	 the local authority carries out any education functions, or 
social services functions and

•	 the committee relates to any of the above matters. 

Committee and sub-committee members can be eligible to 
be asked to apply for an enhanced level DBS check in the 
adult workforce if:
•	 the committee relates to any social services functions that 

relate wholly or mainly to adults who receive a health or 
social care service within the meaning of Appendix A or  
a specified provision within the meaning of Appendix B.

Appendix A
For a committee to provide social service functions for adults, 
the adults must receive one of the health or social care services 
listed below.

a)	 residential accommodation provided for an adult in connection 
with any care or nursing he requires 

b)	accommodation provided for an adult who is or has been  
a pupil attending a residential special school, where that 
school is – 

	 i.	 a special school
	 ii.	 an independent school which is in Wales 
	 iii.	an independent school which provides places for children 

with special educational needs Page 52



6

	 iv.	an institution within the further education section which 
provides accommodation for children 

	 v.	 a 16 to 19 Academy which provides accommodation  
for children 

c)	 sheltered housing 
d)	care of any description or assistance provided to an adult 

by reason of his age, health or any disability he has, which 
is provided to the adult in the place where he is, for the time 
being, living, whether provided continuously or not

e)	 any form of health care, including treatment, therapy or 
palliative care of any description 

f)	 support, assistance or advice for the purpose of developing 
an adult’s capacity to live independently in accommodation,  
or sustaining their capacity to do so 

g)	 any service provided specifically for adults because of their age, 
any disability, physical or mental illness, excluding a service 
provided specifically for an adult, with one or more of the 
following disabilities (unless that person has another disability) – 

	 i.	 dyslexia 
	 ii.	 dyscalculia 
	 iii.	dyspraxia 
	 iv.	Irlen syndrome 
	 v.	 Alexia 
	 vi.	auditory processing disorder 
	 vii.	dysgraphia 
h)	 any service provided specifically to an expectant or nursing 

mother in receipt of residential accommodation pursuant to 
arrangements made under section 21(1)(aa) of the National 
Assistance Act 1948 or care pursuant to paragraph 1 of 
Schedule 20 to the National Health Service Act 2006. Page 53



7A guide to school governor and elected councillor roles in Wales

This list is taken from The Police Act 1997 (Criminal Records) 
Regulations 2002 – Regulation 5B Work with adults, paragraph 
9. More details about the legislation relating to the positions can 
be found in the Adult Workforce Guide on the DBS website.

Appendix B
For a committee to provide social service functions for adults, the 
adults must be in receipt of one of the provisions listed below.

a)	 the detention of an adult in lawful custody in a prison, a 
remand centre, young offender institution or a secure training 
centre or an attendance centre 

b)	 the detention of a detained person who is detained in a 
removal centre or short-term holding facility or in pursuance 
of escort arrangements made under section 156 of the 
Immigration and Asylum Act 1999 

c)	 the supervision of an adult by virtue of an order of a court by 
a person exercising functions for the purposes of Part 1 of the 
Criminal Justice and Court Services Act 2000 

d)	the supervision of an adult by a person acting for the 
purposes mentioned in section 1(1) of the Offender 
Management Act 2007 

e)	 the provision to an adult of assistance with the conduct of 
their affairs in situations where – 

	 i.	 a lasting power of attorney is created in respect of the 
adult in accordance with section 9 of the Mental Capacity 
Act 2005 or an application is made under paragraph 4 of 
Schedule 1 to that Act for the registration of an instrument 
intended to create a lasting power of attorney in respect of 
the adult 

	 ii.	 an enduring power of attorney (within the meaning of 
Schedule 4 to that Act) in respect of the adult is registered Page 54



8

in accordance with that Schedule or an application is made 
under that Schedule for the registration of an enduring 
power of attorney in respect of the adult 

	 iii.	an order under section 16 of that Act has been made 
by the Court of Protection in relation to the making of 
decisions on the adult’s behalf, or such an order has been 
applied for 

	 iv.	an independent mental capacity advocate is or is to 
be appointed in respect of the adult in pursuance of 
arrangements under section 35 of that Act 

	 v.	 independent advocacy services (within the meaning of 
section 187 of the National Health Service (Wales) Act 
2006) are or are to be provided in respect of the adult 

	 vi.	a representative is or is to be appointed to receive 
payments on the adult’s behalf in pursuance of regulations 
made under the Social Security Administration Act 1992 

f)	 payments are made to the adult or to another person on the 
adult’s behalf under arrangements made under section 57 of 
the Health and Social Care Act 2001

g)	payments are made to the adult or to another person on the 
adult’s behalf under section 12A(1) or under regulations made 
under section 12A(a) of the National Health Service Act 2006 
or under regulations made under section 12A(4) of that Act 

This list is taken from The Police Act 1997 (Criminal Records) 
Regulations 2002 – Regulation 5B Work with adults,  
paragraph 10.

Page 55



9A guide to school governor and elected councillor roles in Wales

CAPTION

Page 56



10

Further Information
Further information on eligibility can be found on our website 
www.gov.uk/dbs.

By clicking the Eligibility Guidance heading, you will be able  
to access:

•	 DBS eligibility tool which may help you establish whether  
a role is eligible for any level of DBS check.

•	 DBS workforce guides
•	 Department for Education guidance on regulated activity  

with children
•	 Department of Health guidance on regulated activity  

with adults 
•	 Statutory guidance from the Department for Education  

on supervision

It is important to make sure that the law allows you to submit  
a DBS application. You are legally responsible for making  
sure you can submit applications and should be aware of  
the legislation that supports each application in case we need  
further clarification.

Page 57



11A guide to school governor and elected councillor roles in Wales

Page 58



Contact
General enquiries: customerservices@dbs.gsi.gov.uk
Corporate relations: communications@dbs.gsi.gov.uk
Telephone: 03000 200 190
Welsh Language: 0300 200 191
Minicom: 03000 200 192
International: +44 151 676 9390
Website: www.gov.uk/dbs

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 60



 
 

CABINET – 28TH OCTOBER 2020 

 
SUBJECT: FREEDOM OF BOROUGH – ROYAL BRITISH LEGION 
 
REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR EDUCATION AND CORPORATE 

SERVICES 

 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT  
 
1.1 This report is to seek a decision on whether the Cabinet wishes to recommend that 

Council admit as Honorary Freeman of the Borough the Royal British Legion in 
recognition of their 100th Year Anniversary on 15th May 2021 and to honour the 
charitable work of the organisation supporting ex-service men and women and their 
families.    

 
 

2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 Under Section 249(5) of the Local Government Act 1972 a Borough Council can 

grant the Freedom of the Borough to "persons of distinction and persons who have, 
in the opinion of the Council, rendered eminent services to the Borough". In order to 
grant the Freedom of the Borough, a resolution must be passed by not less than two 
thirds of the members voting at a meeting of the Council specially convened for the 
purpose 

 
 
3. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 Cabinet are asked to recommend to Council the following: 
 
3.2 In pursuance of Section 249 (as amended) of the Local Government Act 1972 the 

Council confers upon the Royal British Legion in 2021, the Freedom of the County 
Borough of Caerphilly. 

 
 
4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 To give public recognition to the recipient as an expression of the high esteem in which 

they are held by Caerphilly County Borough Council and the people of the County 
Borough on the occasion of the 100th Anniversary of the Royal British Legion. 

 
5. THE REPORT 
 
5.1 The tradition of Boroughs conferring the Freedom goes back to ancient times when 

the Royal Charter Boroughs were almost, if not entirely, self governing. Originally, 

Page 61

Agenda Item 6



such conferment conveyed special privileges of various kinds upon the recipient that 
could involve the right to vote, property and local taxation benefits. 

 
5.2 Over the years, and especially since the passing of the Reform Act 1983 and the 

Municipal Corporations Act 1835, successive Acts of Parliament have sought 
amongst other things severely to curtail the extent of the privileges so that, today, the 
conferment is purely honorary. Today’s Freemen have no special rights. 

 
5.3 However, the tradition is maintained as a means whereby public recognition may be 

given to the recipients as an expression of the high esteem in which, they are held by 
the Council and people of the Borough. 

 
5.4 Council agreed at the meeting dated 29th January 2008 to award Freedom of the 

Borough and Cabinet subsequently agreed the nomination criteria at the meeting 
dated 3rd March 2009. These criteria are set out below: 

 
  Nomination criteria 
 

(a) Nominations must show that the nominee is a ‘person/s of distinction and/or a 
person/s who has rendered eminent services to the County Borough’. 

 
(b) In keeping with special nature of the award conferment should be strictly limited to 
those who have made a very significant contribution to the locality either on the 
national or international scene. It should be noted that the Council already has an 
annual award scheme for the Voluntary Sector Achievement Awards, (which also 
encompasses the Mayoral Civic Awards) to recognise those who have made an 
important contribution to the local community especially in a voluntary capacity. 

 
Nomination procedure 

 
(a) Nominations may be received from councillors, officers, MPs, outside 
organisations in the borough, and members of the public who are on the Electoral 
Register; 

 
(b) Nominations must be made using the Nomination for Honorary Freedom of the 
County Borough form (appendix 1) and they must set out the reason why the Honour 
should be conferred; 

 
(c) Nominations must be submitted to the Cabinet via the Chief Executive, who will 
consult the leaders of the opposition groups to ensure there is sufficient support 
before, any nomination can be considered by the Cabinet. All discussions with the 
leaders of the opposition groups and potential recipients are to remain confidential at 
all times; 

 
(d) Cabinet will make a recommendation to the council if it considers that the 
Honorary Freeman of the County Borough would be an appropriate honour to confer; 

 
(e) The Full Council then has to make a separate decision at a specially convened 
council meeting to confer the Honorary Freedom of the County Borough; 

 
(f) The actual ceremony itself will take place at a later date, with the mutual 
agreement of the recipients, when invited guests as well as the council members will 
be present; 

 
(g) The award will take the form of the presentation of a suitably worded scroll and 

Page 62



casket and a declaration by the honoured person will be made followed by a 
reception. 

 
5.5 Councillor Andrew Whitcombe the former Armed Forces Champion submitted the 

attached nomination form (appendix 1), which has been endorsed by the current 
Armed Forces Champion Councillor Alan Higgs. The nomination specifically outlines 
the reasons for consideration of the Royal British Legion on the occasion of the 100th 
Anniversary which will be achieved on 21st May 2021. 

 

5.6 Conclusion   

Cabinet are asked to consider the nomination against the criteria outlined in this 
report as set out in 5.4 and make a recommendation to Council. 
 

6. ASSUMPTIONS 

6.1 The recommendation as set out in this report assumes that Members will wish to 
recognise and support conferring the Freedom of the Borough upon the Royal British 
Legion upon the occasion of their 100th Anniversary.      

 
7.  LINKS TO RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES 
 
7.1      Council has previously agreed the procedure and criteria for nominations for Freedom 

of the Borough which is a Civic and Ceremonial function. 
 
7.2 Corporate Plan 2018-2023.   

 
The procedure and criteria for nominations for Freedom of the Borough which is a 
Civic and Ceremonial function. 
 

8. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS 
 
8.1 By conferring the Freedom of the Borough, Caerphilly County Borough Council gives 

an opportunity to recognise the achievements and work of individuals and 
organisations within its community. The Wellbeing of Future Generations Act asks 
public bodies to work towards achieving a Wales of cohesive communities. 
Therefore, by recognising the charitable work of the Royal British Legion the Council 
can publicly thank the RBL and also the wide range of people in the county borough 
who raise funds every year to support the RBL. 

 
9. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1  There are no equalities implications in this report. 
 
10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 The Local Government, Planning and Land Act 1980 provides that the Authority may 

spend such reasonable sum as they think fit for the purpose of presenting an address 
or a casket containing an address to any person admitted to be an honorary freeman. 

 
10.2 The ceremonial presentation and reception for each nominee shall be funded from 

the Mayoral office funds in consultation with the Chief Executive and Leader of the 
Council. 

Page 63



 
11. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 There are no personnel implications. 
  
 
12. CONSULTATIONS 
 
12.1 There are no consultation responses not included within this report. 
 
 
13. STATUTORY POWER  
 
13.1 The Local Government Act 1972, (as amended) and The Local Government, 

Planning and Land Act 1980. 
 
 
Author: Catherine Forbes-Thompson, Scrutiny Manager, forbecl@caerphilly.gov.uk

  
 
Consultees: Christina Harrhy Chief Executive, 

Richard Edmunds, Corporate Director Education and Corporate Services, 
Robert Tranter Head of legal and Monitoring Officer 
Lisa Lane Deputy Monitoring Officer and Head of Democratic Services 
Cllr P Marsden, Council Leader 
Cllr C Mann, Plaid Cymru Group Leader 
Cllr G Simmonds, Independents Group Leader 
 

Background Papers: 
 
Council report 29th January 2008. 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1 Nomination Form Freedom of the Borough, Royal British Legion 
 
 

Page 64



 
 

NOMINATION FORM FOR FREEDOM OF THE COUNTY BOROUGH 
 
 

Please send the following information to the email or post to the address at the bottom of the 
page: 
 
About the person you wish to nominate 
 
Name of person suggested by you:  
Royal British Legion (To be received by Anthony Metcalfe Area Manager RBL in Wales) 
 
Their address (please include postcode): 
The Royal British Legion, 18/19 High Street, Cardiff, CF10 1PT  
 
Please tell us why you think they should receive recognition, giving as much details as 
possible, but keeping the statement to a maximum of 250 words: 
 
I formally request that, on behalf of the people of Caerphilly County Borough and elected 
members of the council, we procced to recognise and acknowledge the incredible work of the 
Royal British Legion on the 100th anniversary of its formation. Formed on 15 May 1921, 
bringing together four national organisations of ex-Servicemen that had established 
themselves after the First World War: 
 
Over six million men had served in the war. Of those who came back, 1.75 million had suffered 
some kind of disability and half of these were permanently disabled. Then there were those 
who depended on those who had gone to war – the wives and children, widows, and orphans, 
as well as the parents who had lost sons in the war, on whom they were often financially 
dependent. 
 
The Legion was established to care for those who had suffered as a result of service during 
the First World War. And they have been helping the Armed Forces community and their 
families ever since.  
 
The Legion provide lifelong support to serving members of the Royal Navy, British Army, Royal 
Air Force, veterans and their families. Their wide ranging activities include support through 
debt and emergency situations, employment, dementia care and supporting the towns and 
villages of the borough for remembrance parades and services. 
 
The Royal British Legion have continued to support the people of Caerphilly Borough and has 
been an active member of the Armed Forces Forum and are at the forefront of the care offered 
to the Armed Forces Community. 
 
Do they do this activity as part of an organisation or charity? 
 
YES 
 
If yes, what it is the name of this organisation or charity?  

Appendix 1 

Page 65



Royal British Legion 
 
If yes, when did they begin this work?  
 
This will be the 100 year anniversary. 
 
Your name (please print):  
 
Councillor Andrew Whitcombe, Former Armed Forces Champion 
Councillor Alan Higgs, Armed Forces Champion 
 
Your address (please print) 
C/o Regional Armed Forces Covenant Liaison Officer, Policy Unit, Ty Penalta, Tredomen, 
CF82 7PG 
 
Your email address: 
 
AndrewWhitcombe@caerphilly.gov.uk 
AlanHiggs@caerphilly.gov.uk 
 
 
What connection do you have with this person? 
Former Armed Forces Champion & Current Armed Forces Champion 
 
Signature ___________________________ 
 
Date _______________________________ 
 
Please return to: 
 
Christina Harrhy 
Chief Executive 
Caerphilly County Borough Council 
Penallta House,  
Tredomen Park, 
Ystrad Mynach,  
Hengoed,  
CF82 7PG 

Page 66

mailto:AndrewWhitcombe@caerphilly.gov.uk


 
 

CABINET – 28TH OCTOBER 2020 
 

SUBJECT: COMMUNITY ASSET TRANSFER – DRAFT POLICY AND PROCESS 
 

REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR FOR EDUCATION AND CORPORATE 
SERVICES 

 

 
 

1.1 The report was considered by the Environment and Sustainability Scrutiny Committee on 
11th February 2020 and the Community Council Liaison Sub Committee on the 11th March 
2020 as part of the consultation process. 
 

1.2  The Liaison Sub Committee noted the comments of the Scrutiny Committee and its 
recommendation to Cabinet that the sentence “Those assets which have the potential to 
generate significant capital receipts are not likely to be considered as suitable for transfer” 
as set out in the “Guiding Principles used by the Local Authority” section of the draft Policy, 
the Community Asset Transfer – Policy and Process be removed. 

 
1.3 Members expressed their concern that asset transfers would only be considered for the least 

desirable assets, those which the Council wanted to dispose of or could no longer afford to 
run.  Assurances were provided that this was not a root to surplus asset disposal but a 
mechanism that would enable a community to retain something that has a community value, 
whether that was to continue an existing service provision of provide a new service to the 
community. 

 
1.4 Members also expressed concern that Town and Community Councils had with reluctance 

taken on assets, like public toilets, rather than lose them and saw this as a way for the Council 
to make further budget cuts and would provide additional pressures to Town and Community 
Councils.  The Officer advised that the policy would provide a common understanding with 
regard to community asset transfers, which could be easily understood, transparent and 
robust and confirmed that this document was based on Welsh Government guidance and 
addressed the need for Caerphilly County Borough Council to have a policy in place.  The 
policy was not related to any budgetary considerations and sought only to provide options 
that would allow community asset transfers to take place. 

 
1.5 Cabinet are asked to consider the recommendation from the Environment and Sustainability 

Scrutiny Committee and the comments of the Community Council Liaison Sub Committee 
and subject to the aforementioned amendment endorse the draft Community Asset Transfer 
Policy and Process. 

 
 

  
Author: Emma Sullivan (Senior Committee Officer) – sullie@caerphilly.gov.uk 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1 Covering Report to Community Council Liaison Sub-Committee 11th March 2020 and 

Environment and Sustainability Scrutiny Committee Report 11th February 2020. 
 

Page 67

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 68



Appendix 1 

 
 

COMMUNITY COUNCIL LIAISON SUB- COMMITTEE – 11TH MARCH 
2020 
 

SUBJECT: COMMUNITY ASSET TRANSFER – DRAFT POLICY AND PROCESS 
 

REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR FOR EDUCATION AND CORPORATE 
SERVICES 

 

 
 

1.1 The attached report outlined a draft policy and process for Community Asset Transfer (CAT), 
the contents encompass the views of stakeholders consulted at the time of initial scrutiny 
committee consideration. This report was considered by the Environment and Sustainability 
Scrutiny Committee on 11th February 2020. Views were sought on its content, prior to further 
consultation with the Community Council Liaison Sub Committee on 11th March 2020 and 
referral to Cabinet for a decision on 25th March 2020. 
 

1.2  Members were advised that publically funded assets could be transferred if they had the 
potential to add social value to communities, but that CAT is not a route to surplus asset 
disposal and cost saving.  

 
1.3 Officers outlined how the draft policy is written to provide a robust but flexible staged process 

with an informal discussion preceding an Expression of Interest stage, followed by a full 
Business Case. Also, that the draft policy had been developed using Welsh Government 
guidance in order to provide a consistent, transparent and easily understood process that 
can be used to support community organisations and guide the decision-making of the 
Council. 

 
1.4 During the course of the ensuing debate, a Member asked for examples of successful and 

unsuccessful CAT case studies. The Old Library in Morgan Jones Park in Caerphilly was put 
forward as an example of best practice, as the community café had proved very successful. 
As the Council does not approve business cases that do not meet certain principles, no 
unsuccessful examples from the county borough were provided. An example was given of 
an arts centre in a neighbouring authority which had failed as a CAT and was passed back 
to that authority due to challenges including the age of the building and subsequent liabilities. 
It was emphasised to Members that there needs to be a robust process in place to avoid 
CATs failing and the asset being transferred back to the local authority. 

 
1.5 A query was raised on covenants and whether or not the site of a former school in Cwmcarn 

could only be used for educational purposes. Officers advised that currently in general terms 
the value of covenants were not as conclusive as in previous times, and that in the future 
each case would be judged on merits such as adding social value to local communities. 

 
1.6  A Member sought clarification on the state of assets prior to being transferred to community 

organisations, and whether or not the Council ensured that each asset was handed over in 
a good condition. When Officers advised that this is not always the case but that statutory 
obligations are met, the Member questioned the validity of this current practice as it was 
deemed unfair to pass on an asset in poor condition to a community organisation which 
would soon be faced with considerable liability costs. Officers highlighted that under the draft 

Page 69



Appendix 1 

policy and process each business case would be considered on its individual merits, in this 
situation it would be possible in certain cases to ensure condition standards prior to transfer 
but it would be dependent on the business case put forward. Members were also advised 
that the Council will work with community groups to enable grant funding for building 
improvements.  

 
1.7 One Member referred to the need for CATs to enable community empowerment, and as a 

result expressed disagreement with a  sentence in the ‘Guiding Principles used by the Local 
Authority’ section of the draft Policy and Process for Community Asset Transfer as appended 
to the report, which stated “Those assets which have the potential to generate significant 
capital receipts are not likely to be considered as suitable for transfer” Officers advised that 
this has been taken from the Welsh Government’s Assets Cymru Guide to Community Asset 
Transfer 2019, and that CAT is a local authority led process. The Member moved an 
additional recommendation to Cabinet in that this sentence be removed from the final version 
of the Council’s Community Asset Transfer – Policy and Process  This was seconded and 
by a show of hands (and in noting there were four against and two abstentions) was agreed 
by the majority present. 

 
1.8 Following consideration and discussion, and incorporating the aforementioned addition, the 

Environment and Sustainability Scrutiny Committee, by the majority present (and in noting 
there was one against), recommended to Cabinet that subject to the removal of the sentence 
“Those assets which have the potential to generate significant capital receipts are not likely 
to be considered as suitable for transfer” as set out in the “Guiding Principles used by the 
Local Authority” section of the draft Policy, the Community Asset Transfer – Policy and 
Process be adopted  

 
1.9 The Community Council Liaison Sub-Committee are asked to consider the attached report 

and note the above recommendations prior to submission to Cabinet on 25th March 2020. 
 
 
 
 

  
Author: Mark Jacques, Scrutiny Officer – jacqum@caerphilly.gov.uk 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix Report to Environment and Sustainability Scrutiny Committee Report 11th February 

2020 – Agenda Item 8 
 

Page 70



 
 

 
 

ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
– 11TH FEBRUARY 2020 

 

SUBJECT: COMMUNITY ASSET TRANSFER - DRAFT POLICY AND 
PROCESS 

 
REPORT BY: INTERIM CORPORATE DIRECTOR - COMMUNITIES 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT  
 
1.1 This report introduces a draft policy and process for Community Asset Transfer and 

seeks the views of the Scrutiny Committee on its content. The policy has been 
consulted upon internally, and with the voluntary sector.  The version appended to 
this report encompasses the views of stakeholders to date.  Further consultation will 
take place with Community Council Liaison Committee on the 11th March 2020.  The 
draft policy will be referred to Cabinet for decision on the 25th of March 2020. 

 
 
2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 Community Asset Transfer (CAT) is the transfer of assets previously provided via 

public sector funds to the management and control of community organisations. CAT 
can be used where the asset may have a community benefit as an alternative to 
disposal. The disposal of assets will usually be on a commercial basis to achieve 
best value; however there will be circumstances where the Council may decide that 
the asset would be better managed by a community organisation. Community 
organisations may be able to use the asset in a more sustainable way; reflecting the 
needs of the community, making use of volunteer expertise and time, and accessing 
funding streams not open to the local authority. CAT is not a route to surplus asset 
disposal and cost saving, when undertaken it should be used to bring benefits to 
communities through collaboration and release of assets for community use. 

 
2.2 The Council has transferred assets in the past; however, the process has not been 

codified into a set of guiding principles. Welsh Government, thorough Estadau Cymru 
(Assets Cymru), promote the adoption of a CAT process that can be readily 
understood by community organisations and provide a consistent assessment 
process for the authority. The draft policy is based on the latest set of Estadau Cymru 
guidance. 

 
2.3 The draft CAT policy is intended to be an umbrella policy that states the high level 

aims and approach. It is recognised that CAT will be different for each asset under 
consideration. 

 
2.4 The views of Environment and Sustainability Scrutiny Committee are sought on the 

draft policy, to inform a version to be consulted upon with the Community Council 

Appendix 

Page 71



 
 

Liaison Committee, and prior to a Cabinet decision. 
 
 
3. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 The views of Environment and Sustainability Committee are sought prior to further 

consultation, and to inform a version of the draft ‘Community Asset Transfer Policy 
and Process’ to be determined by Cabinet  

 
 
4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 To allow the adoption of a consistent, transparent and easily communicated 

mechanism to support Community Asset Transfer, working with communities to 
ensure the continued sustainability of publically funded assets that have been 
identified for asset transfer due to having the potential to add social value to 
communities 

 
 
5. THE REPORT 
 
5.1 Community Asset Transfer (CAT) occurs when a public body passes on the 

management and/or ownership of a property asset to a third ‘non-public sector’ party; 
a community organisation. For the purposes of the draft policy it is envisaged that 
community organisations could be a community council, a third sector organisation or 
a properly constituted community group. 

 
5.2 CAT is not a route to surplus asset disposal; it is about the Council working with 

communities to consider what assets might be suitable for transfer with a view to 
protecting that asset for community use in the future, but under a different 
management/ownership arrangement.  

 
5.3 There may be circumstances where an asset can be better run by a community 

organisation that may be able to utilise skills and resources that are not available to 
the Council. Community organisations can access funding and support from external 
organisations that the Council can’t, potentially allowing assets to be run more 
sustainably and securing their use for future generations. An asset could be 
repurposed to meet a new community need.  

 
5.4 The routes to CAT may be that the Council identifies an asset, or a community 

organisation may approach the Council with a proposal. However, it should be 
remembered that the opinion of the Council is the important deciding factor as to 
whether an asset is suitable for CAT. There is no requirement placed on the Council 
to follow a CAT route, there will be circumstances where an asset is identified for 
disposal that has the potential to generate significant capital receipt that would help 
to sustain other services.  Other assets are specifically excluded: 

 

 Residential properties, including gardens, outbuildings and associated land 

 Assets held on Charitable Trusts; such assets can, and must, be used only to 
further the charity’s aims 

 Caravan sites 

 Operational land of statutory undertakers 

 Assets whose recent or current use does not meet the definition of community 
value 

Page 72



 
 

 Agricultural land and buildings 
 

5.5 The draft policy hyperlinks to many successful examples of CAT where valuable 
community services have been created from assets previously under the control and 
management of Councils; 

 

 Welsh Government Community Asset Transfer Case Studies 
 
 However, there are other examples where a CAT has failed and the asset has 

passed back into Council control with loss of reputation for the community 
organisation involved and a potentially greater liability for the Council than at transfer. 

 
5.6 The draft policy is written to provide a robust but flexible staged process with an 

informal discussion preceding an Expression of Interest stage, followed by a full 
Business Case. This is intended to allow time for proper consideration and support 
and a negotiation between the Council and the community organisation. In seeking 
external funding streams the community organisation may require an outline approval 
and sufficient time to apply to external funders. The Council may require additional 
time to properly consider the applicants business case, including an assessment of 
financial sustainability, and signpost to organisations that can provide support to 
strengthen the application and ensure the sustainability of the CAT (Appendix 1 of 
the draft policy). The timeline for CAT will vary and will be dependent on the asset, 
the ability of the community organisation to provide the required assurances, and the 
ability of the Council to prepare an asset for CAT and make all relevant decisions. 
Best practice in other Councils suggests 6 to 10 months from Expression of Interest 
to Cabinet decision. 

 
5.7 Any assets under consideration must be based on the continued use of the asset for 

the whole of the community and not a defined group of people for a specified 
purpose, proposed use should therefore be as wide as possible and should be 
focussed on wider community well-being. Equality related issues such as disabled 
access will be part of the consideration. If an associated service will be delivered 
from the asset an evaluation of the ability of the community organisation to provide 
the service bilingually will be part of the assessment 

 
5.8 The majority of Councils in Wales already have in place a policy and process to 

support Community Asset Transfer. Caerphilly County Borough Council has adopted 
a set of principles for the transfer of playing fields to community organisations. This 
process will remain unchanged and is not dissimilar to the draft process appended to 
this report, which is intended to become the umbrella policy for all CAT. 

 
5.9 Developing the draft policy does not reflect a need to dispose of assets not 

previously identified through the Corporate Asset Management Plan; there is no 
additional list of identified assets associated with its development.  

 
5.10 The Committee should note that this policy is intended to operate alongside the 

previously agreed process for the community asset transfer of sports pitches where 
there are very specific and bespoke considerations. 

 
5.11 Conclusion 
 
 In order to provide a consistent, transparent and easily understood process that can 

be used to support community organisations and guide the decision-making of the 
Council the appended draft policy has been developed using the Estadau Cymru 

Page 73

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-10/community-asset-transfer-case-studies.pdf


 
 

guidance and best practice examples from other Councils in Wales. The views of 
Committee are sought prior to consultation with Town and Community Councils. 

 
 
6. ASSUMPTIONS 
 
6.1 No assumptions have been made in this report.   
 
 
7. LINKS TO RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES 
 
7.1 The following Council polices are relevant to the decision being requested:  
 
7.2 Corporate Plan 2018-2023.   
 
 Community Asset Transfer has the potential to contribute to well-being in 

communities and support the Corporate Well-being Objectives as follows;     
 
 Objective 1 - Improve education opportunities for all- dependent on the proposed 

asset use. Examples in other Councils have included educational and cultural use of 
assets 
 

 Objective 2 - Enabling employment- CAT business cases are expected to be 
financially self-sustaining and could involve the employment of local people in 
delivering a service from the asset. Volunteering at community facilities is a 
supportive route into employment for economically inactive people. 
 

 Objective 5 - Creating a county borough that supports a healthy lifestyle in 
accordance with the sustainable Development Principle within the Wellbeing of 
Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015- community facilities are often set up to 
support sporting and cultural activities that are not statutory local authority provision 
and so provide additionality. 
 

7.3 Community Asset Transfer is one of the actions on the Team Caerphilly-Better 
Together transformation strategy as part of enhancing the relationship with 
communities and supporting community resilience.  

 
 
8. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS 
 
8.1 Community Asset Transfer has the potential to contribute to the following Well-being 

Goals :-  
 

 A prosperous Wales- through employment and volunteering opportunities. 

 A healthier Wales- connectedness and community activity supports mental well-
being. 

 A more equal Wales- retaining community services where the asset may 
otherwise be subject to disposal. 

 A Wales of cohesive communities- involvement in community facilities supports 
community cohesiveness. 

 A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh Language. 

 A globally responsible Wales- assessment considers the use of the asset in a 
sustainable manner. 

 

Page 74



 
 

  
 Community Asset Transfer is consistent with the sustainable development principle, 

otherwise known as the five ways of working: 
 

 Long Term – CAT has the potential to secure assets for community use in the 
long term supporting the well-being of future generations. 

 Prevention – CAT may prevent non-statutory services from being withdrawn in 
communities. 

 Integration – Communities often have a better grass-roots understanding of the 
needs of communities and what will support well-being. 

 Collaboration – Collaborating with communities and enhancing relationships with 
them is part Team Caerphilly-Better Together strategy. 

 Involvement – Involving communities in the management of asset previously 
managed by the Council will directly involve them in providing the services they 
want promoting community resilience. 

 
   
9. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 An Equalities Screening has been completed in accordance with the Council’s 

Strategic Equality Plan and supplementary guidance. No potential for unlawful 
discrimination and/or low level or minor negative impact has been identified; 
therefore a full EIA has not been carried out. 

 
9.2 The assessment process for a Community Asset Transfer aske the applicant how 

they will continue to make the asset useable by people with one or more protected 
characteristics. 

 
 
10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 There are no direct financial implications associated with this report. However, should 

an asset be identified for  transfer, either through promotion/advertising of its 
suitability by the Council, or in response to an approach by a community organisation 
there will be associated costs in providing a property information pack, preparing the 
asset for transfer (to a sufficient standard), engaging with and signposting the 
applicant organisations able to provide help and support, senior officer time in 
assessing the Expression of Interest and Business Case, and the costs of completing 
the legal transfer.  

 
10.2 There is no associated programme for Community Asset Transfer, or an identified list 

of assets, that accompanies the draft policy and so at the current time it is envisaged 
that these costs will be met from within service budgets and offset against any 
potential savings that may be made when running costs transfer to the community 
organisation. 

 
 
11. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 There are no personnel implications associated with this report.  
 
 
 

Page 75



 
 

12. CONSULTATIONS 
 
12.1 This report reflects the views of all consultees. 
 
 
13. STATUTORY POWER  
 
13.1 Local Government Acts.  
 Well Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. 
 
 
 
Author: Kathryn Peters, Corporate Policy Manager, peterk@caerphilly.gov.uk 
Consultees: Councillor Lisa Phipps, Cabinet Member for Homes, Places and Tourism 
 Councillor D. Tudor Davies, Chair Scrutiny Committee 
 Councillor Adrian Hussey, Vice-chair Scrutiny Committee 
 Mark S Williams, Interim Corporate Director- Communities 
 Mark Williams, Interim Head of Property 
 Rob Hartshorn, Head of Public Protection, Community and Leisure 

Services 
 Sue Richards, Head of Education Planning, Strategy and Finance 
 Stephen Harris, Head of Business Improvement and Interim 151 Officer 
 Tim Broadhurst, Estates Manager, Property Services 
 John Ollman, Leisure Services 
 Lynne Donovan, Head of People Services 
 Michael Eedy, Finance Manager 
 Anwen Cullinane, Senior Policy Officer (Equalities and Welsh Language) 
  
 
Background Papers: 
Estadau Cymru- advice on Community Asset Transfer 
https://gov.wales/community-asset-transfer-cat-guidance-applicants 
 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1 Community Asset Transfer- Draft Policy and Process 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 76

https://gov.wales/community-asset-transfer-cat-guidance-applicants


 
 

 

Community Asset Transfer Guide – Draft Policy & Process 

Based on Welsh Government’s Assets Cymru/Estadau Cymru Guide to 
Community Asset Transfer 2019 

Context/Leader Introduction 

The Council is committed to its values and delivering services with a ‘social heart’, to 
do this we need to work in collaboration to safeguard those services of value to our 
communities; finding better ways to use our buildings and land is part of this. We 
need to work collaboratively and openly with both the voluntary sector and 
communities to look for innovative ways to help us ensure that communities have the 
services they need. The strengths of the community and voluntary sector are an 
untapped resource that may, in some cases, be better at delivering some of the 
services the Council currently provides.   

Community Asset Transfer can empower communities to secure the services that 
are important to them by transferring local authority assets to the management and 
control of community groups and voluntary organisations.  However, there may be 
challenges that recipients have to face and overcome.  A commitment and drive is 
needed from all partners to achieve a successful and sustainable outcome.  
Harnessing the combined expertise and skill of the public, third sector and 
community and social organisations, who are often directly engaged with the 
communities served by our public sector assets, provides us with new perspectives.  
Working in an integrated way means we can engage with local people in the 
development and sustainability of a thriving and diverse county borough.  

Leader Signature 

Introduction 

There are many successful cases of Community Asset Transfer (CAT), Welsh 
Government Community Asset Transfer Case Studies where the community are 
managing and running assets previously in the control of the local council. However, 
there are equally examples where factors such as lack of experience, or insufficient 
research or preparatory work have turned an asset into a liability and damaged the 
reputation of the local authority and the applicant badly. 

This Guide is meant to inform the process and minimise the risks to all parties, 
including the community, who have a vested interest in public sector assets and how 
they can be used to maximum benefit. 

It is essential that there is clarity around the process of transfer and that those 
communities which wish to, are supported to take on assets and develop a thriving 

APPENDIX 1 

Page 77

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-10/community-asset-transfer-case-studies.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-10/community-asset-transfer-case-studies.pdf


 
 

and sustainable long-term plan for property and services transferred to the 
community.  As public spending is under increasing pressure, the authority is 
concentrating on efficiencies and cost savings; for community and town councils, 
community-based organisations, social enterprises and voluntary organisations, this 
may create opportunities to take on some control/management/ownership of facilities 
(including their maintenance and ongoing costs). In so doing they will create strong 
foundations for future growth by bringing local skills and understanding, a grass roots 
understanding of communities, and the opportunity to access external support and 
grant funding that is not available to the local authority.   

Our approach to CAT is based on mutual benefit with the aim of creating a joined up 
vision for shared goals for our communities. 

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

The Act is about securing the economic, environmental, social and cultural well-
being of future generations.  The local authority must work with its partners to 
achieve this, through working in collaboration with communities and thinking about 
what actions will secure the best outcomes for the county borough in the long term. 
Solving problems together and securing well-being for the long-term are key strands 
of the legislation.  

The Caerphilly Public Services Board comprises public sector partners, sitting 
alongside the Gwent Association of Voluntary Organisations. Our partners include 
the Police, Health Board, Police and Crime Commissioner, Fire Service, Natural 
Resources Wales, Probation bodies, Public Health Wales, Town and Community 
Councils, and Welsh Government. Public sector budgets are decreasing and many 
of our partners are seeking to divest themselves of assets to reduce liabilities. We 
are committed to working in collaboration with our partners to seek the best 
outcomes for our communities.  

Assets Cymru (Estadau Cymru), formerly the National Assets Working Group, 
recognise that CAT is a key part of improving the delivery of public services in Wales 
for future generations. This policy is based on advice from Welsh Government who 
are encouraging public sector bodies to develop a process for Community Asset 
Transfer. 

The Framework 

Local authorities have the power to dispose of assets and land in various ways, 
although such disposals must be appropriately handled and accounted for.  The 
disposal of assets will usually be on a commercial basis to achieve best price.  
However, there will be circumstances when a below market value disposal can be 
considered  under certain directives, such as the Local ‘General Disposal Consent’ 
(Wales) December 2003 circular, where it can benefit the community through the 
‘promotion or improvement’ of the economic, social or environmental well-being of 
the area.  The authority can, therefore, demonstrate best value while not necessarily 
obtaining the best capital receipt. 

Page 78



 
 

Community groups may proactively approach the authority if they have an interest 
which might lead to a business proposition.  For example, through highlighting an 
interest in a specific asset; by being made aware of the likelihood of disposal through 
the local authority website; or through social media.  Community groups are 
encouraged to come forward with initial expressions of interest.  Support and 
information will then be prioritised to develop the idea and links will be made with 
organisations in a position to offer support packages.    

What is a Community Asset Transfer? 

A CAT occurs where the local authority passes on the management and/or 
ownership of a property asset to a community council or third sector/community 
group.  Often, but not always, this can include the delivery of an associated service.  
CAT is definitely not a route to surplus asset disposal – the ultimate aim is 
community empowerment – ensuring that land, buildings or services are retained or 
transferred and then operated for public benefit though community asset ownership 
and management. The spectrum of transfer options is wide, but can include 
community control, or ownership, with some form of registerable title, occupation 
agreement and/or management arrangements created in favour of the new asset 
holder.   

For a CAT to proceed, the asset must be identified as having ‘community value’, 
defined as follows: 

The main current use of the asset furthers the social wellbeing and 
interests of the local community. (The term ‘social interests’ includes 
in particular, though not exclusively, cultural interests, recreational 
interests and sporting interests) and it is realistic to think that it can 
continue to do so1. 

Where an asset is not currently in use in a way that meets this definition, it must 
have been so in the last 2 years and it is realistic to think that it could be within 
the next 2 years. 

The following are specifically excluded from being considered as community assets: 

 Residential properties, including gardens, outbuildings and associated land 

 Assets held on Charitable Trusts; such assets can, and must, be used only to 

further the charity’s aims 

 Caravan sites 

 Operational land of statutory undertakers 

 Assets whose recent or current use does not meet the definition of community 

value, even if the intended use by a community purchaser would be of 

community value. 

 Agricultural land and buildings. 

                                                
1 Localism Act 2011 s88 (not yet enacted in Wales) 

Page 79



 
 

Who Can Apply?  

 Community and Town Councils represent populations in Aber Valley; Argoed, 

Bargoed; Bedwas, Trethomas and Machen; Blackwood; Caerphilly; Darren 

Valley; Draethen, Waterloo and Rudry; Gelligaer; Llanbradach and Pwll-y-

pant; Maesycwmmer; Nelson; New Tredegar; Penyrheol, Trecenydd and 

Energlyn; Rhymney; Risca East; Risca West; and Van.  Community and Town 

Councils are accountable to local people and have a duty to represent the 

interests of different parts of the community equally. One Voice Wales is able 

to offer support to Town and Community Councils on CAT.  

 Third sector groups which are value driven, independent, non-government 

organisations motivated by social, cultural or environmental objectives, not 

profit. Surpluses are reinvested to benefit the people and communities they 

serve. Organisations have a myriad of different legal structures. The Gwent 

Association of Voluntary Organisations can offer support on the development 

of third sector organisations.  

 Community based groups.  However, these should be properly constituted 

with a proper governance structure, constitution or memorandum of 

association.  Risk and liability should be clearly understood and capacity to 

commit in the long-term with necessary skills and abilities must be secured.  

Again, the Gwent Association of Voluntary Organisations can provide 

guidance. 

Eligible groups may proactively approach the authority if they have an interest which 
might lead to a business proposition, for example, through highlighting an interest in 
a specific asset. Alternatively, groups may be made aware of the likelihood of 
disposal through the council’s marketing activity. Community groups are encouraged 
to come forward with initial expressions of interest. Support and information will then 
be prioritised to develop the idea and links will be made with organisations in a 
position to offer support packages. 

In all cases governance, legal and sustainability criteria must be met (please see 
associated application forms).  New organisations will be considered subject to 
meeting due diligence considerations. 

Additional support and guidance is available from the organisations listed in 
Appendix 1.  

The Process 

Application 

A two-stage application process will ensure that valuable resources are not spent in 
developing and assessing a full business case until basic consideration criteria are 
met.  Early areas of weakness can be identified and supported to improve the 

Page 80



 
 

chances of a full business case succeeding.  Pre-application discussion is 
encouraged to discuss options and scope. 

The first stage is the submission of an Expression of Interest (EOI) to provide the 
authority with enough information to consider the application.  The EOI form is 
attached at Appendix 3. 

The second stage is a more detailed business case. The business case form is 
attached at Appendix 5. 

Page 81



 
 

 

Timescales

 

Sufficient time will be given to develop business cases.  Best practice suggests six to 
ten months from initial EOI to Cabinet decisions by the Council.  However, this will 
not be achievable in all circumstances, especially where the applicant organisation 
needs to carry out some development activity, scope funding with providers  or 
consider the implications of TUPE arrangements for staff.  We recognise that large 
transfers can take 12-24 months to complete.  Please see Appendix 2 for indicative 
timescales. 

Page 82



 
 

Decision Making 

The authority will ensure that its decision-making is transparent and against set 
criteria that are understood by all parties. Steering Group members will comprise the 
Head of Property, Head of Legal Services, Head of Finance, Head of Business 
Improvement, Gwent Association of Voluntary Organisations, and Head of 
Organisational Development (where TUPE may apply),  along with the Cabinet 
Member for Homes and Places as appropriate. Steering Group membership will vary 
at each stage as set out in Appendix 2. 

In assessing a Stage 1 EOI the Steering Group will have regard to:- 

 Benefits for the community, the applicant and how they relate to delivering 

Council priorities. 

 Governance, structure and history of the organisation. 

 Potential loss of capital receipts, existing income, or other opportunity cost 

including reinvestment in other services. 

 Potential benefits in terms of community value and social, economic, 

environmental and external benefits. 

 Possible risks to the future sustainability of the asset both for the community and 

the applicant organisation. 

 Proposed level of asset discount and terms of transfer. 

 Any legal issues arising such as restrictive covenants and title restrictions. 

 Ability to provide services through the medium of Welsh. 

 

Decisions will be communicated to the applicant in a timely manner and if there are 
clear reasons not to proceed to Stage 2 they will be explained fully and clearly.  

The Stage 2 Detailed Business Plan will also be assessed by the Steering Group, 
with a recommendation made on whether to proceed with the transfer or not.  In 
addition to the information prioritised in the EOI this will include:- 

 Detailed risks in relation to financial and organisational capacity, governance and 

an assessment of the ability to manage the asset sustainably for the long-term. 

 Track record of delivering similar community services, projects and enterprises. 

 How far the proposed use will serve the whole of the community including people 

with protected characteristics under equalities legislation.  

 How opportunities to ensure sustainability will be maximised e.g. income 

generation. 

 Financial management arrangements. 

 On larger and other transfers (which would include income generating schemes) 

there should be advice from people/bodies with a business background to help 

deliver the proposal. 

 Compliance with State Aid, Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) 

Regulations (TUPE) and EU Procurement rules (if applicable).  

 Any legal restrictions to be imposed e.g. restrictive covenants and clawback 

provision. 

Page 83



 
 

 Monitoring and evaluation arrangements e.g. Service Level Agreements. 

 Proposed terms of transfer.  

 

Guiding Principles used by the Local Authority 

 The approach of the authority will be robust but flexible.  Community assets have 

been funded and sustained by public sector funds for the benefit of the whole 

community.  As guardians of these assets the authority will aim to support 

continued community use.  However, there will be circumstances where 

alternative disposal, possibly through commercial sale, will be in the best 

interests of the county borough as a whole, including ensuring the 

sustainability of essential services that can only be delivered by the 

authority. Those assets which have the potential to generate significant 

capital receipts are not likely to be considered as suitable for transfer. 

 Assets held on Charitable Trusts cannot be considered; such assets can only be 

used to further the charity’s aims. 

 Assets that are required for the delivery of essential services, or are generating 

an income stream for the council, will not be considered. In particular, assets in 

the industrial portfolio which have a key role in generating rental income and 

supporting the economic development of the area will not be considered.  

 The authority will notify the community at an early stage which public sector 

assets are available for Expression of Interest. This will be via the authority’s 

website.  

 The authority will consider applications in accordance with its Corporate Asset 

Management Plan.  

 If the asset is one which cannot be transferred this will be communicated at the 

earliest opportunity. 

 The Welsh Language Standards dictate that the authority must consider the 

effects of a decision on the ability for people to use the Welsh language.  

Decisions taken must have no adverse effects on the language.  The authority is 

required to provide services that support Welsh and will seek to ensure that 

applicants pay due regard, depending on their size and capacity, to the language 

and the rights of people in Wales to access services in English or Welsh equally.  

 Recognising the particular needs of groups with protected characteristics and 

how they will be able to continue to use the asset when it transfers out of the 

control of the council, who are bound by the Equality Act 2010. 

 A risk assessment will be conducted to see if a CAT is the right process for 

managing an asset and what might happen if the applicant body were to cease to 

exist in the future.  

Page 84



 
 

 Is there proven support from the community for the proposal and how would the 

wider community benefit? 

 Whether the CAT could impact on future opportunities to use adjoining local 

authority assets. 

 Whether the applicant body is relevant, coherent and sustainable in order to 

provide some assessment of the ability to manage the asset after transfer, 

recognising that: 

- Running costs may be less for the applicant e.g. ability to use volunteers. 

- Applicants will need to be provided with information on running costs, a 

condition survey, future maintenance needs, energy rating and 

consumption data. 

- Repair responsibilities, planning conditions, covenants, access 

requirements, and ongoing liabilities will need to be understood.  

 EOI’s will be assessed by the Steering Group within expected timescales.  

 Written documentation will be assessed, including a thorough understanding of 

financial and legal liabilities e.g. business rates, maintenance, insurances, staff 

payments, pension requirements, on-costs, TUPE obligations (including future 

pension obligations), utility bills, crime/vandalism risks and mitigation, statutory 

compliance and building safety.  This will be done in a way which is relevant and 

proportionate to the size of the applicant organisation and the asset being 

transferred.  

 Whether the financial plan is robust and not solely reliant on upfront grant 

funding. 

 Share all legal restrictions and covenants with applicants upfront to avoid time 

and effort being committed by both parties that cannot bear fruit. 

 Consider adding clawbacks and restrictions to protect the authority and the asset 

for use by the community in the future.  However, this will be mindful of the ability 

of the applicant to secure loans or funding where excessively restrictive 

stipulations will be detrimental to the success of achieving the necessary funding 

e.g.  

- Covenants that restrict disposal in the event of default. 

- Recovery of capital where the asset transfers back to the local authority. 

- Minimum lease terms to secure funding. 

 Identify and deal with any staff matters such as TUPE, redundancy, management 

of change. 

 Taking a consistent approach with all applications commensurate with the size of 

the asset being transferred. 

Page 85



 
 

 Ensure that all legal risks and liabilities are understood by the applicant, including 

the use of assets where personal injury/death by users is more likely to happen 

e.g. sports facilities. 

 For assets connected with services there will be additional ongoing 

considerations. How will services be modernised in time, can the service be 

facilitated in another way, will a service transfer secure savings for the local 

authority, will a minimum acceptable level of service be provided into the future? 

Guidance for Applicants 

 Applicants should familiarise themselves with the issues the authority will be 

considering and any upskilling that may be needed before making an Expression 

of Interest. 

 Applicants should be mindful of the scale of commitment required in managing 

the asset and any associated services. This will obviously vary depending on the 

size of the asset, but the authority will want to support the applicant and 

collaborate to make the transfer succeed. 

 The effort involved in maintaining the asset post transfer, sustainably and with a 

commitment to the long term should not be underestimated.  Initial enthusiasm 

based on an honest desire to provide the asset for community use can be an 

engine for success.  However, there have been many cases where enthusiasm 

has waned, CAT’s have failed and been transferred back or sold for capital 

receipt at less value, thereby resulting in a bad deal for residents of local 

authorities.  Particularly where a better capital receipt at the outset could have 

helped sustain local authority services. The authority will signpost the applicant to 

help and support available to ensure every opportunity is taken for successful 

transfer.  Applicant ‘burn out’ in the medium term must be avoided.   

 The applicant must be a Community or Town Council, a third sector organisation 

or a community body. It must be legally constituted and provide limited liability for 

the stakeholders involved, such as a not-for-profit company limited by guarantee, 

a charitable incorporated organisation (CIO) or a Community Interest Company 

(CIC).  It must have powers to enable the management and ownership of 

buildings for trading and the provision of services. 

 Applicants should demonstrate good governance through open and accountable 

processes, with appropriate financial and audit controls. 

 Applicants should demonstrate engagement with the community and users of the 

asset, demonstrating an inclusive approach to all users and potential users. 

 Applicants should demonstrate the skills, abilities and capacity, or evidence 

access to them, to enable them to effectively deliver services and manage the 

asset.  

Page 86



 
 

 Applicants will provide and maintain all necessary governance documentation 

beyond the initial application assessment.  

 Applications for multi-use and co-location of other services are preferred.  Single 

use applications (e.g. use by clubs with only a few members, or for a single 

defined activity) will only be supported by a significant business case, and may 

be viewed less favourably. Assets must be open to as many community users as 

possible. 

 Consideration will be given as to whether the proposed activity is already being 

met elsewhere i.e. is there sufficient business to make the CAT sustainable? 

 Is there enough space in the asset or is the space, and hence the liability, too 

large for the applicant to handle successfully? 

 A robust business plan and financial plan is required (please see Appendix 4 and 

5 for suggested content).  The due diligence process will be proportionate to the 

size of the asset under consideration.  

 Where an Expression of Interest is received for an asset not already earmarked 

and advertised as available for disposal, its suitability will be offered to other 

organisations via the local authority website in the interests of fairness, openness 

and transparency.  

 CAT usually involves a transfer at less than market value and the type of tenure 

could be: 

- Management agreement 

- Licence to occupy 

- Short lease 

- Long lease 

- Freehold transfer 

However, the business case must show that community benefits justify the 
disposal at less than a market price. The authority recognises that lease length 
must be sufficient for the applicant to secure external or grant funding. 

 Most CAT’s will be transferred on full repairing, insurance and full liability terms.  

As the authority will no longer have management control it cannot be liable for 

legal and ongoing liability.  However, there may be circumstances where some 

control is retained e.g. listed buildings or for the outside fabric of the building.  

 The authority will aim to be as flexible as possible in its terms to allow the 

continued sustainability of CAT.  However, it will need to be mindful of its duty to 

protect the public purse for the long term. 

 Applicants are strongly encouraged to engage with national/local support 

organisations to prepare the EOI and full business plans.  Specialist advice is 

likely to be needed.  This will improve the quality of the application and likelihood 

Page 87



 
 

of success.  Details of organisations providing support are detailed at Appendix 1. 

This list will be kept up to date on the local authority website. 

 The support of local Elected Members is important.  They will have links with 

local groups and evidence of community demand.  However, they cannot be 

involved in any decision-making by the authority and may not be able to provide 

support due to conflict of interest if, for example, they are Members of relevant 

Scrutiny Committees, Members of Community Councils or on the board of 

voluntary/community organisations. 

 If relevant the local Town or Community Council should be consulted and 

canvassed for support.  The appropriate Town/Community Council will be 

consulted by the authority at the EOI stage. 

 Consider what funding through grant, loans or funds from charitable 

organisations will be available in the short term at initial start-up, and in the longer 

term if necessary.  Many grant funding streams will only make funds available for 

a project once and only in the initial pump priming stage.  Is a source of income, 

or volunteer capacity, likely to sustain the project in the long term?   

Appendices 

Appendix 1 

List of organisations that can provide additional support and funding 

Appendix 2 

Process Timeline 

Appendix 3 

Minimum Expression of Interest Template 

Appendix 4 

Suggested Financial Plan Template 

Appendix 5 

Suggested Business Plan Contents 

Appendix 6 

Composition of Steering Groups

Page 88



 
 

Appendix 1- List of organisations that can provide additional support and funding 

Organisation Description Contact Details 

Gwent Association of 
Voluntary Organisations 

Support for voluntary and community groups in the county 
borough. First point of contact for Expressions of Interest and 
support regarding funding, governance and volunteering 

Ty Derwen , Church Road, Newport 
NP19 7EJ 

www.gavo.org.uk 

01633 241550 

Caerphilly County Borough 
Council 

Details about the asset and Property Information Pack Property Services, Caerphilly 
County Borough Council 

property@caerphilly.gov.uk 

01443 863333 

Wales Cooperative Centre Free help and business advice to social enterprises and co-
operatives in Wales 

info@wales.coop 

Wales.coop 

0300 111 5050 

Social Firms Wales Works alongside social firms UK to create employment 
opportunities for disadvantaged people 

members@socialfirmswales.co.uk 

www.socialfirmswales.co.uk 

07799 345 940 

One Voice Wales Supporting town and community councils in Wales – legal 
advice, advice on service delivery, training, and policy matters 

www.onevoicewales.org.uk 

01269 595400 

P
age 89

mailto:property@caerphilly.gov.uk
http://www.socialfirmswales.co.uk/
http://www.onevoicewales.org.uk/


 
 

Health and Safety Legal advice and guidance for managing health and safety  www.hse.gov.uk 

0845 345 055 

Development Trusts 
Association Wales 

National body for community base regeneration work. 
Provides a useful guide to asset development covering 
planning and implementation, community involvement, 
securing finance and handling legal issues 

Dtawales.org.uk 

02920 190260 

Wales Council for Voluntary 
Action 

Support and representation for the third sector, including 
support to access funding. 

www.wcva.org.uk 

0300 111 0124 

My Community Rights Specific advice for community asset transfers, offers advice 
and guidance on identifying an asset, developing a business 
case and identifying professional help 

mycommunity.org.uk 

Planning Aid Wales Community engagement in the local authority planning 
process 

http://www.planningaidwales.org.uk/ 

 

Business in the Community Helping businesses deliver social, environmental and 
economic sustainability through responsible business 
practices 

https://www.bitc.org.uk/wales 

 

P
age 90

http://www.hse.gov.uk/
http://www.wcva.org.uk/
http://www.planningaidwales.org.uk/
https://www.bitc.org.uk/wales


 
 

Appendix 2- Process Timeline 

Stage Requirement Decision-Maker 

Stage 0 

Discussion of ideas 

 

Preparation of Property 
Information Pack 

Initial interest stage. The 
local authority will be 
happy to discuss your 
ideas with you before the 
submission of an EOI 

Relevant Head of Service 

Stage 1 

Expression of Interest 
(EOI) 

Further advice and 
assistance can be 
provided if necessary 
throughout the EOI and 
business plan stages 
through the organisations 
in Appendix 1. 

In the interests of 
openness, an EOI 
submitted in relation to a 
specific asset not put 
forward, but accepted as a 
possible transfer, by the 
authority will automatically 
trigger its advertisement to 
the whole community for a 
period of 4 weeks. 
Invitations will be 
submitted to acceptable 
organisations to proceed 
to Stage 2 

Forms an outline business 
case. Submit within 21 
days of EOI. Appendix 3 

 Background of the 
applicant 

 Ability and experience 

 Proposed use of the 
asset 

 Benefits to the 
community 

 Organisational health 
check 

 Support from 
community, partners 
and stakeholders 

Where already available a 
property information pack 
will be provided at this 
stage. 

Steering Group 

Head of Property 

Head of Legal Services  

Head of Business 
Improvement 

Head of People Services 
(where TUPE may apply) 

Cabinet Member for 
Economy, Infrastructure, 
Sustainability and Well-
being of Future 
Generations 

If rejected the applicant 
will be advised of the 
reasons by the authority 
and offered sources of 
further advice and support 
by GAVO and the 
organisations in Appendix 
1.  

Marketing and Submission of Eo1: 7 weeks 

Evaluation and Invitation to Stage 2: 4 weeks 

Stage 1 indicative timescale: 11 weeks 

Stage 2 

Submission of Business 
Case 

Property Information Pack 
will be provided 

Detailed Business and 
Financial Plan. 
Appendices 4 and 5 

Specific attention to: 

 Needs analysis and 
projected utilisation 

 Type of transfer sought 
and why 

Steering Group 

 Head of Property 

 Head of Legal Services  

 Head of Business 
Improvement 

 Head of Finance 

 Head of (relevant 
service) 

Page 91



 
 

 Planned outcomes and 
benefits and how they 
might be monitored/ 
measured 

 Details of any proposed 
partnership/ 
collaborative working 

 Track record of 
delivering services/ 
managing property 

 Benefits for the 
community 

 Risks (financial and 
organisational) and 
ability to manage them 

 Details of the 
community’s views 

 Ability and experience 
of organisation in 
providing services to 
the public through the 
Welsh language 

 Cabinet Member for 
Economy, 
Infrastructure, 
Sustainability and Well-
being of Future 
Generations 

 Head of People 
Services (where TUPE 
may apply) 

 GAVO 

 

As appropriate and for the 
required advice, Head of 
Regeneration and relevant 
Head of Service 

 

 

Submission of Detailed Business Plan and Financial Plan: 7 weeks 

Evaluation and Preparation of Report: 7 weeks 

Stage 2 indicative timescale:  14 weeks 

Stage 3 

Recommendation, 
decision and completion 

Approval by report to 
Cabinet and Welsh 
Government if necessary, 
considering: 

 Protocol for the 
Disposal of Property 

 State Aid 

Report by: 
Cabinet Member for 
Homes and Places 

Head of Property 

Head of Legal Services 

Head of Organisational 
Development (if TUPE 
applies) 

Stage 3 indicative timescale:  No more than 15 weeks 

TOTAL INDICATIVE TIMESCALE 40 weeks 

Note: 

The timescale will provide sufficient time to prepare any required documentation 
including property information packs, business plans and financial plans. However, 
flexibility is important as timescales may also link to external dependencies such as 
decisions on funding applications. It is acknowledged that large or complex transfers 
can take some time to resolve complicated issues and ensure sustainable services for 
future generations. 

  

Page 92



 
 

Appendix 3 – Minimum Expression of Interest Template 

Please complete this form, attach any relevant additional information, and send for appraisal, 
in the first instance, to Property Services, Penallta House, Tredomen Park, Ystrad Mynach, 
Hengoed, CF82 7PG. Tel no: 01443 863333.  
E Mail: property@caerphilly.gov.uk 

The form must be completed in full. We will be unable to assess any forms that are not 
complete. If you require advice at any stage please contact the number above. 

If your interest is considered viable we will contact you for further details. You will be given 
an explanation if we are unable to proceed. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PRIVACY NOTICE – General Data Protection Regulations 
We require the information requested in this form to allow us to process your 
application. All information provided in support of an application, including personal 
details, will be held in a database. You have a number of rights in relation to the 
information including the right of access to information we hold about you and the 
right of complaint if you are unhappy with the way your information is being 
processed. 
 
For further information on how we process your information and your rights 
please click the following link: 
https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/CaerphillyDocs/FOI/PrivacyNotices/Corporate-
Property.aspx 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 93

https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/CaerphillyDocs/FOI/PrivacyNotices/Corporate-Property.aspx
https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/CaerphillyDocs/FOI/PrivacyNotices/Corporate-Property.aspx


 
 

A. ABOUT YOUR ORGANISATION  

 

Name of organisation:       

1. Contact Details  

Main contact for this application – this must be someone who knows about your project  

Title:       First Name:       Surname:       

Position held in organisation:  

      

Address for correspondence:  

      

Postcode:       

Is the above your:  Organisation address:  Home address:  

Telephone Number:       Mobile Telephone Number:       

Email address:       Fax Number:       

2. Status of your Organisation  

What type of organisation / group are you? Tick/fill in whichever boxes apply  

Charity   If registered, please give registration number        

Community group/club/society  Town/Community Council         

Company Limited by Guarantee   Company Reg. Number       

Community Interest Company   Other, please give details       

 

When was your organisation set up?  
Year       

3. Governance  

Does your organisation have a written constitution, governing document or set of rules?  

Yes  No  Comments       

If “Yes”, have you appended a copy  

How many people are involved in your organisation? 

Management committee       Paid staff full-time       

Paid staff part-time       Volunteers       

Page 94



 
 

Please indicate which of the following insurance cover your organisation holds (or plans to put in place) and 
provide levels?  

 

Type of insurance: Holds: Plans: Level of cover: 

Public Liability         

Employer Liability         

Professional Indemnity         

4. What is the purpose and main aims of your organisation?  

(Please also provide any relevant background documents) 

      

Page 95



 
 

B. ABOUT YOUR PROPOSAL  

5. Title of Project (please keep this short): 

      

6. Please provide details of the asset (building or land) in which you are interested (name, 

address etc). 

It is essential that you clearly identify the asset – if you have plans or drawings please forward 
copies.  

      

 

Please state the length of lease required: 
Years      

Please consider whether this meets the likely requirements of current or future grant funder(s).  

7. Please provide a brief description of your proposal, including the reason why you are 

applying for a council asset and what the intended use will be:  

      

8. Please outline how the amenity or facility will be maintained after the project has been 

completed / land has been transferred:  

      

Page 96



 
 

9. How will the community benefit from the proposal? 

Please attach any supporting documentation or further notes, if applicable. 

COMMUNITY BENEFITS Y/N IF ‘YES’, PLEASE GIVE FURTHER DETAILS  

Will your proposal enable access 
by all members of the 
community?  

        

Will your proposal maintain an 
existing service or activity in the 
local community?  

        

Will your proposal create a new 
service or activity in the local 
community?  

        

Will your proposal have wider 
community benefits?  

        

Will your proposal create 
opportunities for local 
organisations to work together?  

        

Will your proposal bring 
additional financial investment 
into the area (e.g. through grants 
unavailable to the Council)?  

        

Will your proposal create 
opportunities for developing local 
enterprise or additional 
employment?  

        

10. Will the project present a conflict/overlap with other similar facilities in the locality? 

Consider whether there are any similar facilities already in the vicinity and whether this project 
may have a negative impact on these.  

      

Page 97



 
 

11. What is your evidence of need for your project and with whom have you consulted? 

      

 

C. ATTESTATION  

I confirm that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, all the details in this application are accurate. I 
understand that the council may ask for additional information at any stage of the application process 
and that you may check this with other sources.  

I also understand that this application refers to asset transfer only and is not an application for 
financial assistance. 

Signed:   .....................................................................  

Name:  .....................................................................  

Date:  .....................................................................  

Please return completed form to:  

Property Services 

Penallta House  

Tredomen Park 

Ystrad Mynach 

CF82 7PG  

Email: property@caerphilly.gov.uk  

Phone: (01443) 863333 

  

Page 98



 
 

Appendix 4 – Suggested Financial Plan Template 

Income and expenditure forecast Years 1-5. The authority recognises that new 
organisations, or those embarking on CAT for the first time, may have difficulty forecasting 
forward 5 years. However, the more information that can be provided the more the authority 
can be assured of the sustainability of the proposal. 

We recognise that some information may need to be developed over time and that funding 
bids may be subject to an agreement from the authority. In addition, further information may 
be required from the authority on building costs and maintenance requirements. Support and 
guidance will be available from the authority and its third sector partners. 

The row headings below are examples only and a plan can be populated with information 
you will have thought about for your proposed use of the asset. We would expect to see as 
much detail as you are able to provide. 

  Phase 1 Phase 2 Phase 3 

  Current Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 

No INCOME       

1 Grant aid       

2 External funding        

3 Rent and room hire       

 Room 1       

 Room 2       

4 Other income       

 Café/shop       

 Other sales       

5 Volunteer time in kind       

6 Ongoing fundraising       

 TOTAL       

 EXPENDITURE Current Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 

7 Salaries and on costs       

 Manager       

 Caretaker       

 Cleaner       

8 Volunteer support 
costs 

      

9 Building management 
costs 

      

 Cleaning materials       

 Commercial waste       

 Security       

10 Utilities       

 Water       

 Electricity       

 Gas       

 Telephone/Internet       

11 Rates       

12  Repairs and 
maintenance 

      

13 Transport and travel       

14  Centre supplies       

 Tools and materials       

 Equipment hire       

 Furniture and IT       

 PPE       

15 Centre promotion       

 Printing publicity       

Page 99



 
 

  Phase 1 Phase 2 Phase 3 

  Current Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 

 Advertising       

16 Insurances and 
professional fees 

      

 Property insurance       

 Public liability       

 DBS checks       

 Performing Rights 
Society 

      

 Accountancy fees       

 Legal fees       

 Architects fees       

 Other consultancy       

17 Other sundries and 
miscellaneous finance 

      

TOTAL       

       

SURPLUS/DEFICIT       

       

       

ACCUMULATED RESERVES  

 

  

Page 100



 
 

Appendix 5 – Minimum Business Plan Contents 

Below are suggestions for what your business plan might contain. The list is not exhaustive 
and will vary from organisation to organisation, the size of the asset proposed for transfer 
and the proposed use of the asset. Advice and guidance can be sought from those 
organisations listed in Appendix 1.  

Project / Proposal Details 

Property Name:   

Name of organisation  

Contact name  

Position held in organisation  

Address  

Telephone number  

Email address  

Title of project/business name  

Location of Project:  

Date of application:  

Company / Charity number  

Purchase or lease amount  

 
 
 
 

Signature  

Name  

Designation  

Date  

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 101



 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

PRIVACY NOTICE –General Data Protection Regulations 
We require the information requested in this form to allow us to process your 
application. All information provided in support of an application, including personal 
details, will be held in a database. You have a number of rights in relation to the 
information including the right of access to information we hold about you and the 
right of complaint if you are unhappy with the way your information is being 
processed. 
 
For further information on how we process your information and your rights 
please click the following link: 
https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/CaerphillyDocs/FOI/PrivacyNotices/Corporate-
Property.aspx 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

If you are not completing this document electronically, please continue each section on 
additional paper if necessary and annote accordingly.  
Please ensure any additional information is included with your submission and are 
recorded as appendices. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 102

https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/CaerphillyDocs/FOI/PrivacyNotices/Corporate-Property.aspx
https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/CaerphillyDocs/FOI/PrivacyNotices/Corporate-Property.aspx


 
 

 
Introduction 
 

 
Score 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
Management and Operations 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 103



 
 

 
The Market 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
Key Outcomes and Success criteria/benefits 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 104



 
 

 
Affordability 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
Stakeholder Engagement 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 105



 
 

 
Risks 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
Dependencies / Critical Success Factors 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 106



 
 

 
Community Engagement, Equalities and Accessibility to Services 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 

 

 
Physical Outputs of the Proposal / Project 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 107



 
 

 
Timescales 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
Sustainable Development 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 108



 
 

 
Well being 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
Planning Considerations 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 109



 
 

 
Purchase Details 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
Additional Information 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 110



 
 

 
Appendices 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 111



 
 

Section Description 

Introduction 
This section should; 
 State the aim and purpose of the business/project. 

 Explain the fundamentals of the proposal and what 

you want to achieve. 

 Detail your key objectives. 

 Include your mission statement. 

 Explain current issues and why the proposal is 

needed. This could include evidence of market 

research, evidence of need and any one you have 

consulted with. 

 Summarise any events, work or other projects that 

are either dependent on the outcome of this or that 

the proposal is dependent on. 

Management and 
Operations 

This section should; 
 Explain the status of the business e.g. commercial or 

community focussed and describe your legal form of 

ownership e.g. Sole proprietor, Partnership, Company 

Limited by Guarantee, Charitable organisation, 

Community Group, Community Interest Company etc. 

 Describe how the organisation will be structured and 

levels of decision-making. 

 Describe the organisation structure and when it was 

established. 

 Describe any opportunities for collaboration and 

building partnerships 

 Detail the number of employees/volunteers. 

 Include a copy your written constitution if applicable. 

 Provide details of any relevant policies and 

procedures. 

The Market 
This section should; 
 Describe in depth your products or services and how 

you will deliver these day to day. 

 Explain what factors give you the advantage or 

disadvantage against alternative service provision 

e.g. consider if the proposal will conflict/overlap with 

Page 112



 
 

similar facilities in the area. 

 Identify your client/customer base or the community 

you want to serve. 

 Describe your existing and target markets. 

 Describe how you will build and maintain your profile 

and identify any potential opportunities for expansion. 

Key outcomes and 
success 
criteria/benefits 

This section should; 
 Highlight the expected immediate and long-term 

benefits of the proposal. Think about your business 

development strategy over the next 5-years. 

 Summarise the main benefits; who is responsible for 

them and how will they be realised.  Wherever 

possible try and give them a value so that they can be 

properly quantified. This will make it easier to 

measure whether they have been realised. Where 

there are significant elements that cannot be valued 

in money terms e.g. they are social rather than 

financial, these still need to be brought out in your 

assessment. You should take into account, if 

possible, all the tangible and intangible benefits that 

you believe will accrue.    

 

Affordability 
This section should; 

 Explain what resource will be required, including staff 

resources and where this resource will come from. 

 Establish the set up costs and identify whether there is 

sufficient capital available.  

 Include a Financial Plan providing projected income over 

1-5 years, your expenditure profile, income generating 

activities and projections and your fundraising plans. This 

information should provide a reasonable estimate of the 

proposal’s financial future. 

 Specify whether potential funding sources been identified 

if required and detail the timescales involved with any 

funding applications. 

 
There will be many expenses before the business/project 
begins to operate. It is important to estimate these 
expenses accurately and then to plan for sufficient 
capital. No business/project should go forward without 

Page 113



 
 

adequate understanding of resourcing requirements.  
 
Administration, Capital and Programme expenditure 
should be shown separately for each financial year of the 
project. The draft Financial Plan at Appendix 4 should 
help you. 
 
Administration costs should include the costs of 
managing the project.   
 
If it is helpful, show separately a sheet identifying the 
costs vs. the benefits gained in each financial year.  This 
can be discounted to show the “present value” of the 
entire project. 
 

Stakeholder 
engagement 

This section should; 
 Detail any discussions that have taken place if 

funding is required to take the proposal forward. 

 Confirm those responsible for providing resources 

have indicated that they approve of the undertaking. 

 

Risks 
This section should;  
 Summarise the key risks and how they might be 

managed. Remember to identify opportunities and 

how you will exploit them as well as things that may 

go wrong. 

 Explain how you intend to mitigate any risk you have 

identified. 

Dependencies / 
Critical success 
factors 

This section should; 
 Identify any events or work that are either dependent 

on the outcome of this proposal or that the proposal 

will depend on.  

 Outline the things that must go right to ensure the 

success of the proposal. For example, does it need to 

deliver all its objectives and benefits to be 

successful? 

Community 
engagement, 
equalities and 
accessibility to 
services 

This section should; 
 Provide evidence of how this proposal would result in 

wider community engagement. 

 Detail how it aims to improve access, facilities or 

opportunities for less able or marginalised groups. 

 Explain how all individuals will have an equal 

opportunity to access the proposed business/service, 

Page 114



 
 

irrespective of colour, ethnic origin, sex, age, marital 

status, sexual orientation, disability, religion/faith, 

gender re-assignment, language or nationality. 

Physical outputs 
of the project 

This section should; 
 Detail the outputs of the proposal e.g. number of jobs 

created, develop local enterprise, create opportunities 

for local organisations to work together, improve the 

building or area of land. 

 Explain if the proposal will create a new service or 

activity in the local community, whether there will be 

any wider community benefits and whether the 

proposal will bring additional financial investment into 

the area (e.g. through grants unavailable to the 

council). 

Timescales 
This section should; 
 Explain anticipated timescales for business/project 

start-up. Consider timescales involved with funding 

applications and/ or building refurbishment. 

Sustainable 
development 

This section should; 
 Describe what features will be utilised to ensure the 

proposal works in a sustainable manner e.g. energy 

saving measures, waste recycling, renewable 

materials, reduction in the need to travel by improving 

or adding local facilities, ensuring easy access by 

public transport, and by walking or cycling. 

Well being 
This section should; 
 Describe how the business/project will help to 

improve access to health and social care facilities, 

make the community feel safer, increase employment 

opportunities and support the local economy. 

Planning 
Considerations 

This section should; 
 Identify whether any planning consents are necessary 

e.g. change of use application and detail what the 

implications would be. 

Purchase details This section should; 
 Detail what works you intend to undertake/ 

 Specify your preference for lease or purchase and if 

applicable, length of lease required. 

Additional 
Information 

This section should; 
 Include other details you may need to include in 

Page 115



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

support of your proposal. 

Appendices This section should; 
 List any additional documents you have included in 

support of your application, ensuring that they are 

correctly annotated and included with your 

submission. 

Page 116



 
 

Appendix 6: Composition of Steering Groups 

 

Steering Group – Stage 1 

Head of Property 

Head of Legal Services 

Head of Business Improvement 

Head of (relevant Service) 

Cabinet Member for Homes and Places 

Head of Community Regeneration 

Head of People Services (where TUPE may apply) 

 

 

Steering Group – Stage 2 

Head of Property 

Head of Legal Services 

Head of Business Improvement 

Head of (relevant Service) 

Section 151 Officer 

Cabinet Member for Homes and Places 

Head of Community Regeneration 

Head of People Services (where TUPE may apply) 

GAVO 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 117



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 118



 
 

CABINET – 28TH OCTOBER  2020 

 
SUBJECT: “STREET CAFÉ” LICENCES 
 
REPORT BY:  INTERIM CORPORATE DIRECTOR OF COMMUNITIES 
 

 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT  
 
1.1 To update Cabinet on changes required to the process for the granting of “street 

café” licences and to seek Cabinet approval to implement those changes. 
 

 
2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 Many businesses within the County Borough have faced significant challenges as a 

result of Covid-19 and the lockdown requirements that have resulted.  This includes 
many town centre businesses and particularly the town centre hospitality sector. 

 
2.2 All Local Authorities in Wales have been encouraged by Welsh Government to 

support such businesses in their efforts to recover from the Covid-19 economic 
damage and in doing so to reduce any bureaucracy and/or ensure a degree of 
flexibility in stimulating and maintaining a trading environment and re-purposing 
space to allow this to happen.  In doing so CCBC has positively encouraged a “street 
café” approach and has assisted with some physical interventions in certain town 
centres. 

 
2.3 Caerphilly County Borough Council supports and encourages the provision of street 

cafes in the town centres, as they make a positive contribution by adding vitality, 
colour, life and interest to the street scene.  They can help maximise the use of public 
spaces, aid the local economy and add to the facilities offered to people who visit, 
live and work in the Borough. Creating a “street café” culture can also assist in the 
longer term re-purposing of town centres as they strive to survive in tough economic 
conditions and pressure from the move to online shopping. 

 
2.4 Whilst the provision of street cafes is encouraged, it is important that they are 

properly administered and managed to ensure that they meet the high standards 
expected in the town centres.  They should not obstruct the highway or create a 
hazard for pedestrians, especially for blind, partially sighted and other disabled 
people. 

 
2.5 The process for seeking and obtaining permission to trade on the footway within the 

County Borough is no longer fit for purpose i.e. it is a lengthy, bureaucratic process 
that does not offer the flexibility demanded by modern town centres that need to react 
to changing economic climates. 

Page 119

Agenda Item 8



 
2.6 This report therefore seeks to “modernise” this process via the introduction of a new 

process for cafes looking to trade on the highway. This revised process would cover 
the use of café trading space on the footway and will be in addition to the Council 
street trading policy which covers all other aspects of trading on the footway. 

 
 
3. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 That Cabinet notes the need to “modernise” the process for providing permission to 

trade on the highway. 
 
3.2 That Cabinet agrees:- 
 

i). A “modernisation” of the street cafe licence process and delegates Authority 
to the Interim Corporate Director (Communities) in consultation with the 
relevant Cabinet member and Head of Legal Services to finalise the 
application documentation and accompanying guidance notes. 

ii). To waive any fees associated with trading externally until 30th September 
2021 (subject to further review) to allow businesses time to recover from 
Covid-19 and to take advantage of the 2021 spring and summer period. 

iii). To adopt the alternative process outlined in 5.5 for the initial 28 day 
consultation period. 

 
 
4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 To support local town centres in a very challenging economic climate. 
 
 
5. THE REPORT 
 
5.1 As stated above the current process for obtaining the relevant licence in accordance 

with the Highways Act is somewhat bureaucratic and lengthy and involves up front 
fees. 

 
5.2 In Wales, the rules regarding the placement of tables and chairs on roads and 

pavements remain the same as we currently operate under Section 115E of the 

Highways Act, where proprietors may apply to the Local Authority for a licence to 

place tables and chairs on the highway and the Local Authority may grant a licence 

for such period and with such conditions as it considers suitable.  CCBC’s guidance 

document sets out the conditions which the Council would at present be likely to 

apply. 

5.3 As to conditions, the Council’s powers are broad and the legislation in essence states 

that the Council can impose such conditions on the grant of a licence as it considers 

fit.  As a minimum the Council will consider imposing conditions around operation 

hours, the type of activities which may be carried on (e.g. the service of food and 

drink for customers seated at tables, and maybe prohibiting the sale of alcohol only 

or “vertical drinking), the requirement for businesses to have Public Liability 

insurance to indemnify the Council against any claim arising from the use of the 

highway by the café in question and conditions aimed at preventing negative effects 

for local residents, such as ensuring that the footway remains clear and the clearing 

Page 120



of litter/provision of bins etc.  These detailed matters will be included in new guidance 

for applicant. 

5.4 There are 2 key issues that hinder flexibility and can be counter productive to 

supporting businesses to recover from the Covid influenced economic downturn 

when opportunities arise.  These include the up-front fees and the 28 day 

consultation period after an application has been made. 

5.5 In terms of consultation, where there is a proposal to place furniture on the street, the 

Local Authority is required to publish a notice of this and state a period for 

representations to be made, which must not be less than 28 days.  The Local 

Authority must not grant the permission until it has considered all representations, 

which means that there is no completely lawful means of avoiding the 28 day notice 

period.  Swansea Council has developed a “workaround” to this, by granting a form 

of permission which they refer to as a Memorandum of Agreement/Understanding 

rather than a licence immediately and stating that it will be revoked if any valid 

objection is received within the 28 days.  Clearly, there is some risk that the Council 

could be challenged if it adopted this approach but officers consider that this is a 

manageable risk with the supporting business benefits outweighing the risks of 

challenge.  It is therefore suggested that the Authority adopts the process employed 

by Swansea Council as described above for the 28 day consultation period. 

5.6 It is therefore the view of officers that the waiving of fees for a designated period of 

time (to allow cafes to take advantage of the next spring and summer period) 

combined with the approach outlined above in respect of the 28 day consultation 

period should be adopted as part of the drive to support our town centre businesses. 

 
 
6. ASSUMPTIONS 
 
6.1 The report has assumed that the challenging economic climate for town centre 

businesses will last into 2021 (and possibly beyond). 
 
 
7.  LINKS TO RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES 
 
7.1      The report links to a number of corporate well-being objectives, namely. 
 

 Objective 2 – Enabling employment. 

 Objective 4 – Promote a modern integrated and sustainable transport system 
that increases opportunity, promotes prosperity and minimises the adverse 
impacts on the environment.  

 Objective 5 –Creating a County Borough that supports a healthy lifestyle in 
accordance with the sustainable development principle within the Wellbeing 
of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. 

 Objective 5 – Support citizens to remain independent and improve their well 
being. 

 
8. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS 
 
8.1  Economic Recovery contributes to the Well-being objectives as set out above. It is 

consistent with the five ways of working as defined within the sustainable 

Page 121



development principle in the Act and it is aimed at improving the economic, 
environmental, social and cultural well-being and recovery of the area. 

 
8.2 As such it aligns with the following well-being goals: 

 A Prosperous Wales – Providing more jobs and housing in the area will create 
more wealth for the local population. 

 A Resilient Wales – Providing additional and more diverse employment will make 
the area more resilient to external economic factors. 

 A Wales of Cohesive Communities – providing local employment and more 
diverse will help to stabilise and develop local communities and prevent 
outmigration.  

 
8.3 The report recommendations are consistent with the five ways of working as defined 

within the sustainable development principle in the Act.  The five ways of working of 
the sustainable development principle, listed in the Act are: 

 

 Long Term – The importance of balancing short-term needs with the need to 
safeguard the ability of future generations to meet their long-term needs; 

 Prevention - How acting to prevent problems getting worse, may help public 
bodies meet their objectives; 

 Integration – Considering how the public body’s well-being objectives may 
impact upon each of the well-being goals, on their other objectives, or on the 
objectives of other public bodies; 

 Collaboration – Acting in collaboration with any other person (or different 
parts of the body itself) that could help the body to meet its well-being 
objectives; 

 Involvement – The importance of involving people with an interest in 
achieving the well-being goals, and ensuring that those people reflect the 
diversity of the area which the body serves. 

 
 
9. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1  The revised policy and applicant guidance will provide for an Equalities Impact 

Assessment to be considered in relation to the granting of each individual application 
for the use of the pedestrian footway for “street café” purposes. 

 
 
10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 The annual income from the granting of pavement licences is negligible (circa £200 

per annum) and there are consequently no significant financial implications that result 
from the waiving of fees for the period up to 30th September 2021. 

 
 
11. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 There are no personnel implications associated with this report. 
  
 
12. CONSULTATIONS 
 
12.1 The report reflects the views of the consultees listed below. 
 

Page 122



13. STATUTORY POWER  
 
13.1 Highways Act 1980  
 Local Government Acts 
 
13.2 This is a Cabinet function. 
 
 
Author:  Mark S Williams, Interim Corporate Director of Communities        
 

Consultees: Councillor Sean Morgan, Cabinet Member for Economy & Enterprise 
 Councillor John Ridgewell, Cabinet Member for Environment & Infrastructure 

Robert Tranter, Head of Legal Services and Monitoring Officer 
Stephen Harris, Interim Head of Business Improvement Services & S.151 
Officer 
Marcus Lloyd, Head of Infrastructure 
Rhian Kyte, Head of Regeneration and Planning 
Allan Dallimore, Regeneration Service Manager 
Paul Hudson, Business Enterprise Renewal Team Leader 
Mike Wallbank, Senior Solicitor 

 
 
Background Papers: 
 

 Caerphilly CBC “Street Trading Policy” updated September 2018. 
 
 
 

Page 123



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 124



 
 

CABINET - 28TH OCTOBER 2020  
 

SUBJECT: ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2019/20  
 

REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR FOR EDUCATION AND 
CORPORATE SERVICES  

 

 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT - PURPOSE OF REPORT 
   
1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek Cabinet’s approval of the  Annual Performance 

Report for 2019/20 prior to its onward submission for noting by full Council.   
 

 

 2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 The Annual Performance Report is a statutory requirement under the Local 

Government (Wales) Measure 2009 and forms an important part of the Council’s 
performance framework.  

 
2.2 The Council is required to assess its own performance and provide the public with a 

balanced picture of that performance. The Council must also report progress against 
the six Well-being Objectives set out within the Corporate Plan 2018-2023. This report  
covers the second year of the Corporate Plan.  

 
2.3 The response to the COVID pandemic has brought a refinement to the prior year 

approach with the report being provided in a shorter, more accessible format focused 
on highlighting the key impacts.   

 
2.4 Welsh Government suspended the need to provide certain data sets this year and 

consequently no Public Accountability Measures have been collected across Wales by 
the Welsh Local Government Association. As a result, there are no national 
comparators or rankings available for this years report.   

 
2.5 The Wales Audit Office is required to check whether an authority has complied with the 

statutory duty and to issue a ‘certificate of compliance’ in response. The Annual 
Performance Report demonstrates to the Wales Audit Office how the Council has met 
this duty.     

 
 

3. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 It is recommended that Cabinet: 
 

1)  approve the Annual Performance Report 2019/20 as set out in Appendix 1. 
 

Page 125

Agenda Item 9



2) It is recommended that Cabinet endorse the relevance and continuation of the    
Well-being Objectives at this third year of the five year Corporate Plan. 

 

3) Agree to the onward submission of the Annual Performance Report to full Council in 
November  

 
 

4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 The Council has a statutory duty to publish its Annual Performance Report by the 

31st October each year.  
 
 

5. THE REPORT 
 
5.1 Cabinet endorsed the Council’s Corporate Plan (2018-2023) in April 2018. The Plan 

was reviewed a year later in June 2019 to ensure its continued relevance.  There are 

six long term Well-being Objectives within the Plan that Cabinet have set for the life 

of the administration.   

5.2 Each of the six Well-being Objectives has a series of outcomes which sets out what 

the Council hopes to achieve on behalf of citizens. This Annual Performance Report 

sets out the progress made against those six objectives during the 2019-2020 

financial year.   

5.3  The Annual Performance Report is set out in full at Appendix 1. As part of the self-

evaluation process that underpins the Report the Council is required to: 

 publish its performance against a range of measures within each Well-being 

Objective; 

 provide narrative that identifies what has gone well and where improvements 

can be made; 

 publish a summative judgement on the progress made against each Well-

being Objective  

 

5.4 The summative judgements for each of the Well-being Measures for the 2019/2020 

financial year are set out below:  

 Well-being Objective Summative 
Judgement 

1 Improve education opportunities for all Good Progress 

2 Enabling employment Good Progress 

3 Address the availability, condition and 
sustainability of homes throughout the county 
borough and provide advice, assistance or support 
to help improve people’s well-being 

Partially Successful 

4 Promote a modern, integrated and sustainable 
transport system that increases opportunity, 
promotes prosperity and minimizes the adverse 
impacts on the Environment 

Good Progress 

5 Creating a county borough that supports a healthy 
lifestyle 

Partially Successful 

Page 126



6 Support citizens to remain independent and 
improve their Well-being 

Good Progress 

 

5.9  Conclusion    

At the end of 2019/20 the Council can demonstrate that its has made progress 
against each objective. The self-evaluation has also provided a platform to celebrate 
the activity that has gone well, reflect on the areas that need to be improved and to 
identify new approaches and interventions to support future progress. 
 

6. ASSUMPTIONS 

6.1 Unless a specific objective is judged as delivered in its entirety, or assessment of 
data and public consultation responses change direction significantly, it is assumed 
these Well-being Objectives will continue throughout the course of the remaining 
three years of the Corporate Plan.       

 

7.  LINKS TO RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES 
 
7.1      Corporate Plan 2018-2023.   
 

The current Corporate Plan 2018-2023 is available on the Council’s website via the 
following link: 
 
https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/CaerphillyDocs/Council-and-
democracy/Corporate_Plan_2018-2023.aspx 
 
 

8. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS 
 
8.1 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires a public body to set 

Well-being Objectives in order to maximise contribution to the social, economic, 
environmental and cultural well-being of an area.  The Corporate Plan 2018-2023 is 
the vehicle which sets out our Well-being Objectives and how they contribute towards 
the national well-being goals.   

 

8.2  The Council is required to use the sustainable development principle in setting its 
well-being objectives and in delivering them. The Corporate Plan shows how the 
principle has been used in selecting the objectives. They have been chosen to 
consider the prevention of issues that may detrimentally affect well-being, each are 
considering the long-term factors that may improve of reduce well-being, the 
community view was used in setting the issues that local residents felt were 
important, the Corporate Plan considers how we act in collaboration with other 
bodies and how we integrate our activity across the authority and with partners.  

 
 

9. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1  No specific Equalities Impact Assessment has been undertaken on this report; 

however, the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009 cites fairness and 
accessibility as part of the definition of what ‘improvement’ means. Page 26 of the 
Annual Performance Report provides a brief update on equalities work. Delivery of 
the Well-being Objectives maximises our contribution to all the national well-being 
goals including ‘A More Equal Wales’. 

Page 127



 
 If you require advice please contact Anwen Cullinane, Ext. 4404 or email 

equalities@caerphilly.gov.uk 
 
 

10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 Each Well-being Objective has a section identifying the resources needed to support 

delivery of the objective within the corporate plan.  
 
10.2 The resources to deliver the Well-being Objectives are assessed within the context of 

the current Medium Term Financial Plan.  

10.3 Page 22 in the Annual Performance Report provides a Financial Summary for 
2019/20 

 

11. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 There are no personnel implications arising from this report. 
 
 

12. CONSULTATIONS 
 
12.1 This report has been sent to the Consultees listed below and all comments received 

are reflected in this report incorporated into the recommendation then why not. 
 
 

13. STATUTORY POWER  
 
13.1 Local Government Measure 2009. 
 
 
Author:   Ros Roberts, Business Improvement Manager roberr@caerphilly.gov.uk 
 
Consultees:  Christina Harrhy, Chief Executive  
 Cllr Eluned Stenner, Cabinet Member for Performance & Customer 

Services 
 Richard Edmunds, Corporate Director, Education & Corporate Services  
 Mark S Williams, Interim Corporate Director, Communities  
 Dave Street, Corporate Director, Social Services 
 Steve Harris, Head of Business Improvement and Section 151 Officer  

Sue Richards, Head of Education Planning and Strategy 
 Rob Tranter, Head of Legal Services 
 Keri Cole, Chief Education Officer  

Rhian Kyte, Head of Regeneration and Planning  
 Shaun Couzens, Chief Housing Officer   
 
Background Papers: 
 
CCBC Corporate Plan  
 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1 Annual Performance Report 2019/2020  
 
 

Page 128

mailto:equalities@caerphilly.gov.uk
mailto:roberr@caerphilly.gov.uk


0 
 

TEAM CAERPHILLY  

BETTER TOGETHER 
___________________________________________________________________________ 

Annual Performance Report  
2019/20  

Page 129



1 
 

Contents: 
 
Section 1: A reflection on 2019/20 from the Leader of the Council & the Chief Executive    2 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
Section 2: Introduction to our Well-being Objectives 2019/20       8 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
Section 3: Progress on our Well-being Objectives 2019/20 
 

WBO 1: Improve education opportunities for all        9 
…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..
WBO 2: Enabling employment        12 
…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..
WBO 3: Address the supply, condition and sustainability of homes    14 
Throughout the county borough and provide advice, assistance or support  
to help improve people’s health and well-being  
…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..
WBO 4: Promote a modern, integrated and sustainable transport system           17 
That increases opportunity, promotes prosperity and minimises the adverse 
impacts on the environment  
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 
WBO 5: Creating a County Borough that supports a healthy lifestyle in                19 
accordance with the Sustainable Development Principle within the 
Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015  
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 
WBO 6: Support citizens to remain independent and improve their                      22 
well-being  

____________________________________________________________________________ 
Section 4: Managing your money 2019/20                                                                   24 
____________________________________________________________________________ 
Section 5: What our regulators told us                                                                           29 
____________________________________________________________________________ 
Section 6: Equalities, Welsh Language and the Future Generations legislation      30 
____________________________________________________________________________ 
Section 7: How to contact us and how you can be involved                                       33 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Os bydd angen yr adroddiad hwn mewn fformat gwahanol - er enghraifft PDF hygyrch, print bras, 
fersiwn  hawdd ei ddeall, recordiad sain neu braille - cysylltwch â ni ar cydraddoldeb@caerffili.gov.uk 
If you need this report in a different format - like accessible PDF, large print, easy read, audio 
recording or braille - please contact us at equalities@caerphilly.gov.uk 
 
Further information can also be found on our website: www.caerphilly.gov.uk 

Page 130

mailto:equalities@caerphilly.gov.uk


2 
 

Section 1: 
A reflection on 2019/20 from the Leader of the 
Council & the Chief Executive 
___________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
2019/20 was a significant 12 months for the council - and for the world - as the coronavirus 
pandemic emerged on the global stage. Change, innovation and adaptation have been 
key features of our lives over the past few months as the authority has been required to 
reshape and reconfigure in order to respond to the pressures of the virus. 
 
Providing an update like this is an opportunity for us to pause and reflect on the events of 
recent months, but it is also an opportunity for us to recognise the amazing achievements of 
staff across the organisation throughout the pandemic. 
 
The coronavirus outbreak has brought the very best out of Team Caerphilly and we are proud 
of each and every one of our employees who have worked so hard to support residents and 
protect our community. Right at the start of the outbreak, we mobilised an army of staff in a 
very short timeframe to provide a co-ordinated community response to ensure that the most 
vulnerable people in our society were supported during very uncertain 
and worrying times. 
 
Whilst coronavirus has dominated our lives over recent months, it is important that we do not 
let it overshadow the many achievements and success stories that we delivered in 2019/20. 
 
These include: 
 
• Unveiling ambitious plans to increase the supply of council housing in the Caerphilly 
county borough. The plans were included in a report entitled ‘Building Together’ which has 
been proudly endorsed by Cabinet. 
 

 
 
 

 
• We launched our ambitious ‘Team Caerphilly - Better Together’ transformation programme 
that will completely reshape and re-energise the way we do things in the future. 
 Page 131



3 
 

 
 

 
• We received a Gold Award under the Defence Employer Recognition Scheme which 
recognises this council as one of the best organisations in the UK for the support 
it offers to the Armed Forces community. 
 

 
 
• We welcomed His Royal Highness the Prince of Wales to New Tredegar to celebrate our 
healthy schools programme. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Page 132



4 
 

• The Planning Committee resolved to give outline planning consent for a flagship 
housing development in Pontllanfraith.  Chartist Garden Village is an exciting collaboration 
between the council and the Pobl Group which will result in an attractive development 
comprising of up to 125 homes - of these approximately two thirds will be affordable. 
 

 
 
• We agreed a £1.2million investment boost for social services that will bring significant 
benefits to a range of projects across the county borough 
 
• A package of improvements has been delivered at our flagship visitor destination 
at Cwmcarn Forest, including a new adventure hub play area, six new luxury lodges and 
improved biking trails. 
 
• Free feminine hygiene products are being provided in all schools and community 
settings, along with the launch of two short films, as part of our excellent Period Dignity 
initiative.  
 

 
 
• £2.4million investment was announced to improve local roads through our widescale 
resurfacing programme. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Page 133



5 
 

• We joined other Gwent local authorities to encourage green transport and deliver new 
electric vehicle charge points in council owned car parks across the region. 
 

 
 
• A new website was launched, to coincide with the publication of A Level results, to help 
young people in the county borough plan their next steps. The excellent Caerphilly Pathways 
website has been developed to show the full range of opportunities available to our young 
people. 
 
• Over the past year the Tenancy Support Service generated over £1 million additional 
income for council tenants. 
 
• Welsh Government endorsed our plans to improve air quality at Hafodyrynys. 
Work is now progressing to complete the compulsory purchase and demolition of the 
affected properties. 
 
• Cabinet approved a review of post 16 education. As part of the review, existing 
partnerships between schools in Upper Rhymney Valley and Caerphilly Basin areas have been 
strengthened to provide students with access to a broader curriculum and improve outcomes 
at post 16. 
 
• We battled the effects of Storm Dennis and Storm Ciara when residents across the county 
borough were impacted by flooding and high winds. Once again staff went that extra mile in 
atrocious conditions to support our community. 
 

 
 

• We launched a new sport and leisure app which has become one of the main ways 
customers now book classes and sessions and find out new information relating to the 
service. 
 Page 134



6 
 

• We hosted many successful events last year including the Caerphilly 10k, the Big Cheese 
and our festive programme of activities. 
 

 
 

 
 
• Investment in our schools continues and we recently agreed the first phase of a £78 
million school improvement programme through Band B of the 21st Century Schools 
project.  
 
We hope this provides a flavour of the many successes of this council and Team Caerphilly 
in 2019/20. There are many more positive examples that we could provide, but it would be 
impossible to cover everything in such a limited space.  
 
As we move forward, the significant economic impact of coronavirus is becoming clearer. We 
are now starting to see the full picture in terms of lost income and additional costs associated 
with the outbreak. 
 
Working within the wider national context of Brexit, Climate change, economic challenges, 
as well as the ongoing pandemic, we need to carefully consider what can realistically be 
achieved over the next few years and this will be influenced by an ambitious ‘place shaping 
plan’ that we are currently developing.  
 
We are also undertaking a number of key corporate reviews which will help reshape the 
way we operate as a Council and how we will deliver many of our services in future. 
We will continue to work together for the good of all and further instil our amazing Team 
Caerphilly ethos in everything we do. 
 
Thank You 
 Page 135



7 
 

 
Philippa Marsden 
Leader of the Council 
 
 

 
Christina Harrhy 
Chief Executive 
  

Page 136



8 
 

Section 2: 
Introduction to our Well-being Objectives 
___________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
In 2018 we published our Corporate Plan for 2018-2023 with new longer-term Well-being 
Objectives, further details of which can be found on the Council’s website.  
 
Our Well-being Objectives: 
 
WBO 1  Improve education opportunities for all. 
WBO 2  Enabling employment. 
WBO 3  Address the availability, condition and sustainability of homes throughout the 

county borough and provide advice, assistance or support to help improve 
people’s well-being. 

WBO 4  Promote a modern, integrated and sustainable transport system that increases 
opportunity, promotes prosperity and minimizes the adverse impacts on the 
environment. 

WBO 5  Creating a County Borough that supports a healthy lifestyle in accordance with the 
Sustainable Development Principle within the Well-being of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act 2015. 

WBO 6  Support citizens to remain independent and improve their well-being. 
 
It is important to tell you that due to the COVID pandemic we have not been able to provide 
the full and detailed report that we usually do, so we have instead picked out the key 
highlights to demonstrate the impact of our work. We hope this will still give you a good 
flavour of our progress in a visual and user-friendly way. 
 
We are unable to provide the data results for the 2019/20 Public Accountability Measures. 
This is a set of Performance Indicators that are measured across Wales and used to compare 
our performance with other Authorities. Due to the COVID pandemic Councils in Wales were 
not required to collect and submit year end data, so there are limited comparators this year. 
However, our own assessment over the next few pages will tell you how we have performed 
against our objectives for 2019/20 under the following headings: 
 

• What went well 
• What did not go as planned 
• Where we are now and where we would like to improve 

 
The Sustainable Development Principle was used to set our objectives and is included in 
our action planning. Known as the five ways of working, we consider the long term, 
understand causes to prevent problems occurring, collaborate and integrate with our 
partners and, importantly, involve our communities. 
 
How these principles were used to set each Well-being Objective can be found in Council’s 
Corporate Plan 2018-2023 and the relevant Scrutiny Reports for 2019. 

Page 137

http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/CaerphillyDocs/Council-and-democracy/Corporate_Plan_2018-2023.aspx


9 
 

Well-being Objective 1: 
Improve education opportunities for all 
___________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

What went well: 
 

2229 participants reported improved emotional and mental well-being after 
participating in Families First programmes. 
 
 
15.3% of Key Stage 4 pupils achieved 5 A* to A, this is better than last years figure 
of 12.1%. The Welsh average is 18.1%. 
 
 
Secondary School attendance was 94%, an improvement of 0.6% on the previous 
year. We are now 7th in the Local Authority rankings in Wales. 
 
 
Fixed Term Exclusions (per 1000 pupils) at Secondary Schools improved to 82.3 
compared to 114 last year. Lower is better with this measure. 
 
 
95% of our participants reported improved emotional/mental well-being after 
they took part in our programmes. This was a 3% increase on last year. 
 
 
Welsh Baccalaureate Skills Challenge Certificate (new for 2019) performed 
well at 36.4 points. This is Caerphilly’s most successful Education performance 
indicator directly in line with the Welsh Average. 
 
 
Within the National Library Standards ranking we have moved up from 7th to 5th 
in Wales. This is a diverse set of comparator performance standards.  
 
 
35 care leavers (aged 16-18) engaged in the Progress Traineeship Scheme. There 
were only 4 last year, so this is a big improvement. 
 
 
669 young people engaged in the Live Vacancy Events (2 per year) for 
employment opportunities. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 138



10 
 

We significantly exceeded our employability target with Bridges into Work 
helping 39 people into work. 
 
 
We exceeded our employability target for the Inspire 2 Work programme helping 
39 people. 
 
 
Key Stage 4 Capped 9 Point Score (new for 2019) was 337.3, this is this is slightly 
below the Welsh average of 353.3 points. 
 
 
Surplus places at Secondary school reduced to 17.3% from 19.5%. Lower is better, 
so this is a significant improvement. 
 
 
Primary School attendance increased to 94.7% which is better than last year. 
 

 
 

What did not go as planned: 
 

 
The number of individual families benefitting from the Families First Programme 
was 3447, which is slightly less than 2018/19.  
 
 
The % of Fixed Term Exclusions per 1000 pupils at Primary Schools was 18.4% 
which is not quite as good as last year when our figure was 18%. Lower is better 
for this measure. 
 
 
Primary school surplus places increased to 15.7% this year from 14.6% last year. 
The Live Birth Data is indicating a decrease in pupils which would create more 
surplus places. Lower is better for this measure. 
 
 
2.4% of Year 11 leavers from schools were known to be not in education, 
employment, or training (NEET). This is 47 pupils out of 1937. Of the 47 pupils 27 
were unable to take part due to health or medical issues. This is slightly less than 
last year (40 out of 1853).  
 
 
2439 children accessed the Flying Start programme (0-3 years of age), this is 
slightly less than last year due to a drop in birth rates. 
 

Page 139



11 
 

984 eligible working parents accessed the Childcare Offer funded places. This is 
slightly less than 2018/19, however the way the data is counted has been 
changed, meaning this is not a direct comparison with last year. 
 
 

 
The number of pupils not achieving a qualification was Caerphilly’s worst 
performing indicator at 1.7% (compared to the Welsh average of 0.9%). 1.7% 
equates to 34 pupils out of 1972 pupils in total. 

 
 

Where we are now and what we would like to improve: 
 
At the end of the second year of this objective, we believe we have made good progress 
towards meeting the outcomes we set ourselves.  
 
The Shared Ambitions Strategy emphasised the importance of improving attendance as well 
as attainment and achievement across our school settings. The Strategy is beginning to 
deliver results with attendance at secondary and primary improving, gains being made in 
terms of attainment at Key Stage 4 and the progress of our FSM learners is particularly 
pleasing.  
 
While gains have been made across secondary schools in terms of reducing the percentage of 
fixed term exclusions, further work is required across both primary and secondary schools to 
reduce the numbers further.  
 
While surplus places have reduced at Secondary and increased slightly at Primary, the 
progression of the 21st Century Schools Band B programme over the medium to long term 
will improve the situation further across both sectors.  
 
This year, the percentage of pupils not achieving a qualification dropped to 1.7% with   
additional resources allocated to the Engagement and Progression team to better monitor 
individual learners’ progress and focus on early intervention. 
 
Our performance against the national library standards has improved again with the Council 
now ranked 5th across Wales. 
 
The impact of our core employability support programmes has again been strong with targets 
being exceeded. 
 
The positive impact of children and family support through projects/initiatives such as Flying 
Start and Families First are again demonstrated although the numbers accessing the 
programmes has reduced in accordance with a drop in birth rates 

  

Page 140



12 
 

Well-being Objective 2: 
Enabling employment 
___________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

What went well: 
 

In 2019/20 Communities for Work supported 42 adults into employment. This 
significantly exceeded our target of 24. 
 
 
We successfully helped 67 young / NEET people aged 16-24 into employment in 
2019/20. 
 
 
In 2019/20 Communities for Work Plus supported a total of 199 people into 
employment, this exceeded our target.  
 
 
59% of our engagements with people were converted into job entries. This figure 
is considered high when compared with the rest of Wales. 
 
 
All three housing contractors purchased 100% of their materials with Caerphilly 
based suppliers, further supporting the local economy. 
 
 
We have an excellent working relationship with companies Transcend and Peter’s 
Pies which led to 31 participants going into employment across both organisations 
during 2019/20. 
 
 
Three of the suppliers working on our Housing and WHQS programme retained 17 
jobs and created 41 new full-time employment opportunities within 3 businesses. 
17 apprenticeships were also secured. 
 
 
An innovative approach by the Council’s Procurement Department, working with 
local small and medium sized businesses, resulted in refurbishment works to 
Rhymney Youth Centre and Windy Ridge (a horticultural project for adults with 
learning disabilities). 
 
 
A new relationship with working partners Williams Medical led to a significant 
recruitment drive in March 2020 resulting in jobs being offered to 12 participants. 
 
 

Page 141



13 
 

We were also able to support community initiatives with sponsorship of local 
rugby and sports teams and donations to CCBC Armed Forces Day and the 
Christmas Food Bank appeal. 

 
What did not go as planned: 
 

Over the year engagements with our priority participants fell below target, 
especially with the hardest to engage group within Caerphilly and Wales in 
general. However, during the last quarter of the year we made a significant 
improvement, making it our most successful engagement quarter of the year. 

 
 

Where we are now and what we would like to improve: 
 
This objective is progressing successfully with most activities achieving or exceeding targets. 
Relationship building with some of the county borough’s major employers has been excellent 
and resulted in the creation of important job opportunities as well as supporting local supply 
chains and community initiatives. Successes in employment support is largely attributed to a 
new key role which has provided a single point of contact for local employers, serving to 
engage businesses and providing a much-needed direct link to our employment programmes 
and the customers we support. Successful employment outcomes were also achieved within 
our Housing and WHQS programme, where the numbers of employment opportunities and 
apprenticeships with our suppliers also exceeded targets. Innovative approaches such as the 
procurement department’s work with local businesses to refurbish facilities within the 
Borough brought community benefits.  
 
However, engagement continues to prove more challenging in relation to Adults 25+ who are 
either long-term unemployed or economically inactive; and this is reflective of the picture on 
a Wales-wide basis, where participants within this group prove to be the most hard-to reach 
due to complex barriers compounded by a culture of long-term worklessness within deprived 
communities. In response the employment and anti-poverty programmes within CCBC will 
continue to work together to develop a co-ordinated approach for our most deprived 
communities. In the latter part of the year we focused our efforts on expanding our social 
media presence, which has increased engagement. 
 
Unemployment is likely to be a significant and urgent priority in the coming year as the 
economic fallout of the Covid-19 pandemic becomes more apparent. To respond to these 
challenges, we will work in partnership across the employment support programmes to 
develop creative methods of engagement and to work even more closely with other partners 
to further develop referral pathways. We will also work closely with anti-poverty programme 
partners in particular to identify means to address the many barriers faced by our customers. 
Engagement with local employers and dynamic responses to labour market demand will be 
essential in addressing the anticipated rise in redundancy and unemployment so we are 
already in the process of expanding our business liaison capacity as well as developing ‘A 
Caerphilly Academy’ pilot programme, which will see a co-ordinated and sustainable 
approach to placements and apprenticeships within the Council.  

Page 142



14 
 

Well-being Objective 3:  
Address the supply, condition and 
sustainability of homes throughout the county 
borough and provide advice, assistance or 
support to help improve people’s health and 
well-being 
___________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

What went well: 
 
9,975 of the 10,660 Council Homes in Caerphilly are now fully compliant both 
externally and internally with Welsh Housing Quality Standard (WHQS) 
requirements. 
 
 
83% of Council tenants said they were satisfied with the external WHQS works 
completed on their homes, an increase on the previous year from 71%. 
 
 
5,295 of Caerphilly’s Council Homes have been categorised as compliant with 
‘accessibility standards’ as outlined in guidance for people with physical disability 
and/or sensory impairment. 
 
 
A significant increase in financial savings of £1,048,168 was generated for Council 
Tenants through targeted support in 2019/20, an increase above the £628,218 
identified in the previous year. 
 
 
1,543 Homes in the borough received help with physical (disabled) adaptations 
and facilities, to enable their occupants to maintain some quality of life and 
independence. 
 
 
92% of Council tenants said they were satisfied with the internal WHQS works in 
their homes, an increase from 86% last year.  
 
 
2,080 Tenants were visited and provided with advice and support, to help them 
mitigate the effects of welfare reform. An increase from the 2,035 in the 
previous year. 
 Page 143



15 
 

895 Tenants were supported to access the benefits they are entitled to, an 
increase above the 827 in the previous year. 
 
 
28 Residents were referred to the national Nest Scheme, for help, advice and 
support with energy efficiency packages and programmes, that may lower energy 
bills and improve health and well- being. 
 
 
447 Council Tenants were visited during the year and provided with energy 
savings advice and guidance. 
 
 
123 affordable homes were delivered via Pobl and United Welsh Housing 
associations in 2019/20.  We purchased 11 properties to add to our housing stock 
and reached an agreement to purchase 8 new build properties going forward. 
 
 
Working in partnership with Smart Money and the Credit Union we helped to 
provide 16 Owner Occupier loans and 57 Home Repair Grants at £700,711.  A total 
of 77 grants and loans were provided in 2019/20. 
 
 
73.12 % of homelessness cases were prevented in 2019/20 with suitable 
accommodation. 
 
 
The Sheltered Housing options appraisal is now complete and 1 new joint scheme 
with ABUHB will be developed once 3 schemes are demolished. Another will be 
improved under the WHQS and 2 more will be remodelled. 
 
 
Of the 1624 empty private sector homes in Caerphilly Borough we helped bring 36 
(2.2%) back into beneficial use during 19/20, maintaining our figure from last year. 
 
 
76% of homelessness cases had positive outcomes in 2019/20, where their risk of 
homelessness was successfully relieved. 
 
 
1 mortgage rescue case was completed in 2019/20 73.12 % of homelessness cases 
were prevented in 2019/20 with suitable accommodation. 
 
 
The Supporting People programme based on wider determinants of homelessness 
prevention helped an average of 3137 individuals manage their accommodation 
and an average of 3574 individuals to manage their money. 

 

 
Page 144



16 
 

What did not go as planned: 
 
During 2019/20, no properties received specific grant funded energy efficiency 
improvements through the Council. This is periodically determined by external 
funding streams such as Welsh Government and the large energy providers. 
 
 
22% of homelessness cases had their risk of homelessness relieved by providing 
suitable accommodation in 2019/20, 13% less than the previous year. 
 
 
No properties were delivered via the Innovative Housing Programme in 2019/20. 
However, the redevelopment of the former Caerphilly Magistrates Court into 38 
units to the Passivhaus standard is very near completion and the redevelopment 
of the former Cwm Ifor primary school to create 17 units is on-going. 
 

Where we are now and what we would like to improve: 
 
At the end of the second year of this five-year objective, we have been partially successful 
against the overall objective. The objective is to help improve people’s well-being through a 
range of targeted housing-related interventions. National research shows that good quality 
housing, located in sustainable communities is known to have a positive impact of the health 
and well-being.  We know from monitoring the provision of our service delivery throughout 
the year that it continues to make a positive impact on the lives of the people who access 
them, for example the WHQS programme and work in the private sector improves the quality 
and environment of tenants homes, the income maximisation work being undertaken by 
tenancy support officers to increase household income to sustain people’s tenancies, the 
services provided to older persons and vulnerable tenants and the homelessness prevention 
activities, which have a positive impact on reducing rough sleeping.  
 
Our energy efficiency works to the housing stock has contributed towards addressing fuel 
poverty and reducing carbon emissions, our adaptations have helped disabled people to 
maintain independence in their homes. All of this contributes towards improved health and 
well-being. 
 
We continue to strive to provide this varied range of housing services in a prolonged and 
challenging economic environment, but with the ongoing budget pressures facing local 
government and the requirement to satisfy the Council’s medium-term financial plan, this 
could impact on our ability to improve current standards of service delivery in some areas.  
 
We are also identifying additional resources to invest in new services to meet the changing 
needs and aspirations of our tenants. In addition, changes by the UK Government to the 
Welfare Benefits system to make it simpler and make sure people are better off in work than 
on benefits, has in some instances had a negative impact on household income, affecting 
tenancy sustainability with the potential to increase homelessness. This could ultimately 
impact our service delivery, and this is why we have focused particularly on assisting tenants 
to maximise their income, providing energy efficiency advice, making referrals where required 
for specialist support, as well as other housing related support services.  

Page 145



17 
 

Well-being Objective 4: 
Promote a modern, integrated and sustainable 
transport system that increases opportunity, 
promotes prosperity and minimises the adverse 
impacts on the environment 
___________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

What went well: 
 
The Council’s Regeneration Strategy for 2018-2023 “A Foundation for Success” 
was adopted in July 2018 and now feeds the development of core Town Centre 
Development Plans. 
 
 
First phase of the 200 Mid Valley area bus stop improvements has begun. £150k 
investment to deliver bus stop improvements in the Caerphilly Basin. £167k 
investment in the Mid Valleys corridor. 
 
 
Since the Pwllypant highway improvements were completed there has been a 
significant reduction in congestion and queue lengths, improvements in journey 
time and accuracy of bus services. 
 
 
7,500 homes in Risca have been connected to the Virgin broadband network with 
a 350Mb speed and capability for up to 500Mb. Additional works are being 
progressed in Caerphilly. 
 
 
Transport for Wales (TfW) are progressing the detailed design for the Core Valley 
Lines (CVL) transformation programme. 
 
 
The £30m jointly funded investment package for Metro Plus schemes across the 
region has been progressed in 2019/20. 
 
 
The Regional Transport Authority (RTA) has secured £3.5m of the Local Transport 
Fund from Welsh Government. 
 
 
Nelson to Ystrad Mynach ‘active travel route’ has been completed, with funding 
secured for additional route improvements in Ystrad Mynach. 
 

Page 146



18 
 

 

What did not go as planned: 
 

Formalising ‘governance and working relationships’ within the Cardiff Capital 
Region City Deal Partnerships has been complex and has led to delays with some 
elements of progress. 
 
 
Progress with formalising the working relationship with Welsh Government (WG) 
and Transport for Wales (TfW), particularly for the development, prioritisation and 
delivery of Metro Plus Scheme, has been slow. 

 

 
Where we are now and what we would like to improve: 
 
Good progress continues to be made in relation to most of the key outcomes related to this 
Well-being Objective. Progression has been made of further active travel plans and works. We 
have also progressed the schemes that have been agreed by the regeneration board including 
park and ride remodelling at Ystrad Mynach and Llanbradach including site investigations  
and/or feasibility.  
 
Discussions with Transport for Wales in relation to longer term rail aspirations such as the 
Ystrad Mynach to Nelson link, Machen to Newport and remodelling of the park and ride at 
Newbridge have continued, along with consideration of improvements to the east/west mid 
valley corridor public transport links. 
 
We have made improvements to bus stops in the Caerphilly basin, which have been 
substantially delivered throughout 2019/20. Design and construction of the first phase of 200 
Mid Valley area bus stops is progressing well with the delivery of approximately 100 stops in 
2019/20 with the remainder scheduled in 2020/21. Engagement with TfW has progressed in 
relation to consideration of improvements to the Caerphilly Interchange that will look to bring 
together a hub where rail, bus and active travel all come seamlessly together. 
 

  

Page 147



19 
 

Well-being Objective 5: 
Creating a County Borough that supports a 
healthy lifestyle in accordance with the 
Sustainable Development Principle within the 
Well-being of Future Generations (Wales)  
Act 2015 
___________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

What went well: 
 

We received 1477 reports of fly tipping in 2019/20. Enforcement action was taken 
in 18 of the cases. This equates to 1.22% which is better than last year when 
0.26% of incidents reported led to an enforcement activity. 
 
 
In Families First, 60 parents participated in evidenced based parenting 
programmes. We had a 
further 662 parents benefit from other parenting interventions. 
 
 
This year 91 clubs signed up to be part of the ‘Let’s Go Girls’ campaign compared 
to only 7 in 2018/19. The programme has been provided through secondary 
school intervention, but it is now currently on hold due to COVID. 
 
 
This year we issued more enforcement actions for Dog Fouling than in the 
previous year. We issued 32 enforcement actions compared to 19 last year, this 
also includes action taken for not having bags to pick up dog waste. 
 
 
1449 people participated in the Health Referral scheme, slightly more than the 
1419 who participated last year. 
 
 
Our Street Scene Cleanliness Index LEAMS Score for the whole of the county 
borough has improved this year increasing to 66.92%, up from 65% reported last 
year. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 148



20 
 

 
43 schools continued to participate in the Daily mile. 
 
 
We engaged with 5 new settings to promote the Healthy and Sustainable 
Preschool Scheme (HeyScheme). 

 
What did not go as planned: 
 

20 schools have achieved the Healthy Schools National Quality Award in 2019/20. 
This is less than last year when 23 schools achieved the award, but this is still 
considerably higher than the Public Health Wales national target of 10%. 
 
 
20% of adults in Caerphilly County Borough reported that they currently smoked  
(2018/19 National Survey for Wales). The Wales target is 16% by 2020, and the 
national average is currently 17%. 
 
 
96.15% of our highways and relevant land that we inspected was of a high or 
acceptable standard of cleanliness, which is not quite as good as last year when 
our figure was 96.5%. 
 
 
The average number of days taken to clear fly-tipping incidents reported to the 
authority during the year was 4.1 days. This is not as good as last year when it 
took us 2.5 days to clear 
fly-tipping incidents. 
 
 
27.1 % of children age 4-5 are overweight or obese in Caerphilly County Borough 
(2013/14 – 2017/18 combined). This is higher than the Wales average of 26.4%. 
 
 
36.5% of children at age 11 years could swim 25 metres in the academic year 
2019/20, this is less than the 46% we reported last year. The majority of lessons 
are carried out after Easter, therefore due to COVID-19 swimming lessons were 
cancelled. 
 
The COVID-19 outbreak meant that we have been unable collate the data 
accurately for the year, but based our data from the first 6 months of the year we 
estimate that there were 1.28m visits to our parks and countryside. This is less 
than last year when we reported 1.5m visits, this could be due to poorer weather 
conditions. 

 
 
 

Page 149



21 
 

Where we are now and what we would like to improve: 
 
This objective is progressing well, but we judge it to be partly successful at this stage as we 
have not performed as well in some areas as we had hoped this year.  
 
There were a number of notable successes in the year including developing services and 
investments in accordance with our adopted Sport and Active Recreation Strategy, such as 
encouraging use of the open countryside via a successful events programme, investing in our 
strategic leisure centre sites, delivering community sport programmes, and developing a new 
leisure lifestyle phone app. 
 
The Early Years Scheme has been enhanced by involving other partners such as Public Health 
Wales and neighbouring authorities.  
 
Our Healthy Schools initiative continues to be successful. Although we had less schools 
achieving the Healthy Schools National Quality Award this year, it still exceeds national 
performance levels. 
 
There are certain other areas where performance has dipped slightly including cleansing and 
speed of removal of fly tipping. However, these services had significant difficulties in the last 
quarter of the year with two major storm/flood events. 
 
The percentage of children that could swim 25 metres dropped to 36.5% from 46% in the 
previous year. We measure this by academic year, therefore COVID restrictions have had an 
impact on the figure for 2019/20. Our Festival of Swimming event was cancelled, this is where 
over 100 children usually take part in swimming sessions and are assessed on key targets.  
Only a few schools take part in swimming sessions between September and February due to 
the cold weather, with most schools opting to take part after the Easter holidays. As the 
facilities were closed from the 1st March this meant that less children have been able to 
achieve 25 metres this year. 
 
We have estimated that we have had fewer visits to our parks and countryside during 
2019/20. In normal circumstances we collect data from around the borough and analyse it in 
the spring using specialist software. Due to lockdown we were unable to employ anyone to 
carry out this analysis, and therefore we have had to use the data from the first 6 months of 
the year to provide us with an estimated figure. The estimated figure of 1.28m visits is less 
than in the previous year when we reported 1.5m visits, this could be due to poorer weather 
conditions. 
 
There are certain lifestyle indicators which are falling short of the Wales average for the 
population of the county borough - these include aged 4-5 childhood obesity and the % of 
adults that smoke. These are key population health indicators which must be a focus in 
2020/21 and future years. 
 
The COVID19 pandemic is likely to have an impact on 2020/21 performance as many of the 
services that contribute to this objective were either closed or provision reduced for a 
considerable period of 2020. 
 

Page 150



22 
 

Well-being Objective 6: 
Support citizens to remain independent and 
improve their well-being 
___________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

What went well: 
 
At the end of March 2020, we had supported 1303 adult carers and 144 young 
carers. 
 
 
We provided 2226 nights of respite care; 1470 for adults and 756 for children. 
 
 
Of 2055 people seen in the Gwent region 1064 people were discharged through 
‘Discharge to Access’ (D2A). D2A has now been adopted as a discharge pathway, 
with dedicated staff from the Community Reablement Team attending daily 
hospital ward rounds to facilitate timely and safe discharges. 
 
 
For adults aged 75 or over the numbers of delayed transfer of care (DTOC) was 63 
compared to 91 last year. 
 
 
We reduced the number of adults receiving services aged 18 plus to 3369 
compared to 4313 last year. 
 
 
We reduced the number of adults receiving services aged 65 plus to 2301 
compared to 2775 last year. 
 
 
In the past 12 months we have seen a net increase of 10 Shared Lives Carers and 
15 Foster Carers. 
 
 
The percentage of children in care who had to move 3 or more times was 3.8% 
compared to 9.4% the previous year. 
 

 

 
 
 

Page 151



23 
 

What did not go as planned: 
 
85% of 537 child assessments were completed on time compared to 90.49% the 
previous year. 

 
 
Where we are now and what we would like to improve: 
 
Performance of Well-being objective 6 has been overall very positive. Improvements in key 
areas such as the number of carers supported, and the recruitment of shared lives and foster 
carers demonstrate progress in areas we have previously found difficult. Issues such as 
delayed transfers of care and the timely completion of child assessments are fundamental in 
supporting some of the most vulnerable people in the Borough and it is extremely pleasing to 
see performance in these areas improving. 
 
Social Services have an effective Information, Advice and Assistance (IAA) Service in place that 
fully meets the requirements of the Social Services & Well Being (Wales) Act 2014. As a result, 
there is clear evidence that the Council has been supporting people to ‘help themselves’ by 
providing comprehensive advice and information including signposting to other services; and 
having ‘meaningful conversations’ to help people identify ‘what matters’ to them to inform 
‘outcome focused’ planning. All staff have received ‘what matters’ training in line with a 
national programme supported by Social Care Wales and Welsh Government and a dedicated 
Officer has been appointed using Integrated Care Fund funding, to support the further 
development of the DEWIS website as the ‘go to’ 
site. 
 
The Home First, Emergency Care at Home and Discharge to Assess Schemes in Adult Services 
and the Intensive Support Team in Children’s Services are all aimed at providing support to 
improve independence and reduce the need for higher tier statutory interventions.  
A significantly enhanced range of support is now available to all carers including individual 
support, groups and leisure and social activities. These are all publicised through a regular 
newsletter. 
 
Looking forward, we want to ensure we are compliant with the Welsh Government 
expectation that each of the collaborative regions deliver statutory advocacy services for 
children and young people with the Gwent region acknowledged to be leading the work in 
Wales.  
 
The Regional MyST (My Support Team) service, hosted by Caerphilly, continues to be rolled 
out across Gwent and the ‘Children and Adolescent Mental Health Services’ Transformation 
Programme is in the process of being implemented. However, performance in terms of the 
number of children in care who have moves 3 or more times is still not where we would like it 
to be and will continue to need ongoing oversight. 
 

  
Page 152



24 
 

Section 4: 
Managing your money 2019/20 
___________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
Our Financial Management Principles are as follows: 
 
• Seek to protect services for the most vulnerable whilst continuing to evaluate all 
• other services. 
• Limit the impact of cuts on front-line services where we can whilst continuing to reduce 

expenditure and explore opportunities to generate new sources of income. 
• Adopt a longer-term approach to financial planning that considers the impact on future 

generations. 
• Accept that we will not be able to maintain existing levels of service but will introduce 

more innovative ways of working through the use of emerging technologies. 
• Engage with our communities to understand their needs and explore options to deliver 

some services through collaboration, partnerships, community trusts etc. to ensure that 
communities remain resilient and sustainable in the longer-term. 

 

  
The Council is the largest employer in the area with 8533 staff including 3425 in 
schools. 
 
 
10,717 council houses  
 
 
We maintain 833 buildings, including 87 schools, 10 leisure centres, 18 libraries 
and 4 sports pavilions. 
 
 
Providing approximately 800 services to our communities. 
 
 
These vital public services are funded from the Council’s Revenue and Capital 
budgets, which for 2019/20 totalled £440million. The Council plans and approves 
its budgets on a 5-year financial planning cycle, which takes account of historical 
trends and spending patterns, national and local initiatives and access to multiple 
funding sources, some of which change year-on-year. 

 
During the period 2008/09 to 2019/20 the Council has delivered savings of 
£103million to address reductions in funding and inescapable cost pressures. 

 
 
 
 
 
 Page 153



25 
 

In 2019/20 the Council received a small increase of 0.51% in the funding it 
receives from the Welsh Government. However, it also had to deal with a range of 
additional unavoidable cost and service pressures. 
 
 
As a consequence of these pressures, the Council agreed savings totalling 
£13.921million for the 2019/20 financial year. 

 
  
Where does our money come from? 
 
The majority of the money that the Council receives comes from the Welsh Government in 
the form of a Revenue Support Grant. 
 
Added to this is the money we collect from our residents and businesses in the form of 
Council Tax and National Non-Domestic Rates (Business Rates). 
 
The table below shows the income received for the 2019/20 Financial Year. 
 

  2019/20  
Income Budget £m Actual £m Actual % 
Revenue Support Grant 211.11 211.11 62.46 
Business Rates 57.51 57.51 17.01 
Council Tax 68.08 68.34 20.22 
Contribution from Reserves  1.05 1.05 0.31 
Total 337.75 338.01 100.00 

 
How do we spend our money? 
 

  2019/20  
Revenue Budget £m Actual £m Actual % 
Corporate Services 67.00 63.22 19.01 
Education & Lifelong Learning 130.40 132.31 39.79 
Communities 39.79 49.32 14.83 
Social Services 91.67 87.68 26.37 
Total 337.75 325.83 100.00 

 
The Council manages two main categories of expenditure i.e. revenue (every day running 
costs for services) and capital (specific costs for updating and maintaining key assets and 
implementing major new projects). 
 
For the 2019/20 financial year the Council’s revenue budget was £337.75million. 
 
We have made anticipated savings requirements for future years. This prudent approach has 
resulted in a number of savings being achieved in advance and underspends therefore being 
higher than would normally be the case. 
 
 

Page 154



26 
 

The reported revenue budget underspend for 2019/20 was £11.917million. 
 
 

Capital Budget £m Actual £m Actual% 
Education 5.62 4.70 6.16 
Highways 8.91 9.48 12.43 
Housing Stock (Public) 60.57 50.75 66.55 
Private Housing 4.89 1.77 2.32 
Social Services 3.53 0.79 1.04 
Community & Leisure 2.36 1.95 2.56 
Other 27.38 6.82 8.94 
Total 113.26 76.26 100.00 

 
 
This includes an underspend of £6.701million for the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) which 
is a separate statutory ring-fenced account representing the rent paid to the Council for its 
housing stock and the expenditure to fund the upkeep of these properties.   
 
The HRA underspend will be carried forward into 2020/21 and used to partially fund the 
£260million investment being made by the Council to achieve the Welsh Housing Quality 
Standard (WHQS). 
 
There was a £1.251million overspend for schools in 2019/20 which has been funded 
from accumulated school balances held from previous financial years. 
 
Capital Expenditure varies year-on-year and budgets are allocated from specific funding 
sources. The table below provides a summary of capital budgets and capital expenditure for 
the period 2019/2020.   
 
The 2019/20 capital underspend of £37m is mainly due to delays in progressing schemes and 
this funding has been carried forward into the 2020/21 financial year to enable schemes to be 
completed. 
 
Future Financial Outlook 
 
Caerphilly CBC’s budget for the 2020/21 financial year was approved by Council on the 20th 
February 2020 and this included further savings of £37m to ensure that financial 
commitments can be met and that a balanced budget can be achieved.   
 
The Council has strived to limit the impact of savings on front-line services. However, due to 
the scale of the ongoing financial challenge this is becoming increasingly difficult and in recent 
years savings have been required in several areas that impact on the public. 
 
The funding situation for Local Government is unlikely to improve for some time and this is 
now further exacerbated by the additional significant financial impact of the Covid-19 
pandemic. The emergence of the Coronavirus has posed a significant and unprecedented 
challenge to our way of life and the way in which we provide services. 
 Page 155



27 
 

In response to the pandemic and lock-down the Council has refocussed, repurposed and 
reshaped its priorities and how it works within a very short timescale. This has ensured that 
we have been best placed and equipped to respond to the immediate needs of our 
communities. 
 
The Council is incurring significant additional costs due to the pandemic and is also losing 
income in several areas.  
 
The Welsh Government has provided a financial support package to help Local Authorities 
manage the financial impact of Covid-19 during the 2020/21 financial year. With the real 
possibility of further peaks in the virus during the autumn and winter months this investment 
provides Local Authorities with the confidence to prepare their budgets for a potential second 
wave. 
 
However, the position regarding financial support in the medium to longer-term remains 
unclear and therefore presents a significant financial risk. This creates a very difficult 
environment for Local Government where significant real-terms reductions in funding have 
been experienced over an extended period. 
 
The financial challenges that we face are unprecedented and it is inevitable that some very 
difficult decisions will need to be made. Even before the emergence of Covid-19 it was widely 
accepted that the Council cannot continue as it is and an acknowledgement that we need to 
examine the way in which we use our resources to deliver the services required by our 
communities across the county borough. 
 
At its meeting on the 12th June 2019 the Council’s Cabinet approved the Future Caerphilly 
Transformation Strategy, which has been launched as TeamCaerphilly - Better Together. 
 

 
This Strategy is a key strand in helping the Council to maintain financial resilience and will 
be integrated into our medium-term financial planning moving forward. 
 
The Strategy sets out details of a major transformation programme to examine how services 
are prioritised, how they can become more business efficient, to explore opportunities for 
greater customer focus and digital delivery, and to consider alternative delivery models and 
seek out commercial opportunities. 
 
Furthermore, to enable the Council to continue providing high quality value for money 
services in an environment that will require new approaches and new skills, a new 
relationship will need to be built with staff and within our communities. 
 

Page 156



28 
 

Good progress was made during the 2019/20 financial year in implementing the Strategic 
Action Plan that underpins the Transformation Strategy. The emergence of Covid-19 and the 
required response has accelerated the pace of change in some areas and we will now seek to 
build on this moving forward to ensure that we can offer cost effective, resilient services that 
meet the needs of our communities through these challenging times and in the medium to 
longer-term. 
 
The learning that the Council has developed through its response to COVID-19 has helped 
reshape and expand the transformation programme. At its meeting of the 16th July 2020, 
Cabinet endorsed the inclusion of ten corporate reviews within the Team Caerphilly - Better 
Together programme, all of which expand on or embed further many of the positive changes 
implemented in response to Covid-19. 
The ten corporate reviews are as follows:  
 

• Walk in Services Review 
• Remote Contact Review 
• Front Line Delivery Review 
• Support Services Review 
• Information, Insight and Intelligence Review 
• Flexible Working Review 
• Sustainable Financial Planning Review 
• Workforce Development Review 
• Corporate Volunteering & Community 

Partnership Review 
• Decision-Making Review 

 
 

  

Page 157



29 
 

Section 5: 
What our regulators told us 
___________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
The Wales Audit Office provides us with an Annual Improvement Report (AIR) which details 
the work they have carried out in 2019/2020 and its outcomes. 
 
The last AIR was published in July 2019 (based on 2018/19), and concluded “The Council is 
meeting its statutory requirements in relation to continuous improvement and is at a crucial 
pivotal point in its ambition to transform”. 
 
At the time of publishing the Council’s Annual Performance Report we do not have an update 
for 2019/20. This is because for 2019/20 the Wales Audit Office has decided to summarise 
all financial and performance audit work that has been reported since the last Annual 
Improvement Report including the findings from the 2019-20 Audit of Account, as an Annual 
Audit Summary (AAS). These changes, alongside the additional COVID work, means there has 
been a slight delay to their publication by Wales Audit Office.  
 
This is a list of the work carried out by Wales Audit Office for 2019/20: 
 

• Improvement plan certification - 5 August 2019 
• Assessment of performance certification - 12 November 2019 
• Environmental Health follow up - 20 November 2019 
• WFG Examination - preventing hospital admissions - 21 November 2019 
• Assurance and Risk Assessment - 2 March 2020 

 
Any proposals for improvement and recommendations from the work carried out by 
our regulators are monitored twice a year by the Council’s Audit Committee. 
 
The last progress update was reported to Audit Committee January 2020. At that time, we 
had 
5 statutory recommendations, 10 proposals and 5 areas for improvement on the register 
totalling 20 altogether. The Committee agreed that 9 proposals and recommendations were 
complete and could be removed from the register. As of the 31st March there were 11 
recommendations / proposals outstanding. The reports can be found on our website. 
 
All Wales Audit Office Reports can be found on their Audit Wales website  along with a wide 
range of reports on the Public Sector. 
 
Care Inspectorate Wales reports can be found on the Care Inspectorate website.  
 
All Education Reports can be found on the Estyn website.   
 
 

  
Page 158

http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/CaerphillyDocs/Council-and-democracy/Corporate_Plan_2018-2023.aspx
http://www.audit.wales/
http://www.estyn.gov.wales/inspection/search


30 
 

Section 6: 
Equalities, Welsh Language and the  
Future Generations legislation 
___________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
We report progress to the Equalities and Human Rights Commission a year behind activity so 
the highlights and impact below are for 2018/19. 
 

 
Of those pupils who understand what bullying is in the 2018/19 School Bullying 
Survey, 523 pupils (68%) indicated that they had not been bullied, whilst 247 
pupils (32%) indicated that they had been bullied in the last year. Data was 
obtained from 804 pupils across Caerphilly County Borough from years 4, 5 and 6. 
 
 
During 2018/19 Gwent Police, via the All Wales School Liaison Core Programme 
(AWSLCP), delivered 1,050 lessons generating 28,045 pupil contacts.  372 lessons 
that addressed bullying, diversity, coercion and respect or lack of respect were 
delivered generating 10,148 pupil contacts. 
 
 
£90,000 of funding was made available to support physical disability access 
improvement works in 2018/19 including: 
 

• Automatic doors, ramps, handrails and lift in schools - £66,000 
• Improved internal and external access in Social services - £19,000 
• Improvements to reception facilities in Leisure centres - £2,000 
• Improvements to the accessibility of main entrances in Youth centres - 

£3,000 
 
 
The Councils Youth Service runs a national award-winning LGBTQ+ group called 
“Guys, Gals and Non-binary Pals” (GGNP) which supports young people (11 to 25 
years) who identify as LGBQT+ by providing support in areas such as a safe space, 
information, advice and advocacy. 
 
 
The 2018 *Stonewalls’ Education Equality Index ranked us as first in Wales for 
inclusive practice, we also improved our ranking in the UK to 19th. 
*Stonewall’s Education Equality Index is the only nationwide tool used to 
benchmark progress being made in this area and help identify gaps. 
 
 
 

Page 159



31 
 

There are currently 284 subscribers to the Welsh Language version of the Gov 
Delivery email bulletins. 
 
 
Of the 14,700 people who left the UK Regular Armed Forces in 2018, 3000 are 
estimated to have settled in Wales. We were one of the first local authorities in 
Wales to sign the Armed Forces Covenant to honour the pledge to support the 
Armed Forces Community. 

 
 

All 18 libraries participate in the ‘Reading Well for Dementia in Wales’ project, 
making information and advice available for people living with dementia and have 
developed 20 Memory bags to loan to customers. 
 
 
We received the Silver Award in recognition of our commitment to the Defence 
and Armed Forces community and were pleased to become a shortlisted finalist 
for the Welsh Veterans Awards in the category of Employer of the Year 2019.  
 
 
3295 employees undertook ‘Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual 
Violence (VAWDAS V) awareness raising training, this equates to 42% of the 
workforce. 
 
 
In total, 820 members of staff attended specific equalities related courses, some 
of which included British Sign Language, Awareness of Dementia and Human 
Trafficking training. 
 
 
In 2018-2019, we received 4 complaints relating to the use of the Welsh Language. 
 
 
The CCBC website is 100% bilingual in terms of webpage content. 
 
 
We offered thirty-seven 30 Week training sessions in Welsh. 
 
 
The number of staff who speak Welsh has grown from 4.6% in 2017 to 18.53% 
(1,581) in 2019. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 160



32 
 

Useful Resources 
 
To view the full statement regarding the Gender pay gap position, go to CCBC Gender Pay Gap 
Statement 2018. 
 
The current website was checked by the Digital Accessibility Centre in order to achieve Website 
Content Accessibility Guidelines (WCAG) 2.0 Level AA Compliance. 
 
An Armed Forces Directory of Support Gwent has been compiled and has been distributed to frontline 
staff, GP surgeries and job centres. The document is hosted on our website for public access. 
 
The Public Services Board (PSB) Well-being of Future Generation Annual Performance Report 2019/29 
can be found on the website.  This provides an update of the progress we are making against our plan 
to improve the well-being of the community. 

  

Page 161

https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/CaerphillyDocs/Equalities/GenderPayGapStatement2018.aspx
https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/CaerphillyDocs/Equalities/GenderPayGapStatement2018.aspx
https://digitalaccessibilitycentre.org/
https://your.caerphilly.gov.uk/publicservicesboard/content/well-being-plan


33 
 

Section 7: 
How to contact us and how you can be 
involved 
___________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Your views and opinions on the content of our performance reports and the priorities that we 
set each year are important to us. We welcome your input so that we can continue to provide 
meaningful information that helps inform you of the service focus, ensuring that we are 
working on the things that are important to making a difference to you, our citizens and our 
communities. 
 
You can contact us by: 
 
Email: BIT@caerphilly.gov.uk or via the Council Performance webpage and follow the 
instructions on screen. 
 

 
 
Alternatively, please contact: 
 
ROS ROBERTS 
Business Improvement Manager 
Corporate Performance 
Management Unit 
Caerphilly County Borough Council 
Penallta House 
Ystrad Mynach 
Hengoed 
CF82 7PG 
 
Tel: 01443 864238 
 
E-mail: roberr@caerphilly.gov.uk 
 

Page 162

mailto:BIT@caerphilly.gov.uk
mailto:roberr@caerphilly.gov.uk


34 
 

 
You can contact us via social media. 
 

 
 
You can get involved in many ways. Please have a look at our website www.caerphilly.gov.uk 
 

 
 
 
For more information, please contact: 
 
LIZ SHARMA 
Consultation & Public Engagement Officer 
Penallta House, 
Ystrad Mynach,  
Hengoed 
CF82 7PG 
 
Tel: 01443 864354 
 
Email: sharme@caerphilly.gov.uk 

Page 163

http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 164


	Agenda
	3 Cabinet held on 14th October 2020.
	4 Cabinet Forward Work Programme.
	5 Safer Recruitment Procedure and Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) Policies.
	Appendix

	6 Freedom of Borough - Royal British Legion.
	Appendix 1

	7 Community Asset Transfer - Draft Policy and Process.
	Appendix 1
	Appendix

	8 "Street Cafe" Licences.
	9 Annual Performance Report 2019/20.
	Appendix 1
	TEAM CAERPHILLY



